
SOUTH WALES POLICE AND CRIME PANEL 
MEETING 

 
SUMMONS 
 

10.30 am  
Tuesday, 15th September, 2020 
 
MICROSOFT TEAMS MEETING 
 

 
Further information regarding this agenda is available from the  

Democratic Services Department at Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council  
Tel: (01685) 725284     Email: democratic@merthyr.gov.uk 

 

A G E N D A 
 

1. Briefing Session   

 A briefing session for Panel Members will be held 
from 10.15 am – 10.30 am (approximately) prior to 
the arrival of any invited attendees or witnesses to 
the meeting. 
 

 

2. Apologies for Absence   

3. Declarations of Interest   

 Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct 
 
Note: 
 

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and 

 
(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 

as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave 

 

 



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council is the host local authority for the South Wales 
Police and Crime Panel 

 

4. Minutes of meeting Thursday, 4 June 2020 of 
South Wales Police and Crime Panel  

3 - 6 

5. COVID 19 Update Report   

 To consider the attached report 
 

7 - 46 

6. Finance Report and Presentation   

 To consider the attached report and receive a 
Presentation from the Commissioner 
 

47 - 58 

7. CCTV Presentation   

 To receive a presentation from the Commissioner 
 

59 - 60 

8. Annual Report   

 To consider the attached report 
 

61 - 110 

9. Scrutiny and Engagement Report   

 To consider the attached report 
 

111 - 140 

10. Independent Custody Visiting Report   

 To consider the attached report 
 

141 – 162 

11. Any other business deemed urgent by the Chair   
 

  
COMPOSITION: Councillor R Young (Bridgend CBC) (Chair) 
  
 Councillors: 

B Bowen-Thomson (Cardiff Council), J Cowan (Cardiff 
Council), R Lewis (Rhondda Cynon Taf CBC), 
G Thomas (Rhondda Cynon Taf CBC), P Rees (Neath 
Port Talbot CBC), C Richards (City and County of 
Swansea), W Evans (City and County of Swansea), 
B Gray (Vale of Glamorgan) and S Jago (Merthyr Tydfil 
CBC) 
 
Co-optees: 
M Jehu (Vice-Chair) 
I Fox  
 

 together with appropriate officers 
 



MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 

MINUTES OF MEETING 
 

SOUTH WALES POLICE AND 
CRIME PANEL MEETING 

 
THURSDAY, 4TH JUNE, 2020 

 
PRESENT:  
 

Councillor R Young (Bridgend CBC) (Chair) 

 Councillors: 
B Bowen-Thomson (Cardiff Council), J Cowan (Cardiff Council), 
R Lewis (Rhondda Cynon Taf CBC), G Thomas (Rhondda 
Cynon Taf CBC), P Rees (Neath Port Talbot CBC), B Gray (Vale 
of Glamorgan) and S Jago (Merthyr Tydfil CBC) 
 
Councillor W Evans joined meeting at 11.33 a.m. 

  
Co-optees: 
M Jehu (Vice-Chair) 
Mr Ian Fox 
 
Outside Bodies: 
A Michael (Police and Crime Commissioner) 
E Wools (Deputy Police and Crime Commissioner) 
L Jones (Interim Chief Executive) 
 
Officers:  
S Jones (Senior Solicitor) 
M Edmunds (Democratic Services Officer) 

  

ITEM 
NO. 

AGENDA MATTER DECISION 

20   Apologies for Absence Apologies for absence were received from Councillor 
Christine Richards and Councillor William Evans. 

21   Declarations of Interest No declarations of interest were received. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 4



 
 
 
 
   

22   Appointment of Chair 
and Vice Chair 2020-
2021 

Resolved that: 
 
Councillor Richard Young be re-appointed as Chair and Mr 
Melvin Jehu, Co-opted Member be re-appointed as Vice 
Chair of the Panel. 

23   Minutes of meeting 
Thursday, 30 January 
2020 of South Wales 
Police and Crime 
Panel 

Amendment on page 3 to read (Umar Hussain) instead of 
(Uma Hussain). 
 
Resolved that: 
 
The Minutes of the Meeting held on 30th January 2020 be 
accepted as true record subject to the amendment listed 
above. 

24   Forward Work 
Programme and 
Meeting Dates for 
2020-2021 

Following discussion with the Panel it was  
 
Resolved that: 
 

a) The following scheduled meeting dates (as listed 
below) be agreed. 

 
Tuesday, 15th September 2020 (Annual Report) 
Tuesday, 8th December 2020  
Thursday, 28th January 2021 (Precept Meeting) 
Tuesday, 27th April 2021 
Tuesday, 1st June 2021 (Annual Meeting) 

 
b) The Work Programme up to and including the 

Panel’s Annual Meeting in 2021 be prepared by the 
Panel. 

25   Update on SWP 
Response to Covid-19 

The Chair welcomed the Commissioner and his Team to 
the Meeting and invited him to provide an update on the 
South Wales Police response to policing the COVID-19 
national emergency. 
 
Councillor William Evans joined the meeting at 11.33 a.m. 
 
Councillor Bernie Bowen-Thompson left the meeting at 
12.20 p.m. 
 
The Commissioner and his Team provided an insight in to 
the work undertaken with particular reference made to: 
 
(Alan Michael) 

 Communication 

 Continuing police work within the community 

 Work undertaken by Emma Wools on the release of 
prisoners and domestic violence 

 Local resilience forum work 

 Jury trial difficulties and possible options available 

 Strategic board meetings 

 Recruitment 

 DRIVE 

 Community Safety Board 
 
 

Page 4



 
 
 
 
   

(Lee Jones)  

 Additional enforcement powers  

 National and Regional responses 

 Fixed Penalty Notices  

 Staff extraction levels 

 VE Celebrations 

 Drug market (innovative, but more exposed) 

 Volunteers/Special Constables 
 
(Emma Wools) 

 Violence Against Women 

 Impact on Social Services 

 Early Custodial Release Scheme 

 Female Offending Blueprint 
 
The Commissioner made further comment on:- 
 

 Substance misuse 

 George Floyd death 

 Statement made by Chief Constable 

 Deviation in England and Wales rules 
 
The above matters were discussed in detail. 
 
Panel Members endorsed and supported the statement 
made on ‘Black Lives Matter’. 
 
The Panel also thanked the Commissioner’s Team for the 
work that has been undertaken and the excellent report 
provided. 
 
The Commissioner thanked the Panel for the comments 
regarding ‘Black Lives Matter’ and the solidarity of views. 
 
Simon Jones advised Panel the next meeting will be on 15 
September 2020 (Annual Report and half yearly financial 
report). 
 
Resolved that: 
 

a) The Panel notes the content of the report and the 
significant ongoing activity by South Wales Police 
and Commission during the COVID-19 outbreak. 
 

b) Following questions received from Panel it was 
agreed that further detail be provided to Panel at 
the next meeting on the following:- 

 

 Fixed Penalty Notices and the financial implications  

 Domestic violence and DRIVE during pandemic  

 Impact of VE Celebrations 

 Calls to 999 and 111 statistics 

 Recruitment 

 Exploitation of older people by telephone scamming 
during COVID-19  

 Track Trace Protect (requesting bank details) 

 PCSO Powers 

Page 5



 
 
 
 
   

26   Any other business 
deemed urgent by the 
Chair 

No other business was deemed urgent by the Chair. 

 
 

 

Page 6



  

 

 

  

1 

 

 

REPORT OF THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER 

SOUTH WALES POLICE 

TITLE:  Police and Crime Commissioner for South Wales’ Extraordinary 

Update Report on COVID-19 

DATE:  15th September 2020 

PURPOSE: The purpose of this report is to provide an update on the South 
Wales Police response to policing the COVID-19 national 
emergency and Commissioner recovery plan.  

 

1. RECOMMENDATION 

That the Police and Crime Panel notes the attached update report and the 

significant ongoing activity by South Wales Police and Commissioner during 

the COVID-19 outbreak and beyond.  

2. INTRODUCTION & BACKGROUND 

The Policing Protocol (Para 14) states that the public accountability for the 

delivery and performance of the police service is placed into the hands of the 

Commissioner on behalf of their electorate. This has been ongoing despite the 

challenges of COVID-19. 

The Panel within each force area is empowered to maintain a regular check 

and balance on the performance of the Commissioner in that context, but in 

this case this is an unprecedented pandemic and oversight and partnership 

working has been adjusted accordingly and proportionately. The attached 

report highlights the impact on South Wales Police and demonstrates the 

Commissioners oversight. 

3. ISSUES FOR CONSIDERATION 

While the situation is unprecedented, South Wales Police has a strong track 

record in preparing for and responding to major events and emergencies. Tried 

and tested plans have been activated and they continue to adapt and respond 

as necessary. 

 

This is an ongoing and ‘live’ issue and the attached report reflects some 

immediate issues raised in line with questions raised by the National 

Association of Police and Fire Panels and the previous Police and Crime Panel 

in June 2020. 

4. NEXT STEPS 

The Commissioner will provide an update on the information provided on the 

day of the Panel. This will include an update on specific activity conducted by 

the Commissioner and his team as well as engagement with partners and 

oversight of South Wales Police. Also attached is the borad recovery action 

Page 7

Agenda Item 5



  

 

 

  

2 

 

 

plan proposed for the Commissioner’s team. 

5. FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS 

There is ongoing monitoring of the financial impact of COVID-19, this report 

does not cover the detail of this ongoing element of work. Detail can be 

provided to future Panel meetings and on conclusion of the pandemic, 

although an element is covered in the Treasurers update report, separate from 

this. 

6. PERSONNEL CONSIDERATIONS 

The impact on South Wales Police’s People is included in the attached report. 

7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

The Panel within each force area is empowered to maintain a regular check 

and balance on the performance of the Commissioner in that context of the 

Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011. 

8. EQUALITIES  AND HUMAN RIGHTS CONSIDERATIONS 

This proposal has been considered against the general duty to promote 

equality, as stipulated under the Strategic Equality Plan and has been 

assessed not to discriminate against any particular group.  

9. RISK 

The risk to policing in South Wales is included in the attached report.  

10. PUBLIC INTEREST 

This report will be placed on the website of both the Commissioner and the 

Police and Crime Panel. 

11. CONTACT OFFICER 

Lee Jones, Chief Executive, South Wales Police and Crime Commissioner  

12. ANNEXES 

Annex A Further Report on COVID-19 

Annex B Commissioner Recovery Action plan 

 

Page 8



  

 

  

 

Annex A 
Police and Crime Panel  

Update Report on COVID-19 
15th September 2020 

 
Purpose 
 
The purpose of this report is to provide an update on the South Wales Police response to policing 
the COVID-19 pandemic, in-line with changes to the Welsh Government’s restrictions. 
 
 
States of Policing  
As outlined in the ‘Extraordinary Report on COVID-19’ submitted initially to the Commissioner’s 
Strategic Board on 2nd April 2020, a policy has been agreed which sets out five states of potential 
impact COVID-19 may have on the workforce abstraction rate and the potential action which could 
be taken at each stage to ensure the force continues to fulfil its strategic obligations.  
 
Since the COVID-19 challenge began the force has remained, and continues to remain, in a 
steady ‘Green’ state. The highest abstraction rate for officers has been 15.68%, which occurred 
on 31st March 2020 and the highest abstraction rate for staff has been 18.61%, which occurred 
on 27th March 2020. As of 1100 hours on Monday 17th August 2020, the abstraction rate was 
4.76% for officers and 5.91% for staff, giving an overall force abstraction rate of 5.27%.  
 
 
Call Demand 

The number of calls at the Public Service Centre remains lower than when compared to the 
same period in 2019, with 23% less emergency calls and 2.5% less non-emergency calls being 
received.  Over the last month there has been a shift in the hourly profile for calls that are now 
concentrated in afternoons and evenings. 
 

Figure 1 

VE Day
Fri 8 May

801
Thu 25 Jun

744

Sat 8 Aug
1,023

VE Day
Fri 8 May

2,239 Thu 25 Jun
2,110

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

C
al

ls
 R

e
ce

iv
e

d

Calls Received during Lockdown Period

999 Calls 101 Calls

Page 9



  

 
 

  

 
 

The above graph at Figure 1 illustrates the peak demand days for calls in the last 3 months, 
including VE Day, the mass gathering at Ogmore by Sea on 25th June and spikes in demand 
during the warmer weather over the weekends.  

 
Further information regarding performance in the Public Service Centre has been provided in 
the Chief Constable’s main report. 
 
COVID -19 Related Occurrences (23rd March – 16th August)  
 
Under Home Office recording rules, any incidents which related to a potential breach of the 
COVID1-19 Regulations were categorised as Environmental ASB. 
 
Figure 2 below maps the volume of COVID-19 incidents across the 20 week period, providing a 
breakdown of incidents across Basic Command Unit (BCU) geographic areas, and details of the 
nature of the incidents categorised as breaches, incidents and advice given. 
 
During the 20 week period from the start of the lock down on 23rd March to 16th August, the force 
recorded 16,259 occurrences relating to COVID-19 with the majority being related to potential 
breaches of the regulations of which 13,744 were categorised as Environmental ASB.  The 
highest number of these occurrences (28.7%) have been reported in Eastern BCU, while Central 
BCU has seen the least (20.2%). The peak occurred in week 15, which corresponds with the 
Easter Bank Holiday weekend. 
 
 

 

Figure 2 

 
The following analysis illustrates the impact of changes to the Government restrictions on COVID-
19 Occurrence Demand. 
 
Lockdown – 23rd March to 10th May 2020 
 
Analysis of the initial lockdown period shows a steep increase in COVID-19 occurrences during 
week 15 (comm. 6 April) which included the Bank Holiday weekend, and is the week where the 
highest number of occurrences were recorded. This reaches a peak on Saturday 11th April  with 
416 occurrences being recorded. 

Page 10



  

 

  

 

 
The next peak, of 403 occurrences, happened two weeks later on Saturday 25th April, and on 8th 
May (VE Day) there was another peak of 379. During this 7 week period, there was an average 
of 186 COVID-19 related occurrences every day. Incidents tended to be reported between 3pm 
and 7pm, although this extended slightly on Friday and Saturdays.   
 
The top 5 sectors by occurrences at this time were Merthyr (505), Bridgend (499), Neath & 
Pontardawe (487), Maesteg (429) and Barry (415). 
 
UK Government Restrictions Changed - 11th May to 28th May 2020 
 
On 11th May the Prime Minister in his national address advised the public of a change in 
messaging on Coronavirus.  The message of “Stay Home, Protect the NHS, Save Lives” changed 
to one of “Stay Alert, Control the Virus, Save Lives” along with associated guidance on the 
Government’s recovery strategy.  This messaging is believed to have caused some confusion in 
parts of wider Government, especially the devolved administrations and policing, as well as 
importantly leaving parts of the community confused. 
 
This messaging was followed by the introduction of the UK Government’s Coronavirus Alert 
System, a traffic light system which indicates what the posture of Government is and the response 
being taken, which was modelled on the JTAC threat levels used to describe the Government’s 
response to terrorist threats. 
 
It is important to note that there was no change in the Welsh Government’s advice at this point. 
 
The force started to experience a reduction in reported COVID-19 occurrences at this point with 
much lower daily averages of occurrences.  Peaks however still occurred with the Sunday and 
Monday of the bank holiday weekend at the end of May seeing 343 and 337 occurrences 
respectively.  31.1% of occurrences were reported in Eastern BCU, while Northern had the least 
with 20.3%. There was an average of 181 covid related occurrences every day, with the highest 
number of occurrences reported between 5-6pm on a Wednesday. 
 
There was a shift in the top 5 sectors as well - Fairwater [150], Gower [165], Bridgend [163], Neath 
& Pontardawe [163] and Barry [163]. 
 
Welsh Government Regulations Changes - 29th May to 30th June 
 
This period saw the first significant changes in the approach to the Coronavirus pandemic in 
Wales with changes to the stay local messaging, with people now permitted to travel beyond 5 
miles, two households being allowed to meet outdoors and non-essential retail, childcare facilities, 
places of worship and the housing market re-opening.   
 
In England the restrictions eased at a much quicker pace with groups from multiple households 
being allowed to meet outdoors, being allowed to travel unlimited distances and bars, restaurants 
and hairdressers re-opening. 
 
This different pace of the easing of restrictions may have caused further confusion in the 
communities of Wales given how news is transmitted with national (UK wide) and regional (Wales) 
news programming consumed by the community despite the best efforts of the Welsh 
Government to communicate clearly. 
 

Page 11



  

 
 

  

 
 

Despite an initial peak of 286 occurrences on Saturday 30th May after the Welsh lockdown was 
eased, numbers spiked at weekends but generally decreased to around 30 by the end of June. 
While coastal locations such as the Gower did not feature in the Top 5 at the start of lockdown, 
during this period it saw the most occurrences which suggests that people were travelling more 
than 5 miles to access these areas. The highest number of occurrences tended to be reported 
between 4pm and 12pm on a Saturday, and the daily average was 92 occurrences. 
 
Again the high volumes sectors shifted: Gower [196], Fairwater [182], Neath& Pontardawe [164], 
Swansea City centre [151], Barry [143] and Bridgend [143]. 
 
The Welsh Night-time Economy Returns  - 1st July – 16th  August 
 
The start of July saw some of the most significant easings of restrictions with the lifting of stay 
local requirements, the opening of outdoors visitor attractions, self-contained holiday 
accommodation re-opening and most significantly the re-opening of the night time economy in a 
phased approach with outdoors venues opening in week commencing 13th July and indoor venues 
re-opening in the week commencing 3rd August.   
 
Initial analysis indicates that there was no sudden spike in violence or COVID-19 related incidents 
as a result of the night-time economy.  The issues around the Cardiff Bay area and public drinking 
appeared to be no more than well-publicised concerns of the media with analysis indicating that 
the area was substantially safer than usual periods.  Nonetheless the local BCU, along with 
partners, put in place a proportionate response to reassure the community. 
 
Peaks in this period tended to align with weekends, with the largest occurring on the Saturday 
when self-contained accommodation opened. As perhaps expected, occurrences seemed to 
mainly relate to the night-time economy given the time of day they were being reported. The daily 
average has reduced to 18 COVID-19 related occurrences a day during this timeframe. 
 
The top 5 sectors also changed with Barry receiving the most occurrences driven by the large 
amount of visitors to the area during periods of good weather. The demand in the top sectors 
were Barry [50], Bridgend [47], Cathays [45], Cardiff Bay [43] and Gower [43]. 
 
 
COVID-19 Regulation Enforcement 
 
Since the beginning of lockdown, the force recorded 299 Fixed Penalty Notices (FPNs) and 50 
COVID-19 arrests Western BCU saw the least (12.7%). The peak for FPNs being issued occurred 
in the week of 4th May, which corresponds with the week of VE Day. However only 2 FPNs were 
recorded on this particular day which suggests that officers took a proportionate approach to 
enforcement. 
 
The top sectors for the issuing of FPNs are shown below: 

Bridgend [30] 
Cathays  [27] 
Fairwater  [27] 
City Centre  [15] 
Ely   [15] 
Roath   [15] 

 
 

Page 12



  

 

  

 

Nationally, there has been a focus on whether COVID-19 regulation enforcement has 
disproportionally focussed on Black, Asian and Ethnic Minority (BAME) communities. In June 
2020, South Wales Police scrutinised the issuing of FPNs within the force area and in doing so, 
compared how many persons who identified as BAME were issued FPNs, with those issued to 
those who did not identify as BAME, and then further examined that by age group.  

That scrutiny found that approximately 85% of FPNs were issued to persons under the age of 45 
years. When applying the same scrutiny to FPN recipients in age bracket 16 to 24 years, it was 
found that 15% of persons issued FPNs identified as BAME. Persons aged 16 to 24 years, who 
identified as BAME, were found to make up 14% of the population during the 2011 Census. 

In age bracket 25 to 44 years, 13% of persons issued FPNs identified as BAME. Persons aged 
25 to 44 years, who identified as BAME, were found to make up 11% of the population during the 
2011 Census. 

Crime Level 

 

 
 
Violent Crime 
 
During this 20 week period since the beginning of lockdown, the force recorded 4,198 and 4,487 
crimes of violence with injury and without injury respectively. The highest number of violence with 
injury (29.8%) crimes were reported in Western BCU, while the highest violence without injury 
crimes were in Eastern (30.5%).  The trend appears to be on the increase, as levels return to 
‘normal’, following the significant easing of restrictions. 
 
Levels of violent crime have remained relatively low for the period, primarily due to the protracted 
closure of the night-time economy.  For the period of lockdown to 25th August 2020, saw a 
decrease of 22% on the same period last year and recorded an average of 27 crimes per week.  
The domestic abuse subset of this crime category however was largely unchanged by lockdown 

Page 13



  

 
 

  

 
 

conditions (up 3% on prior year) and we did see spikes in reported crimes around the Easter and 
May bank holidays as good weather fuelled pockets of alcohol related violence. 
 
Domestic Abuse 
 
Overall levels of domestic abuse are down 11% for the 20 week period compared to the previous 
year.  Levels were as much as 30% lower in the early days of lockdown and there is a serious 
concern that a number of crimes will have gone unreported due to the nature of the fact that 
victims and their aggressors are confined to the same location.  The hot bank holiday conditions 
did see spikes in domestic violence.  Recorded levels did pick up through May and June to bring 
them in line with the previous year. 
 
 
 
 
Child Protection 
 
From 23rd March to 23rd August, there were 2,254 crimes against children reported. Crimes have 

seen a steady increase during this time; 770 were reported during the first ten weeks and 1,484 

during the last ten weeks, an increase of 93%. The majority of these were violent crimes, sexual 

offences and theft and handling. Despite the increase July 2020 still records 34% fewer crimes 

against children than July 2019. 

The awareness raising campaign Operation Brake with taxis and licensed premises to prevent 

CSE has been conducted successfully in Central and Western BCUs. The operation is to be 

expanded once lockdown eases as a coordinated force-wide operation involving the MOSOVO 

and CSE teams to reduce the number of violent and sexual offences committed against children. 

Child Abuse Investigation Units across the force are currently operating as usual and have 
continued to respond to demand and concern with the MASH and Partnership working continuing 
via Daily Discussions, Strategy Discussions, CSE and Missing MASM’s and Child Protection 
Conferences. The CSE and Missing Person teams continue to manage the cohort of young 
people currently known to them who are vulnerable to these crimes 
 
 
South Wales Local Resilience Forum  
 
The South Wales Local Resilience Forum and Recovery Coordination Group have considered the 
phased approach to COVID-19 ‘Response to Recovery’ and how that will be implemented. The 
agreed strategic aim of the Recovery Coordination Group is:  
 
‘To promote the effective rebuilding, restoring and rehabilitating the community as far as 
reasonably possible from the Covid-19 outbreak, taking into consideration the social, economic 
and environmental wellbeing of the wider community’. 
 
As well as ensuring that partners are able to respond effectively to the potential re-emergence of 
the Coronavirus pandemic. To achieve this, the Recovery Coordination Group has 5 agreed 
strategic recovery themes which focus on health & wellbeing, communities, businesses, 
economy/infrastructure, learning and environmental factors. 
 

Page 14



  

 

  

 

Emphasis will be placed on reviewing opportunities for sustainable change for our organisations 
and communities, and planning effectively for the reopening of our services, buildings and public 
spaces. The effects of COVID-19 on our communities are well documented and partners are 
particularly cognisant of the impending reopening of schools and the increased vulnerability for 
children over this period, as well as the effect on their learning.  Adaptability of workplaces to 
ensure COVID -19 Workplace Measures have also been considered. The Recovery Coordination 
Group will also continue to focus on community cohesion, crime and disorder. Anti-social 
behaviour issues continue to drive media messages, particularly with the reopening of public 
spaces. The members of the Recovery Coordination Group are committed to increasing 
community engagement and improving community partnership arrangements.  Regular dialogue 
is in place between partners and South Wales Police at a strategic and an operational level, to 
share intelligence and to assess the current situation to inform future actions and plans. A 
proportionate response is already being taken by the Force towards enforcement of relevant 
legislation, providing confidence and reassurance to our communities as lockdown eases. The 
emphasis remains on the ‘4 E model’ - engage, explain, encourage, enforce. 
 
Further to this, prevention and response plans have been submitted to Public Health Wales, and 
test, track and trace processes are well established in our communities. Transmission rates in 
Wales (R) are currently around 1.0 but with COVID-19 restrictions easing and international travel 
increasing, further border control measures were introduced on 8th August 2020. Public Health 
Wales continue to proactively write to all persons arriving in the UK who are required to self-
isolate and have provided an isolation address in Wales.  
 
The need for due cognisance for excess death resilience is being reviewed by the Recovery 
Coordination Group as well as testing worst-case scenario models and addressing issues of 
funding and contract end dates. This is being considered by Welsh Government, ensuring there 
is sufficient storage provision available to the South Wales Local Resilience Forum, if required. 
 
The Recovery Coordination Group will meet regularly to monitor progression through this 
transition phase, and a tactical group will be established. The Strategic Coordination Group will 
be reactivated if required. A weekly situation reporting process is in place to inform the Recovery 
Coordination Group of emerging demand within the context of COVID-19, ensuring that the group 
can react quickly and plan accordingly.  
 
The South Wales Local Resilience Forum is planning a resilience testing exercise based on a 
range of scenarios, for example concurrent risks of regional flooding, flu season and EU Exit. This 
will help identify any issues for Policing or our partners in the Strategic Coordination Group. Any 
transition risks in any organisation are presented at the Recovery Coordination Group meetings, 
to provide a timely consideration and response to any emerging threat. The BRAG status of each 
agency will be continually assessed to ensure risk can be foreseen and addressed promptly by 
partner agencies. As the transition period continues, a Strategic Coordination Group workshop 
will be organised for partners to meet to share learning and best practice and a Wales GOLD 
course is being planned.  
 
Ultimately the success of this transition phase and arrangements established through the 
Recovery Coordination Group will be borne out and assessed in the coming weeks and months. 
The Group is well established and maturing and South Wales Police is a valued and key partner 
in this process. 
 
 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



Annex B Commissioner's COVID-19 Recovery Plan 

Area / Function Affected 

by COVID-19

Owner Impact 

Rating

Monitoring, Scrutiny & Assurance HJJ 3

Complaints & Standards JT 2

GDPR/Data Protection JT 2

Page 17



Independent Custody Visitors Scheme JT/HJJ 3

Police Appeal Tribunals/Pension Forfeiture Hearings JT 3

Public Engagement & Involvement HJJ 4

Page 18



Equality & Welsh Language HJJ 2

Day to day business  / VAWG strategy PH 1

Victims services PH 1

2

2

Page 19



Funded programmes - Commissioner Strategic Leads 3

DRIVE PH 3

Witnesses - court system 

3

Reporting and Additional Demand AN 2

Page 20



Dyfodol ALM 2

Mental Health ALM 2

HR - Recruitment HEA 2

Business Development -  Health and Safety HEA 3

Business Support - Front of House HEA 2

Page 21



Strategic Estates Peter Curran 2

Communication (Internal & External) RW 2

Page 22



Annex B Commissioner's COVID-19 Recovery Plan 

Impact Planned delivery 

date prior to 

COVID-19

Revised delivery 

date for recovery 

phase

No obvious financial impact but possible 

media/audit attention if statutory responsibilities 

are not undertaken

6 weekly Scrutiny & 

Accountability Board 

meetings with 

ongoing background 

research for deep 

dives.  Forward 

scrutiny plan for 

2020/21 was due to 

be launched by May 

2020. 

There has been no 

S&A Board meeting 

since March (as of 1st 

June).  An informal 

year end review 

meeting will take 

place in June with a 

view to establishing 

new dates.  The 

forward scrutiny plan 

is also in 

development.

No financial impact at all, but minor service 

disruption and pause of some activities

Ongoing- no end date 

although there were 

specific dates in the 

forward work plan 

which have had to be 

moved on

Dip sampling 

programme will 

resume in June with 

revised topics 

including complaints 

relating to COVID-19 

response
No apparent problems so far, but could cause 

issues in the future with inadvertent data 

breaches

Ongoing Ongoing

Page 23



No financial impact (in fact some savings from not 

paying expenses) but possible media/audit 

attention if stat responsibilities not undertaken

Ongoing A date will be set once 

social distancing 

measures have been 

revised

2- no financial impact, but some service delay Ongoing Dates will be set for 

hearings when it is 

safe to do so

No financial impact but a significant impact on 

service delivery/delivery of objectives

Planned engagement 

activities set out for 

the whole of 2020/21

A revised engagement 

programme is in 

development as no 

current face to face 

engagement is 

possible

Page 24



No major impact but some delay/disruption The Joint Equality Plan 

was due to be 

launched in April but 

has not been and is in 

the hands of the 

force.  Other work is 

ongoing throughout 

the year.

Not known when the 

plan will launch but 

other work can 

continue as usual.

Small loss in delivery, can be rectified once service 

resumes.

VAWDASV Delivery currently being 

delivered but with a 

delay

Small loss in delivery, can be rectified once service 

resumes.

1- Creation and 

Launch of the Joint 

SWP & PCC Victims 

Strategy.

September 

No financial impact, but some service delay VCOP Return - Start of 

May

June

No financial impact, but some service delay Victims Access to 

Services

N/A

Page 25



Moderate impact on operational efficiency and 

quality with total Service disruption

The access to 

community services  

for victims and those 

who have (or at risk 

of) come into contact 

with the CJS  is limited 

due to public isolation 

and options must be 

improved and 

communicated in a 

way that reaches 

them effectively

N/A

Moderate impact on operational efficiency and 

quality with total Service disruption

Late 2020

Moderate impact on operational efficiency and 

quality with total Service disruption

N/A N/A

No financial impact, but some service delay N/A N/A

Page 26



Financial impact on the providers who have been 

required to supply additional equipment for 

sanitisation.Additional costs of medication 

(Buvidal) that enables social distancing has been 

met through APB slippage funding and WG have 

confirmed they will cover the costs of Buvidal 

longer term prescribing.  

N/A N/A

2. Developing the new crisis concordat structures 

has been delayed on the basis that the HB have 

been focussed on the risk management of COVID. 

The first meetings were due to be scheduled for 

April, however these have since been delayed. It is 

likely that these will be re-instigated in September 

at the earliest. The development of the mental 

health strategy has also been delayed due to the 

strategic lead needing to focus on substance 

misuse delivery in light of the pandemic. 

Apr-20 Sep-20

Some service delay Apr-20 TBC

No delay Apr-20 June/July

No delay - business enhancement Apr-20 June/July

Page 27



Delays to major projects, including the new Police 

Learning Centre at HQ. No significant financial 

implication forecast

Ongoing Ongoing

No obvious financial impact but reduction in 

opportunities to visually highlight the work of the 

team and work with partners across South Wales 

to create safe, confident and resilient 

communities

Ongoing Ongoing

Page 28



Statutory or               

contractual 

deadline (where 

relevant) 

Progress/Situational Report 

N/A We are moving to the use of our PALG meeting as our current sole 

method of scrutiny (usually this is one of many options).  In June 2020 

a dial-in PALG meeting will be used to conduct oversight and scrutiny 

of the police response to Covid-19 and associated crime and safety 

concerns e.g. DA responses etc.  A scrutiny review has just been 

completed as this has been an opportune time to reflect on the 

scrutiny arrangements to date.  Changes are therefore being 

recommended.  A scrutiny annual report has also been completed.   

The WFH period has been helpful in enabling some of this planning 

work.  The forward scrutiny plan is still in development and will 

require some adjustments yet to be determined (due to covid 

restrictions).  There is a feeling that we have needed to be light touch 

on the force with regard to scrutiny during the virus crisis but this 

approach cannot continue long term.

None The current social distancing measures have had a significant impact 

on the delivery of our public engagement strategy and practices. 

These include delaying scheduled community walkabouts, cancelling 

our summer programme of community events and postponing our 

‘youth conversation’ event.

None The Data Protection Officer has reinforced to everyone the key 

principles to be aware of when handling data at home, and everyone 

has been provided with the opportunity and equipment to work from 

home securely. Everyone needs to be aware of their responsibilities 

and be careful, and remember that if they need advice they need 

only ask. The Data Protection Officer has also starting taking steps to 

evidence our compliance with the WASPI accord which the WFH 

period has been helpful in doing

Page 29



None The Governance Support Officers moved quickly to suspend visits 

from the volunteers when the virus emerged. They have put in place 

a reporting mechanism at the moment with continuous reporting 

from custody regarding any issues and have been analysing custody 

records on NICHE to provide reassurance. They are also continuing to 

update the scheme guidance and working practices remotely. There 

will inevitably come a time in the next month or so when we will 

need to review the need for direct contact between visitors and ICVs, 

as scheme manager oversight is not the same.  Telephone call offers 

may be an option to pursue and this will be looked into if social 

distancing restrictions have not been changed by mid-summer.

None One Police Appeal Tribunal has been dealt with completely digitally 

so the process has not stalled in that regards .However it did not 

require a hearing but plans are being drawn up in case there are any 

further cases in the near future which do require a hearing. We have 

conducted two pension forfeiture hearings via Skype which worked 

well and are planning another which was stalled awaiting further 

updates regarding social distancing, but it will also be planned to be 

conducted via skype too (with the consent of the solicitors involved). 

We have also organised training for our new LQC's to be taken 

remotely in bit-sized chunks. 

Ongoing deadlines 

and an ongoing 

statutory duty to 

'obtain the views' of 

the public

The current social distancing measures have had a significant impact 

on the delivery of our public engagement strategy and practices. 

These include delaying scheduled community walkabouts, cancelling 

our summer programme of community events and postponing our 

‘youth conversation’ event. Current restrictions have encouraged us 

to think differently about how we engage with and reach out to the 

public. We have created an ‘online feedback form’ as an ongoing 

platform to encourage the public to provide feedback to us and we 

have used other communication channels such as local radio stations. 

This has enabled some form of public engagement but will probably 

not provide us with the rich level of feedback we obtained last year.  

As the majority of organisations are also trying to engage differently 

with their audiences, online channels are becoming saturated with 

information/surveys and similar concepts are being rolled out, which 

makes it very difficult for us to ‘stand out’ and encourage 

participation. 

Page 30



There is a statutory 

duty to publish 

equality objectives so 

we need to have them 

in place asap.

Most work in this area is continuing as normal.  The scheduled Welsh 

language working group meeting took place via skype.  Internal Welsh 

language queries have continued as normal and responses provided 

as normal.  Equality work is continuing although the launch of the 

Joint Plan has caused some delay with being able to raise awareness 

of it across the wider team.  Waiting on the force to re-schedule the 

launch as everything is ready.  Without regular contact with the wider 

team it is difficult to know how often other team members are 

factoring equality into their work e.g. are they conducting EIAs on 

their changed ways of working etc?  This is something that may 

require consideration in coming months.

- Continued time allocation to be able to develop the VAWDASV work 

plan, monitoring of day to day demand following consistent / 

persistent requests for information and work from a variety of 

sources.  

- Continued time allocation to be able to develop in conjunction with 

the force a strategy. 

Statutory PCC - Victims Code of Compliance Monitoring Submission Delayed 

finalisation of return with the data that has been gathered so far 

from CJS partners. 

- The access to services for victims is limited due to public isolation and 

options must be improved and communicated in a way that reaches 

them effectively

Page 31



Contractual Continued communication with our commissioned partners and 

relationship building. Services will require a large amount of support 

post lockdown to deal with the additional demand, scoping needs to 

be taken internally to monitor this and if necessary provide support.

Where commissioning services have been impacted, services can be 

given an extension to enable them to review their applications 

(including KPI's etc) for funding submitted pre-Covid. This is particular 

relevant for CSPs.  

Contractual Continued monitoring of our contracted and commissioned partners 

around the delivery of the rollout. Briefings with both policing and 

stakeholders are to continue in the interim period.

Perpetrator programmes – lack of – future scoping and planning and 

working in a collaborative approach with WG, LA’s

N/A N/A

Statutory The Ministry of Justice has on numerous occasions during the 

previous 8 weeks of lockdown requested multiple types of data from 

our providers. These requests have fallen to the PCC's to co-ordinate. 

As a result it has severely strained relationships with our 

commissioned services. 

There have been in excess of five requests, which have come in a 

short period and have contained conflicting information for providers 

around reporting periods and have required a large amount of 

resources to complete. Additional demand has also come from other 

agencies IPLU, Home Office Affairs Select Committee, Welsh 

Government, Victims Commissioner, APCC.

Page 32



contractual There were some key changes made to sustain delivery which will be 

continue, although relaxation where possible in line with WG 

direction will be undertaken:  

 -Dyfodol staff are working remotely where possible. 

- Arrest Referral service is being completed remotely.

- Drug Rehabilitation Requirements are not currently being drug 

tested- this has been suspended on a national basis.

- Court continue to be provided with advice and guidance remotely. 

- Changes to the prescribing regimes mean that people are provided 

with take home medication (3 days, one week, two weeks) 

Dependent on the clinicians risk assessment and with support with 

safe consumption.

- PPE equipment is being borrowed from HMP Parc (30th march) and 

a delivery of PPE is due with Dyfodol this week

Statutory Strategic lead will continue to liaise with HB leads in developing the 

meetings structure to enable them to run in line with HB recovery 

planning. 

n/a Exec to review the recruitment timetable for vacancies currently on 

hold. Evaluate 'virtual' recruitment of Policy Officer (V&V)

Statutory Manage and monitor Covid  return to work arrangements put in place 

to ensure individuals' health and safety and building compliance. 

Complete 'business as usual' H&S actions put on hold (see Annual 

H&S Plan).

N/A Introduce a new phone script for callers based on lessons learnt. 

Agree and implement recommendations of mail processing reviews 

carried out during Covid-19.

Page 33



None Ensure Commissioner's Estates Board is regularly appraised of 

progress. Estates Board on 20th May resolved that the Interim Head 

of Estates keeps PC informed of progress and any significant 

slippage(s) on major programmes
N/A Communications over the Covid-19 period have been primarily 

focused on vulnerability - domestic abuse, child protection, victims 

(more broadly) but also scrutiny and assurance, as well as messages 

to the community around Welsh Government restrictions from the 

Commissioner. In light of the crisis there is limited support available 

from the centre in terms of video production and ad hoc graphic 

support but core imagery and messaging is being jointly branded and 

shared. Work around are now well established in terms of video 

production and other aspects around drafting of news pieces, 

statements, or comments remain as normal despite the social 

distancing. Internal mechanisms to communicate messaging from the 

Commissioner Team remain open and fully accessible i.e. Bob, 

#TeamSWP Facebook.

Page 34



What Other Partners are Doing
Resources Required Cost implications

Partners will be key in our current oversight, 

hence the use of PALG.  We are looking for 

varied views and opinions and this will 

positively assist at present.

None at present - 

meetings will continue 

via Skype/Microsoft 

teams

None

We will hopefully be continuing with our 

Outreach Project shortly and will be engaging 

with partners in harder to reach communities 

to obtain their views (good and bad) of the 

quality of policing they receive and access to 

the complaints system

None None

The ICO has published various guidance 

documents but has not contacted us directly, 

although they could do so at any time

None None

Page 35



ICVA have been consulted with throughout 

and have been very supportive of the ad-hoc 

oversight arrangements, even providing 

public support for the way in which our team 

is doing it

None None

The National Association of Legally Qualified 

Chairs and home office approved Chairs for 

PATS have been in contact throughout 

providing guidance- it seems SWP and our 

office have been leading the way nationally. 

None None

Communication with partners is continuing 

for engagement purposes where possible e.g. 

with PALG members, and this is working well.  

However as mentioned, we are all competing 

for 'space' with the public in the virtual 

world.

In order to re-establish 

direct engagement 

mechanisms we need an 

investment in new 

technology options e.g. 

Microsoft Teams for 

reliable engagement 

with partners and PALG.  

We may also need to 

gain support for use of 

Facebook Live to trial 

new options of 

conducting public Q&As 

when public walkabouts 

are not possible and all 

stall events have been 

cancelled.

None

Page 36



Work with partners has not been affected None None

N/A

Additional resource 

required internally to 

cope with the demand 

of the Victims work.  

Team to be up to full 

strength advertisement 

for policy officer has 

been made. 

None

N/A None

Partners will need to supply any remaining 

data (HMCTS / CPS have already confirmed 

that due to the pandemic that they will be 

supplying no more data)

N/A None

Partners will need to upscale any existing 

resource to cope with the increased demand 

and backlog resulting from the lockdown.

N/A Potential cost 

implication to upscale 

service delivery now - 

applications made to 

MoJ and will be again 

(phase 2)in the wake 

of any rise in demand 

following COVID-19.

Page 37



Relaxation of social distancing’s measures, 

plans written by providers possibility of 10,30 

and 50% increases in demand on partners.

Providers will also be looking to review 

lessons learned from lockdown and how this 

will feed into future delivery (e.g. Future4 

use learning from positive engagement with 

online resources and workshops)

N/A Potential cost 

implication to upscale 

service delivery in the 

wake of any rise in 

demand following 

COVID-19. Possibility 

of applying for any 

additional funds that 

may be made available  

(e.g. MoJ funding)

Continuation of recruitment into the DRIVE 

programme by SMT.

N/A Potential cost 

implications along with 

front-loading of money 

into the service to 

allow for sufficient set 

up. 

Complete delay in the CJS process, partners 

and commissioned services have had to cope 

with increased demand from victims. 

Witness Care Units have had to deal with 

approximately 10,000 cases that are ongoing. 

This causes a backlog within the support 

system for witnesses.

Additional resource 

required internally to 

cope with the demand 

of the Victims work. 

Application for 

additional policy officer 

has been made. 

None

Repair relationships with our commissioned 

services and provide reassurance that future 

requests for data and information will be 

concise, fair and contain realistic timeframes.

N/A None

Page 38



The WG indicated their support of Buvidal 

use to support with social distancing, and as 

a result the APB have followed in supporting 

their commissioned providers to access and 

use Buvidal. Alongside this, the WG have 

requested that data be provided on the use 

of Buvidal to track costings. 

none at present as the 

cost of additional B

None at present as the 

cost of additional 

Buvidal should be met 

via WG.

HB leads will be required to support the 

development of the new structures and 

implement the meetings. 

none at present in 

regard to the crisis 

concordat work. In 

terms of the mental 

health work, a review of 

the finances required in 

line with the strategy 

development will be 

undertaken.  

None

N/A N/A Savings (2 x PO1/2)

We are following WG advice in respect of 

Covid-19 and are in discussion with Force 

colleagues via Chief Exec. 

Signage to support RTW 

via SWP Print and 

PPE/sanitising stations 

via SWP Estates.

None

Varies SWP ICT/Telephony 

team.

None

Page 39



Contractors are keeping Estates informed 

with regards to supply chain issues

None at present None at present, but 

will be kept under 

review

We remain in regular contact with partners 

on key messaging and the crisis has enabled 

more collaborative messaging and sharing of 

materials - examples being the WG 

VAWDASV Comms group, Respect, NSPCC 

and also responsive campaigns with the 

Force (i.e. sexting, restriction/enforcement 

messaging)

None at present - work 

around are now 

established and digital 

channels proving 

effective

None

Page 40



All usual scrutiny meetings have now reconvened (as of July 2020), including the Scrutiny Board 

and PALG meetings.  All are currently via Skype or Teams and are working well.

The outreach project has commenced and it is now business as usual. Dip sampling and all 

associated processes are up and running and we are working as normal. 

No data breaches to date, and reminder emails are sent out regularly. Compliance with the WASPI 

accord is being worked on but this is now business as usual. 

Progressing Forum / Closure Confirmation

Page 41



In the next month or so it is likely that some visits will resume with the ICVs that have indicated 

they are happy to do so with PPE.  Where visits are not being made, phone calls are now being 

offered to the volunteers, meaning that the scheme is in a more 'business as usual' place than it 

was at the beginning of covid.

All PAT's and pension forfeitures are progressing as normal, via technology or in socially distanced 

settings. Business as usual now in place. 

An interim engagement plan has now been developed, with all planned engagement until the end 

of the financial year.  There is now more of a focus on online interaction.  Dates are being assigned 

to all planned meetings/events/outreach and it is hoped that we will still be able to do as much as 

possible.  It will still be of benefit if we could have a Zoom licence for some of the interaction with 

certain groups as this is more familiar to communities.

Page 42



The Joint Equality Plan has now been launched an a Joint Race Equality Plan is in development.  All 

work is progressing as normal.

Work is progressing well and the recovery work and planning for a potential second wave is being 

undertaken alongside planned day to day work. New Policy Officer has been recruited and joined 

the team on the 3rd August.

Draft Strategy in train. Consultation framework to be established and draft content to be discussed 

with Commissioner and Chief Officers in September.

Completed and returned on time.

This is being monitored and a service impact review is being completed - first draft due early 

September. Establishing a witness support network in order to improve pathways; significant 

funding has ben made available for service providers both resource and capital however most is 

short term.

Page 43



Service review is underway, Monthly MoJ demand returns help to maintain an overview, providers 

are implementing recovery plans, and additional funding has been secured and made available 

from other sources to support delivery post lockdown restrictions being lifted (WG, Trusts etc.)

On track - as planned. Possible HO perpetrator fund being announced shortly - plan in place to 

apply.

Policy Officer in past and piece of work has been tasked to bring together witness support 

providers to try and strengthen referral pathways and support for victims. Work in train to re 

establish remote evidence centres, and identify new ones utilising cloud based platforms. 

Nightingale court opening in Swansea. Biggest issue is making sure there is enough support for 

witnesses who have been waiting a long time for court.

The request for data seems to have settled down, although we know MoJ asks are demanding on 

service providers. Current piece of work being undertaken to try to review and streamline any 

information requests.

Page 44



WG provided a letter of confirmation in regard to the covering of costs for Buvidal via the APB. 

There is a framework in development by providers with Swansea University to consider a piece of 

research on the use of Buvidal to consider the benefits and outcomes of its use and WG are also 

undertaking their research which Dyfodol will support and is actively involved in. There is also a full 

Dyfodol recovery plan that has been completed and we are in the amber stage of recovery. The 

document can be supplied on request from Angharad Metcalfe.                

Concordats meeting have now been instigated in July, August and September 2020.  Resources 

required for the Concordat.

Actions to be passed to Executive Team and BMT. Lessons Learned paper is in draft re V&V Policy 

Officer post. Currently there are 3 known vacancies in the pipeline, full details are awaited before 

recruitment can take place. This is expected during August/Sept. 11/8 Recruitment is progressing 

for a number of posts - Policy Officer/Reseracher(was Public Affairs Officer), Partnership Analyst 

(unfilled since the departure of C Phillips) and All-Wales IOM Analyst (joint post with HMPPS). We 

are also assisitng with the Joint CCTV Project Lead and Support posts with SWP.

Actions to be passed to Health and Safety Group and BMT. Laura Armitt has been appointed to 

support Chief Exec on Covid-related activity. Line Managers are completing a template to log 

possible barriers and considerations to RTW. Action is being progressed by fortnightly BMT 

meetings. 

Actions to be passed to BMT and Business Admin Team. Prototype has been recorded and is due to 

be amended slightly before launching before August. Mail collection is following notification of 

delivery @ HQ Post Room - not more than once a week and collection is on an appointment basis 

to minimise contact during Covid lockdown.  GM mail Review has nearly concluded and 

improvements have been seen.

Page 45



Estates Board was held on 20th May. It received progress reports on all major projects and the 

impact of COVID-19, including the impact on the timeline for disposals of properties. The Estates 

Board has maintained meetings during the crisis and will continue to meet as per its meeting 

schedule.
All revised processes and working arrangements around communications are now firmly 

established and have become business as usual. 

Page 46



  

 

 

  

1 

 

 

REPORT OF THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER 

SOUTH WALES POLICE 

TITLE:  Update on Financial Matters 

DATE:  15th September 2020 

PURPOSE: To update Panel members on current and pertinent financial 
matters relevant to South Wales Police 

 

1. RECOMMENDATION 

That the Police and Crime Panel notes the salient and current strategic finance 

issues facing South Wales Police. 

 

2. INTRODUCTION & BACKGROUND 

The Panel has previously requested periodic updates on the in-year financial 

position of South Wales Police. Accordingly, this report provides an update of 

actual against budgeted expenditure for the first quarter of the 2020/21 

financial year. 

The report also provides an update on the provisional outturn position and 

audit work currently being undertaken on the 2019/20 accounts. Finally, given 

the Government’s impending Comprehensive Spending Review, the paper 

also outlines the key strategic financial issues and risks facing South Wales 

Police, which have been articulated to the Home Office prior to their Spending 

Review submission to the Treasury, due by the end of September. A brief 

presentation and discussion with the Panel on the key strategic financial issues 

and risks is scheduled on the agenda after consideration of the attached 

report.  

4. FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS 

The financial implications are fully articulated within the attached report. 

 

5. PERSONNEL CONSIDERATIONS 

None specifically. South Wales Police’s People and Organisational 

Development Strategy was included in the Medium Term Financial Strategy 

received by the Panel in January 2020. 

6. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

The Panel within each Force area is empowered to maintain a regular check 

and balance on the performance of the Commissioner in that context of the 

Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011. 

7. EQUALITIES  AND HUMAN RIGHTS CONSIDERATIONS 

This proposal has been considered against the general duty to promote 

equality, as stipulated under the Strategic Equality Plan and has been 

Page 47

Agenda Item 6



  

 

 

  

2 

 

 

assessed not to discriminate against any particular group.  

 

In preparing this report, consideration has been given to the requirements of 

the Articles contained in the European Convention on Human Rights and the 

Human Rights Act 1998. 

8. RISK 

Various financial risk scenarios are included and explained in the attached 

documentation.  

9. PUBLIC INTEREST 

This report will be placed on the website of both the Commissioner and the 

Police and Crime Panel. 

 

10. CONTACT OFFICER 

Peter Curran, Chief Finance Officer to the Police and Crime Commissioner for 

South Wales. 

11. ANNEXES 

Report on Salient Financial Issues 

 

Page 48



  

 

  

 

Police & Crime Panel Meeting : September 15th 2020 

Report from the South Wales Police & Crime Commissioner’s Treasurer 

Update on Financial Matters 

Introduction 

This report provides an update on the salient and current financial issues relating to South 

Wales Police. Specifically, it covers: 

 A brief commentary on the provisional 2019/20 year-end position and progress on 
the external audit work 

 An analysis and commentary on the in-year 2020/21 financial position for Quarter 1 

 A review on the strategic, longer-term financial issues, particularly relevant at present 
given the impending Comprehensive Spending Review  

 

A presentation will be made to the Panel, which will focus on the key strategic financial 

issues and risks facing South Wales Police as we await the publication of the Government’s 

three-year Comprehensive Spending Review 2021/22 to 2023/24 later this autumn. There 

will also be the opportunity for a Panel discussion on these issues. 

 

Part A: Provisional 2019/20 Year-End Position 

By way of background, each Corporation Sole (Commissioner and Chief Constable) is 
required to produce its own single entity statement of accounts with the Commissioner 
producing a further statement of accounts for the Group as a whole.   
 

  Audit Wales (formerly the Wales Audit Office) who are the Appointed Auditor, commenced 

their audit of the draft statements of accounts early in July. The audit is presenting some new 

challenges for them this year as it is being performed remotely due to the requirements of 

social distancing and Welsh Government’s guidance on working from home. The audit is 

expected to be completed by the end of September. Accordingly, the Joint Audit Committee 

will consider the accounts at its meeting on September 28th, before making recommendations 

to the Commissioner and Chief Constable to approve the accounts. At the time of compiling 

this report, no significant issues had been raised by Audit Wales during the course of their 

work. There is an ongoing disclosure issue relating to pensions emanating from the McCloud 

and Sargeant unlawful age discrimination cases, which affects both the Police Pension Fund 

and the Local Government Pension Scheme. This is being worked through with Audit Wales. 

An oral update can be provided on this, along with any other, outstanding issues relating to 

the audit of the accounts. 

  The year-end position is expected to be broadly breakeven against a consolidated net revenue 

budget of £287.2M, after transfers have been made to the various reserves (£2.34M). The 

provisional outturn and proposed transfer to reserves are shown in the table below. 

 

 

 

 

Page 49



  

 
 

  

 
 

Table 1 – Provisional Year-End Position 2019/20 

 

Achieving this broadly break-even position is a commendable result, particularly with COVID-

19 costs being incurred towards the end of the year. 

 

Part B: In-Year 2020/21 Position for Quarter 1 

The 2020/21 financial year represents the tenth consecutive year of reductions or no increase 
in grant for South Wales Police. The additional funding to support the Police Officer Uplift 
Programme (PUP) funds additional officer numbers but not existing budget pressures. The 
Police and Crime Commissioner, in agreement with the Police and Crime Panel in January 
2020, set a Revenue Budget of £308.6M and a Capital Programme of £48.5M for the financial 
year 2020/21.  
 
At the end of the first quarter of the financial year, it is too soon to make totally accurate 
assessments of forecasted year-end positions, and financial information can still be impacted 
by year-end accruals, particularly as the 2019/20 year-end accounts are still in the process of 
being audited. We can however place confidence over the variances reported for the Police 
Officers’ pay budget, which represents over 50% of the overall budget, as they are profiled 
appropriately across the year. 

 
A further in-year monitoring report can be brought to the Panel later in the financial year, to 
provide an updated position and forecast outturn for the year. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1st April 2019 to 31st March 2020

Annual 

Budget

Full Year 

Spend

Carry 

Forward/ 

Transfer to 

Reserves

Full Year 

Variance 

(Over) / 

Under
£M £M £M £M

Police Officer Pay and Pensions 149.11 146.75 0.00 2.36

Police Staff Pay 60.21 59.38 0.00 0.83

Devolved Budgets 7.52 8.60 0.07 (1.15)

Force/Contingency Budgets 19.45 19.79 0.00 (0.34)

Centralised Budgets 12.62 13.04 0.00 (0.42)

Externally Funded Budgets 1.49 2.10 0.00 (0.61)

Collaborative Budgets 17.41 16.86 0.24 0.31

Central Budgets 14.39 13.49 1.87 (0.97)

Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner 5.00 4.85 0.15 0.00

TOTAL 287.20 284.86 2.34 0.00

Page 50



  

 

  

 

Revenue Position 
 

The table below summarises the current financial position across the portfolio of budgets. 

Table 2 – Revenue Position across portfolios of South Wales Police’s budgets 

 

The position to date is £6.19M positive variance on the Revenue Account, which is mainly due 

to timing differences on externally funded and collaborative budgets and will reverse as the 

year progresses.   

An explanation of each budget area’s variance is described below. 

Police Officer Pay & Pensions 

The Medium Term Financial Plan for 2020/21 reflects a base level Force funded establishment 
of 2,867 officers, with a further 136 to be funded from the PUP, which is South Wales Police’s 
allocation from the first tranche of 6,000 new officers. There is an effective establishment 
control system in place which monitors the officer establishment on a monthly basis and is 
used as the basis to make monthly grant claims to the Home Office. The recruitment of 
additional officers is phased in line with recruitment cycles and also takes into account officers 
leaving the Force, predominantly through retirements. The recruitment plan reflects an officer 
intake of 258 for the year which is the single biggest intake of officers in one year since 2007. 
At the end of June 2020, 61 of the 136 additional officers were in post above the base position, 
and this will fluctuate month-by-month due to turnover. The current recruitment plan predicts 
that the Force will end the financial year with 176 officers above the base establishment and 
this is in part in anticipation of phase two of the PUP programme (a further 8,000 Officers 
throughout all Forces in England and Wales), due to be announced in the Autumn.  
 
Whilst the Quarter 1 position reports a positive variance (£1.27M), this will fluctuate depending 
on how actual expenditure is incurred again planned expenditure. It is important to note that 
reimbursement of the Police Uplift Programme is on a strict ‘additionality’ basis.  There is also 
an unpredictable element of officers ‘opting out’ of the Police pension scheme as well as the 
impact of officers on reduced pay due to Maternity (currently 28) and long term sick (currently 
11 on half or no pay).  

 
The Home Office has permitted the use of half of the PUP grant to help meet costs of COVID-
19 but recognises that this will be insufficient to fund both COVID-19 expenditure and PUP 

BUDGET AREA Year to date

1st April to 30th June 2020

Actual 

YTD

Budget 

YTD

Variance 

YTD

Annual 

Budget

£M £M £M £M

Police Officer Pay & Pensions 37.33 38.60 1.27 156.61

Police Staff Pay 15.07 15.32 0.25 62.04

Devolved Budgets 1.83 2.07 0.24 8.44

Force/ Contingency Budgets 9.64 10.25 0.62 22.19

Centralised Budgets 3.18 3.64 0.47 12.91

Externally Funded Budgets 3.21 5.06 1.85 1.50

Collaborative Budgets 5.48 7.72 2.24 18.48

Central Budgets -1.48 -2.79 -1.32 21.06

Office of the Police & Crime Commissioner -0.01 0.57 0.58 5.41

TOTAL 74.24 80.43 6.19 308.64

Page 51



  

 
 

  

 
 

and we are still awaiting a decision on whether COVID-19 costs will be reimbursed in full and 
this remains a financial risk until we receive definitive information. 
 

Police Staff Pay 

The 2020/21 Medium Term Financial Strategy reflects an ongoing planned staff pay vacancy 

factor of £1M. As of Quarter 1, there is a £0.25M positive variance taking into account both 

staff and PCSOs. The approved establishment for PCSOs is 406, with 200 funded by South 

Wales Police and 206 by a Welsh Government grant. A vacancy factor of 27 posts is in place 

to reflect the real terms reduction in grant funding from the Welsh Government. The current 

recruitment plan indicates an average vacancy of around this number. 

The PUP programme rightly reflects the additional pressure on the support functions and the 

programme nationally sustains an uplift of 6,000 police staff (in control rooms forensics, fleet 

etc.) of which the South Wales Police share over the three year programme is anticipated to 

be around 130 posts depending upon the overall 20,000 officer allocation between Forces and 

central agencies. Our current projections are based on 90% of the 20,000 being allocated to 

Forces. 

Devolved Budgets 

At this relatively early stage in the financial year, the majority of budgets are operating in line 

with plans, although positions will be closely monitored as we progress through the year. 

Managers continue to manage their budgets prudently, and recognise the need to identify 

additional savings over the medium term.  

The year to date position is a small positive variance of £0.24M, which is mainly due to profiling 

issues early in the financial year.  One area of note is the higher than budgeted spend on 

overtime within Specialist Operations to date. This is mainly caused by abstractions within the 

Dog Section and the Roads Policing Unit and is necessary to meet operational policing 

requirements.  

Force/ Contingency Budgets 

The year to date position on the Force/ Contingency budgets is a positive variance of £0.62M. 
However, there has been significant COVID-19 related spend to date, including on PPE, 
cleaning, ICT equipment and overtime as well as a loss of planned income. This has been 
partly offset by savings made in areas such as travel and accommodation costs. The net 
additional costs have been reported on a monthly basis to the Home Office, but at this stage 
there is uncertainty on whether there will be a full reimbursement of costs incurred. 
Confirmation has recently been received that medical grade PPE will be reimbursed with 
remaining COVID-19 related expenditure yet to be confirmed. Around £1.8M has been 
incurred to date with a similar amount anticipated again for the remainder of the year. It is 
important to note that the Home Office monitoring process requires both savings and costs 
from COVID-19 to be reported, with the additional net expenditure hopefully being reimbursed 
in full. 
 

Centralised Budgets 

The year to date positive variance of £0.47M is mainly due to profiling issues and there are no 
significant pressures to report at this stage in the financial year. During the crisis, BP 
responded with a free fuel initiative for the emergency services for a period and this as well as 
lower diesel pump prices has contributed to appositive variance in the centralised budget.  

 

Page 52



  

 

  

 

Externally Funded Budgets 

The current positive variance on externally funded initiatives is largely a timing issue on grant 
alignment. No significant pressures have been identified to date, with the first set of quarterly 
grant claims being submitted in July. However, the full reimbursement of Police Education 
Qualifications Framework (PEQF) remains an issue as we received confirmation at the end of 
March 2020 that the Home Office will only make available £1M for each of the years 2019/20 
and 2020/21 for all four Wales forces to share. Given South Wales Police costs alone are 
around a £1M, then a shortfall of around £4M will arise across all 4 Forces in 2020/21. Without 
additional Home Office funding, this shortfall will increase in future years as officer numbers 
increase under PUP. 
 
Collaborative Budgets 
 
The table below shows expenditure incurred against each of the collaborative units in the year 
to date against the profiled budget. The annual budget is also shown for reference. The figures 
below do not reflect any forecast of outturn position at this stage of the financial year as it is 
too early to make accurate forecasts.  
 

Table 3 – Expenditure Incurred Against Each Collaborative Unit 
 

Collaborative Area 

Actual YTD 

£000 

Budget YTD 

£000 

Variance YTD 

£000 

Annual Budget 

£000 

Joint Procurement Services 32 49 16 67 

Learning & Development Services 14 23 9 23 

Joint Legal Services 274 286 12 909 

Digital Services Division 1,079 1,085 5 3,636 

All-Wales Collaboration Board 59 28 -31 28 

Counter Terrorism Intelligence Unit -818 2,792 3,610 34 

Joint Fire Arms Unit 1,708 1,526 -182 6,279 

Joint Scientific Investigation Unit 1,326 1,240 -85 4,669 

Regional Organised Crime Unit 1,802 688 -1,114 2,835 

Total 5,476 7,717 2,240 18,480 

 
The figures above indicate a net positive variance for the year to date against Collaborative 
Units of £2.24M. However, the two significant variances contributing to that position shown 
above are due to timing differences between grant Income receipts and expenditure being 
incurred. At this stage of the financial year there is no indication of any significant variances 
against budget for collaborative initiatives. 
 
It is anticipated that as the financial year progresses, income from grants and contributions 

from collaborative partners will align much more closely and the variance indicated above will 

move back towards a balanced position. 

 

Page 53



  

 
 

  

 
 

Central Budgets 

The negative variance to date of £1.32M relates in the main to timing issues, with income yet 

to be received.  

 

Commissioner’s Budgets 

 

The positive variance of £0.58M relates to timing issues, specifically where income has been 

received in advance of expenditure. The forecast year-end position is expected to closely 

match the original budgets for the year. 

 

Revenue Account Summary 

Whilst the overall position shows a £6.19M positive variance at this stage, this is predominantly 

a timing and phasing issue with an underlying position which indicates some unfunded cost 

pressure (£0.8M) committed to date in relating to  and potentially some unfunded COVID-19 

depending upon whether the Home Office reimburses the additional costs in full. 

Value For Money Plan 

In addition to the £1.25M efficiency savings built into the 2020/21 budget, indications from the 
CSR 2020 are that the police service will be expected to demonstrate even more cashable 
and non-cashable savings and the VFM plan remains a key contributor to future balanced 
budgets. Whilst COVID-19 has delayed the implementation of some initiatives these will be 
re-examined and re-profiled with a realistic time frame for delivery and reflected in the 
development of the 2021/25 Medium Term Financial Strategy. 
 

Capital Expenditure 

The table below summarises the Capital Programme budget for Quarter 1 against the 

programme approved with the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) for 2020 to 2024. The 

agreed MTFS Capital programme for 2020/21 was £48.5M. This figure was net of £2.5M 

contributions from Dyfed Powys Police and Gwent Police for the construction of a new Fire 

Arms range. This project will now likely be delivered in 2021/22 and so the £2.5M contributions 

will be rolled into next year’s budget. This gives an updated capital budget of £51M. However, 

once carry forwards from the 2019/20 budget and early slippage in the 2020/21 budgets have 

been accounted for, then an adjusted budget of £40.9M is required in 2020/21. Table 4 below 

breaks down the carry forwards and slippage against the main budget headings. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 54



  

 

  

 

Table 4: Movements & Re-Profiling of Capital Budgets 2020/21 

 

 

  

The £15.25M slippage against Estates projects shown in the table above relates to the new 

HQ Police Learning Centre, whose practical completion in now scheduled for early 2022, and 

the Fire Arms range.  

The table below illustrates capital expenditure for the first quarter of the year, along with the 

full-year forecast shown against the adjusted budget of £40.9M. 

 

Table 5 – Revised Capital Budgets 2020/21 

 

 

 

Capital Programme Monitoring Report
2020/21 Period 3

Table 1

 2020/21 

MTFS Budget 

 Carry 

fwd/adj 

 Capital 

Reserves 

 2020/21 

Departmental 

In Year 

Revenue 

Contributions 

 Slippage 

(reprofile into 

21/22) 

 Adjusted 

Budget 20/21 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Estates - Infrastructure Development 1,500 201 0 0 0 1,701

Fleet - Replacement 2,064 273 0 775 0 3,112

Information Services - Infrastructure Development 1,950 1,179 56 224 0 3,409

Other - Infrastructure Development & Replacement 170 (160) 738 244 0 992

TOTAL INFRASTRUCTURE DEVELOPMENT & REPLACEMENT 5,684 1,493 794 1,243 0 9,214

Estates - Projects Total 41,705 745 56 33 (15,250) 27,289

ICT  Projects total 2,262 (1,820) 1,890 3 0 2,335

TOTAL  PROJECTS 43,967 (1,075) 1,946 36 (15,250) 29,624

 

Digital Services Division supported projects 1,474 311 300 0 0 2,085

TOTAL DSD PROJECTS SUPPORTED BY INTERNAL FUNDING 1,474 311 300 0 0 2,085

 

TOTAL CAPITAL PROGRAMME 51,125 729 3,040 1,279 (15,250) 40,923

Capital Programme Monitoring Report
2020/21 Period 3

Table 2

 Adjusted 

Budget 

 Spend to 

Date 

 Full Year 

Forecast 

 Full Year 

Variance 

£'000  £'000  £'000 £'000

Estates - Infrastructure Development 1,701 272 1,701 0

Fleet - Replacement 3,112 127 3,074 38

Information Services - Infrastructure Development 3,409 640 3,404 5

Other - Infrastructure Development & Replacement 992 88 983 9

TOTAL INFRASTRUCTURE DEVELOPMENT & REPLACEMENT 9,214 1,127 9,161 53

Estates - Projects Total 27,289 1,929 28,107 (818)

ICT  Projects total 2,335 203 1,503 832

TOTAL  PROJECTS 29,624 2,132 29,610 14

 

Digital Services Division supported projects 2,085 294 1,925 160

TOTAL DSD PROJECTS SUPPORTED BY INTERNAL FUNDING 2,085 294 1,925 160

 

TOTAL CAPITAL PROGRAMME 40,923 3,553 40,697 226

Page 55



  

 
 

  

 
 

Part C: Strategic & Longer-Term Financial Issues 

The current pandemic demands a concentration on the present, and so whilst the current 

financial year will require the careful planning and recording of the additional costs 

associated with COVID-19 in order to balance the books, there are longer term issues that 

will soon need to be factored into financial strategies as we approach the autumn planning 

and budgeting period. Also, this year will see the publication of the Government’s 

Comprehensive Spending Review, due in the autumn, for the three year period 2021/22 to 

2023/24. The strategic issues that need to be considered in the Spending Review include, 

but are not limited to, the following: 

Apprenticeship Levy 
 
The implications of this, as they affect the current year’s finances, were outlined in the 

section above. By way of background, the introduction of the new Policing Education 

Qualifications Framework has created a funding inequality between Wales and 

England. Whilst all forces in Wales pay the apprenticeship levy of 0.5% of payroll costs 

(£2M per annum, currently but this will rise as more Police Officers are recruited under 

the Uplift programme), we do not get access to funds for the police constable degree 

apprenticeships as Forces do in England. This was resolved between Welsh 

Government and the Home Office in 2018/19, and the Home Office paid £1M in 2019/20 

at the end of the year, and committed to providing a further £1M in 2020/21. However, 

the total levy payments plus running costs are forecast to be £5M in 2020/21, and after 

allowing for the Home Office contribution, there will still be a £4M deficit across the four 

Forces. We were told that the long-term resolution would come through the 

Comprehensive Spending Review and so we await the outcome of this. In the absence 

of increased funding, the annual deficits will grow in line with the increases in Police 

Officer numbers. 

Protecting Baseline Budgets 

Whilst the Government has pledged to restore Police Officer numbers to approximate 

the pre-austerity levels and make the initial salaries funding available, there is no 

guarantee that funding will be made available for inflation and pay awards for existing 

staff. These, together with other unavoidable cost pressures, amount to £12M per 

annum for South Wales Police, and this will increase as staff numbers increase under 

Uplift. Neither has there been any guarantee from the Government to fund future salary 

increases for the new Officers. 

Council Tax Receipts 

The police precept which is the one area of local flexibility is also anticipated to be affected 

by the economic consequences of COVID-19. The Ministry of Housing, Communities and 

Local Government is seeking to mitigate this consequence across England with the inherent 

difficulty of different regions being impacted differently. Wales will need a separate solution. 

 

A modelling exercise has recently been undertaken and the WLGA has surveyed the Unitary 

Authorities in Wales who are anticipating a significant reduction in the council tax collection 

rates of between 0.7% and 2.6%.  

 

Using the current year’s Medium Term Financial Strategy, the impact falls into three 

categories for South Wales Police: 

Page 56



  

 

  

 

 The anticipated tax base growth will not happen. The impact on income could be up 

to £4.1M. 

 

 The collection rate deficits will result in a lower tax base and the impact of this 

depending on the reduction is between £2.8M and £10.6M, using the WLGA data. 

 

 The amount of yield on precept increases will reduce depending upon the collection 

deficits and police precept increases. 

Capital City Funding 

Unlike the other capital cities in the UK, the Police formula funding does not include an 

allowance for Cardiff. To illustrate, the Home Office is funding the Metropolitan Police to the 

tune of £185M in 2020/21, plus the City of London Police which is receiving £4.8M, 

specifically for policing London as a capital city. This is the case for Edinburgh also. Our 

analysis shows that the additional costs associated with policing Cardiff as a capital city are 

approximately £4M per annum. 

Pensions Grant 

There is a significant black hole in the Police Pension Scheme. It is an unfunded ‘pay as you 

go’ scheme, the deficit on which is partly funded by the Home Office in baseline allocations 

and part by a Treasury grant. The grant element received by South Wales Police is £3.2M. 

Since this amount is not baselined into core allocations, there remains uncertainty year-on-

year that it will continue to be provided.  

Continuation of Existing National Programmes 

The Government has ceased to operate the Police Transformation Fund (PTF). This was an 

important strategic funding pot and there are a number of projects that are in progress and 

have historically been funded by the PTF. It is essential that these programmes receive the 

funding they require to take them to completion. The most significant financially is the 

Emergency Services Network, but there are key preventative programmes whose continued 

funding is at risk because of this decision. 

Expectations of Further Efficiency Savings & Productivity Gains 

It would appear that the Treasury will expect further efficiency savings and productivity gains 

to be made over the period of the Spending Review as a condition of future funding 

settlements. South Wales Police has made almost £60M of cumulative savings over the past 

eight years, and with Police Officer numbers now protected with Operation Uplift, there are 

limited areas from which to achieve further efficiency savings. Further savings from 

collaboration will be the focus of exercise, if required by the Home Office and Treasury. 

Other Considerations 

Other issues, whose outcomes are uncertain at present, but could have an impact upon 

Police finances in 2021/22 and beyond, include: 

 Long term implications of COVID-19, including Council Tax collection issues 

 Trade deal with the EU  

 Potential severe economic downturn   

 Potential rise in interest rates  
 

Page 57



  

 
 

  

 
 

Undoubtedly some, if not all, of these will have implications across the whole public sector in 

Wales, which will be a challenge for all.  

 

 

 

Peter Curran, Treasurer to the South Wales Police & Crime Commissioner 

August 2020 

 

 

Page 58



 
  

Tony Porter 
Surveillance Camera Commissioner 
2 Marsham Street 
London SW1P 4DF 
 
Date: 19 May 2020 
 

By email 

 

To: Mark Shephard – Bridgend County Borough Council 

      Paul Orders – City and County Cardiff Council 

      Ellis Cooper – Merthyr County Borough Council 

      Chris Bradshaw – Rhondda Cynon Taff County Borough Council   

      Phillip Roberts – Swansea City Council 

      Rob Thomas – Vale of Glamorgan County Borough Council 

 

CC: Leaders of Councils 

       Strategic Governance Board CCTV 

 

Dear Chief Executive 

 

Re: CCTV collaboration project in South Wales between local authorities and the police  

 

I hope you are well and managing as best you can in these challenging and uncertain times. I 

understand from the South Wales Police and Crime Commissioner that you have kindly agreed to 

participate in a collaborative project across all seven local authorities in the South Wales Police 

area to seek an optimum and long-term solution for investment in CCTV coverage. I really 

welcome this innovative and forward-thinking approach which I am sure will prove successful and 

help keep your communities safe. 

 

If deployed correctly surveillance cameras can play an important role in protecting our communities 

rather than spying on them. As you will know, state surveillance cameras systems such as CCTV 

are typically operated by local authorities with the police as partner. The vast majority of footage 

from local authority CCTV is ultimately used by the police in investigations – from minor offences to 

the most serious of crimes. As well as this, many local authorities work closely with forces when 

they are responding to live incidents, for example directing officers on the ground.   

 

You will also know that the Surveillance Camera Code of Practice, which I oversee, sets the 

standard that the Government expects state owned overt surveillance cameras systems to be 

operated at. As a relevant authority under the Protection of Freedoms Act 2012, local authorities 

must pay due regard to that code. 

 

As an operator of surveillance cameras, you need to be able to demonstrate to the communities 

you monitor that you are using surveillance cameras proportionately, effectively and efficiently. In 

order for a local authority to do this, they need to rely on feedback and partnerships with their 

police forces. Without that it is difficult to evidence and justify why funds are being spent on such a 

service – in other words, there needs to be collaboration, which is what you are planning on doing 

with South Wales Police. 

 

Over the six years I have been Surveillance Camera Commissioner, I have seen some local 

authorities turn off or reduce service in terms of town centre CCTV systems. In some cases this 

has been due to the cost of running a non-statutory service in austere circumstances. In fact in 

Dyfed Powys we have seen the complete closedown of local authority CCTV services and then the 
Page 59

Agenda Item 7



full re-instatement of CCTV services, but with significant cost as all the infrastructure had been 

removed only a few years earlier. Sadly, in others it has been because the relationships between 

local authorities and the police have deteriorated to a level where the local authority is unable to 

justifiably demonstrate the value CCTV has to offer. Where surveillance cameras are being used 

effectively from my experience, this has been due to good working relationship and partnerships 

being developed and put in place. So, I fully endorse the work that is underway in South Wales to 

nurture partnership working between local authorities and the police.  

 

The benefits of such an approach are clear – better siting of cameras, updating out of date 

systems by investing in the latest technology leading to more cost effective systems in the long-

term, working to agreed and consistent standards, putting in place feedback mechanisms around 

the effectiveness of surveillance and transparently demonstrate to communities how CCTV has 

protected them by publishing regular statistics. These all benefit local authorities, policing and the 

communities you serve. 

 

Modern technology creates a new imperative. Powerful cameras linked to algorithms (facial 

recognition, voice recognition, gait recognition technology and so on) provide new and diverse 

opportunities for civil leaders to protect and support their public. Proper and strong governance, 

policy and protocols for use of this new capability are necessary to ensure a balance between 

privacy and security. What is inevitable is that all these new systems are linked to video 

surveillance technology. Old analogue CCTV networks have had their day. New cities, smart cities 

and smart towns will provide effective use of resources, effective resource deployment and cost 

benefit to the tax payer. This is surely best supported in collaboration between organisations and 

local authority partners.  There is not just work going on here in the UK for smart cities but all over 

the world and these all have CCTV capability at their core.   

 

Through the leadership of South Wales Police Assistant Chief Constable Jenny Gilmer and Tony 

Gleason (Chair of the Public CCTV Managers Association, and representative of the Local 

Government Authority) and as part of my National Surveillance Camera Strategy for England and 

Wales, we have been developing a framework Service Level Agreement (SLA) to be used by the 

police and local authorities – a key deliverable of the strategy. Ensuring there are proper, robust 

and efficient agreements in place are extremely important and this is precisely what the framework 

document will do by helping to develop better partnership working that help local authorities and 

police forces work more effectively in your roles.  

 

The SLA framework will set the standard for this type of collaboration across England and Wales 

and something I will be asking all Chief Executives and Chief Officers to sign up to. I ask that 

through the work in South Wales that you use the framework to develop your own service level 

agreements – you will be pioneering in this approach and shape how agreements are developed 

across all local authorities and policing. 

 

Properly funded and managed local authority CCTV systems are an essential tool for the 

prevention and detection of crime and public safety. Robust partnerships can help put in place 

measures that mean local authorities and the police can effectively evidence the value of that 

CCTV to the communities that they are serving. 

 

Yours sincerely 

 
Surveillance Camera Commissioner England & Wales 

Email: scc@sccommissioner.gov.uk 

Page 60

mailto:scc@sccommissioner.gov.uk
mailto:scc@sccommissioner.gov.uk


  

 

 

  

1 

 

 

REPORT OF THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER 

TITLE:  Police and Crime Commissioner for South Wales’ Annual Report 

DATE:  15th September 2020 

PURPOSE: For Noting 
 

1. RECOMMENDATION 

That the Police and Crime Panel considers and responds to the attached 

Annual Report for the financial year 2019/20 as required by the Police Reform 

and Social Responsibility Act 2011. 

 

2. INTRODUCTION & BACKGROUND 

The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 (Section 12) must 

produce and present an annual report for the Police and Crime Panel.The 

attached report highlights progress in 2019-20 towards delivering the priorities 

in the Police & Crime Plan 2018-21 and following the panel will be published 

on the Police and Crime Commissioners website.  

3. ISSUES FOR CONSIDERATION 

The financial challenge faced by South Wales Police remains significant and 

yet we have continued to deliver social and economic benefit to South Wales 

in recent years; this has only been achieved through our determination to focus 

on early intervention and prompt, positive action, working with partners to be 

ever more effective. The tail end of this report was also the start of the COVID-

19 period. We will reflect upon the crisis in full when it is time to publish my 

annual report for the next financial year. In the meantime, I must emphasise 

that my commitment to the communities of South Wales remains unwavering 

even in the face of this unprecedented crisis. 

During 2019/2020, we have continued to focus on vulnerability by delivering 

the Drive programme in Cardiff and Cwm Taf, as well as launching the Joint 

Violence Against Women and Girls Strategy (2019 - 2024) in conjunction with 

South Wales Police and partners. The Drive programme challenges the 

behaviour of high risk, high harm perpetrators of domestic violence and abuse 

to reduce victimisation and reoffending. 

In October 2019 we launched the Joint Violence Against Women and Girls 

Strategy (2019 - 2024) to much acclaim.The launch was attended by Deputy 

First Minister Jane Hutt, who praised the commitment of South Wales Police, 

my team and Welsh Government to achieving sustainable change by taking a 

Public Health approach to this issue. Informed by the lived experiences of 

survivors, the strategy sets out the principles that underpin our desire to work 

in close partnership towards the eradication of all forms of violence and abuse 

against women and girls. 

Page 61

Agenda Item 8



  

 

 

  

2 

 

 

The further roll out of the Drive programme and launch of the Violence Against 

Women and Girls Strategy are further examples of our commitment to early 

intervention and prevention, as already demonstrated by our work around 

Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE's) and traumainformed practises in 

previous years. Writing in The Times in September 2019, Chief Inspector of 

Constabulary Tom Windsor challenged police forces across England and 

Wales to do more to prevent crime and disorder. South Wales Police was the 

only Force named for good work in this area, which was said to be 'paying rich 

dividends, not only in saving police time, but much more importantly in 

the reduction in human suffering and the waste of human potential'. The 

comments are a ringing endorsement of our approach as leaders in this field. 

4. NEXT STEPS 

The Police and Crime Panel are required to note and comment, the report will 

then be published on the Police and Crime Commissioners website. 

  

5. FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS 

There are financial implications to the delivery of the police and crime plan 

which are fully articulated within the Medium Term Financial Plan which has 

also been discussed at the panel. 

6. PERSONNEL CONSIDERATIONS 

The majority of the Policing and Crime Budget covers Police Officer and Police 

Staff salaries and employer’s contributions.  The plan takes account of the 

pressure on the budget and drive the efficient and effective use of the budget 

in a planned and timely manner. The annual report reflects these challenges. 

7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Producing the annual report particularly in the light of: 

(i) any report or recommendations made by the police and crime panel; and 

(ii) any changes in the strategic policing requirement  

(iii) statutory responsibilities of the Commissioner under the Police Reform and 

Social Responsibilities Act 2011. 

 

8. EQUALITIES  AND HUMAN RIGHTS CONSIDERATIONS 

This proposal has been considered against the general duty to promote 

equality, as stipulated under the Strategic Equality Plan and has been 

assessed not to discriminate against any particular group.  

 

In preparing this report, consideration has been given to the requirements of 

the Articles contained in the European Convention on Human Rights and the 

Human Rights Act 1998. 

 

9. RISK 

A timely decision will minimise the risk to the compliance with the Police 

Page 62



  

 

  

3 

 

Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011. 

10. PUBLIC INTEREST 

This report will be placed on the website of both the Commissioner and the 

Police and Crime Panel. 

11. CONTACT OFFICER 

Lee Jones, Chief Executive to the Police and Crime Commissioner for South 

Wales. 

12. ANNEXES 

The Annexe to this report is a copy of the Annual report for noting.  

 

 

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank



Annual
Report

South Wales Police and 
Crime Commissioner

S U M M A R Y  O F  O U R  I M P A C T

2019
/20

Page 65



S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
&

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

2

Contents

Page 66



2

Introduction

During 2019/2020, we have continued to focus on 
vulnerability by delivering the Drive programme in Cardiff 
and Cwm Taf, as well as launching the Joint Violence 
Against Women and Girls Strategy (2019 - 2024) in 
conjunction with South Wales Police and partners. The Drive 
programme challenges the behaviour of high risk, high harm 
perpetrators of domestic violence and abuse to reduce 
victimisation and reoffending. The dramatic findings of the 
independent evaluation by Bristol University show that the 
Drive programme has significantly reduced levels of harm; 
with physical abuse reduced by 82%, sexual abuse reduced 
by 88%, harassment and stalking behaviours reduced 75%, 
and the risk to victims reduced by 82%. These findings have 
proved the value of the Drive programme in tackling the 
type of violence and abuse that has been the scourge of our 
society for too long. These stunning results not only benefit 
the victims, their families and the wider community, but are 

I am pleased to introduce my annual 
report for the financial year 2019/2020, 
which summarises the work my team 
and I have undertaken during what has 
been an extraordinary twelve months. 
For another year we have benefitted 
from the strong operational leadership of 
Chief Constable Matt Jukes and his team 
of Chief Officers, whilst my team and I 
continue to provide healthy challenge 
and support as a 'critical friend' to the 
Force; as well as leadership on early 
intervention, prevention and partnership 
working. I am also pleased to announce 
that this year, my team has achieved 
'Investors in People' accreditation.

S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
&

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

Page 67



3

I N T R O D U C T I O N

also of clear financial benefit of the police and partners – 
particularly the NHS - as we break the cycle of harm. Though 
central funding for the programme ran out in March 2020, 
we are not prepared to abandon this valuable service. I will 
therefore fund the programme beyond March 2020 and will 
also expand the programme to other parts of South Wales.

In October 2019 we launched the Joint Violence Against 
Women and Girls Strategy (2019 - 2024) to much acclaim. 
The launch was attended by Deputy First Minister Jane 
Hutt, who praised the commitment of South Wales Police, 
my team and Welsh Government to achieving sustainable 
change by taking a Public Health approach to this issue. 
Informed by the lived experiences of survivors, the strategy 
sets out the principles that underpin our desire to work in 
close partnership towards the eradication of all forms of 
violence and abuse against women and girls. The strategy 
adopts the tried and tested Public Health approach to 
tackling violence and abuse by understanding root causes 
and identifying opportunities to intervene early so that such 
violence and abuse is prevented in the first place.

The further roll out of the Drive programme and launch of 
the Violence Against Women and Girls Strategy are further 
examples of our commitment to early intervention and 
prevention, as already demonstrated by our work around 
Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE's) and trauma-
informed practises in previous years. Writing in The Times 
in September 2019, Chief Inspector of Constabulary Tom 
Winsor challenged police forces across England and 
Wales to do more to prevent crime and disorder. South 
Wales Police was the only Force named for good work in 
this area, which was said to be 'paying rich dividends, not 
only in saving police time, but much more importantly in 
the reduction in human suffering and the waste of human 
potential'. The comments are a ringing endorsement of our 
approach as leaders in this field.

As we entered 2020, we struggled with the aftermath of the 
General Election called in Dec 2019. This December election 
had a direct implication on the announcement of the police 
funding settlement, which is typically made in December. 

Instead the announcement was made in January and as a 
result, my team worked with against a tremendously difficult 
time constraint in order to consult the public and make a 
precept recommendation to the Police and Crime Panel by 
the legal deadline of the end January.

The unprecedented nature of 2020 continued as the 
Coronavirus pandemic descended upon the UK in March 
2020. As the financial year drew to an end, we found 
ourselves in lockdown as we came together to 'stay home, 
protect the NHS, and save lives'. I am heartened by the 
immediate co-operation between Welsh Government, 
Local Government, the Criminal Justice System, the 
four Welsh Chief Constables and four Welsh Police and 
Crime Commissioners to navigate these extraordinary 
circumstances. We will reflect upon the crisis in full when it is 
time to publish my annual report for the next financial year. In 
the meantime, I must emphasise that my commitment to the 
communities of South Wales remains unwavering even in the 
face of this unprecedented foe.

I am enormously proud of the way that the Police Officers, 
PCSOs and staff of South Wales Police worked tirelessly to 
take our communities with us in following the rules set out 
clearly by Welsh Government. It has been a brilliant example 
of the police being a part of the communities they serve – 
enforcing when necessary but in the first instance providing 
local leadership. At the time of writing, people are still 
dying of the Coronavirus, while people are also desperate 
to get their lives back to normal, to travel, and to spend 
time with friends and family. Nevertheless, our plea has 
to be for a continuation of care, community solidarity and                
mutual respect.

Rt Hon Alun Michael  
South Wales Police & Crime Commissioner

S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
&

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

Page 68



S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
&

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

4

Mental Health & 
Substance Misuse

Early Intervention

VAWG Services

Crime & Community Safety

Victims Services

Funding 
of Services
(£13m)

£13m

30%

15%

12%

8%

35%

Page 69



Progress 
against Police 
& Crime Plan 
2019-23
This section highlights 
progress in 2019-20 
towards delivering the 
priorities in my Police & 
Crime Plan 2019-23

Page 70



6

The ‘Help Point’ continues to be delivered in Swansea 
in partnership with St Johns Ambulance, Health Boards, 
Welsh Ambulance Service Trust and Universities. To date 
approximately 90 people are treated at the Help Point 
each month, with only 13% of attendees needing further 
treatment at the Emergency Department. In 2019/20 the 
Commissioner contributed £57,500 to the cost of the Help 
Point and evaluation of the service has demonstrated a 
benefit of roughly £65,000 to policing and £650,000 to the 
local NHS – but the contribution through student volunteers 
and the St John’s Ambulance team feeds an ethos of shared 
endeavour that is priceless.

We will reduce and prevent crime and anti-social behaviour to  
keep people safe and confident in their homes and communities

Priority 1

Together with the Force, we have continued to be tough on 
crime and the causes of crime, identifying the underlying 
issues and tackling them through early intervention and 
prompt, positive action based on evidence, partnership and 
evaluation of ‘what works’

We continue to promote and develop our successful 
‘#DrinkLessEnjoyMore’ campaign, adapting messaging 
and imagery to ensure it remains relevant to audiences and 
evolves to encompass related cultural issues such as ‘pre-
loading’ and more recently, issues associated with drinking 
in the home. However, the core focus of the campaign 
remains on the Night Time Economy (NTE) and highlighting 
that those that have drunk excessive levels of alcohol will be 
denied entry into premises, whilst also encouraging groups 
to look after each other to reduce instances of vulnerability. 
Activity linked to the campaign remains most apparent 
around key events in the calendar such as major sporting 
events, Varsity, Halloween and Christmas.

S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
&

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

Page 71



7

P R I O R I T Y  1

The Wales Violence       
Prevention Unit

The Wales Violence Prevention Unit has been established by 
the Police & Crime Commissioners and Chief Constables in 
Wales, working with Public Health Wales and supported by 
targeted money from the Home Office awarded in August 
2019 as part of a £35m fund to establish a specialist Violence 
Reduction Unit to tackle violent crime in their area. A total of 
£880,888 was awarded to South Wales, of which £419,793 
was subsequently awarded to 11 organisations to help fund 
projects aimed at reducing violence.
The core team comprises members from police forces, the 
Police and Crime Commissioner, Public Health Wales, Her 
Majesty’s Prison and Probation Service (HMPPS), Home 
Office Immigration and the voluntary sector.

The Unit is committed to taking a public health approach to 
violence prevention. This approach challenges the notion 
that violence is inevitable and instead shows violence can 
be predicted and prevented like any other health problem. 
It seeks evidence to understand the causes of violence 
and what works to prevent it. The team use this evidence 
to develop interventions focused on these root causes, 
before evaluating these interventions and scaling up 
effective projects and programmes through a whole systems 
approach to violence prevention.

To achieve its mission, the Unit defined its immediate top 
10 priorities as:

1.  To complete a landscape map to understand the 
nature, scope, opportunities, risks and overlaps 
of violence prevention work in place and planned               
in Wales.

2. To co-produce work with communities and those with 
lived experience of violence in Wales.

3. To produce a three-year Violence Prevention Strategy 
for Wales, which builds on and supports the work of 
partners and capitalises on the unique Welsh policy 
landscape and the innovative work that has been 
developed on adverse childhood experiences and 
trauma informed policing.

4. To implement, evaluate, and, where appropriate, scale 
up interventions that prevent violence in Wales.

5. To develop and upscale the South Wales Violence 
Surveillance System across Wales utilising multi-agency 
data to ensure there is a holistic picture of violence.

6. To create a multi-agency hub of expertise on violence 
prevention with the right people from the right 
organisations empowered to deliver the work of          
the Unit.

7. To establish an effective communications 
strategy that supports violence prevention and 
communicates the Unit’s approach to its national and                    
international partners.

8. To conduct and share research which contributes 
to the global evidence base on violence prevention 
which assesses the costs and consequences of 
violence and the benefits of investing in violence                     
prevention activities.

9. To develop a system-wide response to violence 
prevention in Wales by establishing effective 
governance of all violence prevention activities across 
our partnership, demonstrating a system leadership 
approach to ensure all interventions are coordinated, 
efficient and effective.

10. To develop and implement an evaluation framework for 
all activity linked to violence prevention initiated by the 
Unit and by its partners in Wales.

In its first year the Violence Prevention Unit worked with 
service providers in South Wales to deliver evidence-
informed programmes to prevent violence.

The programmes include:

The NHS Violence Prevention Team 

The NHS Violence Prevention Team’s work focuses on 
delivering advice, support and guidance to patients of any 
age who have experienced violence with injury, with the aim 
of engaging with those injured whilst they are in hospital to 
help break the cycle of violence at the point of crisis.

Early Intervention and Prevention,               
St Giles Trust 

Timely interventions at a “teachable moment” are delivered 
by two dedicated St Giles Early Intervention and Prevention 
Workers across Cardiff and Swansea when a young person 

S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
&

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

Page 72



8

P R I O R I T Y  1

is most likely to engage with intensive, tailored support. 
There are also opportunities to support families of young 
people who have been identified at risk of being drawn 
into crime where appropriate.

Fearless, Crimestoppers UK 

Dedicated Fearless caseworkers deliver workshop sessions 
to young people in identified serious violence hotspot 
areas in Cardiff and Swansea. These interactive sessions 
cover key issues such as child criminal exploitation, drug 
running and knife crime. The team also deliver training 
sessions professionals to better equip them in identifying 
and responding to signs and disclosures from the young 
people they work with.

Parallel Lives Programme, Media   
Academy Cymru 

The four week Parallel Lives programme involves sessions 
focused on communication, emotional literacy, positive 
parenting, cognitive functioning, active listening and 
creative writing. The programme provides referral to 
specialist services where unmet needs are identified.

The Wales Violence                         
Prevention Conference 

The Wales Violence Prevention Unit officially launched at 
the Wales Violence Prevention Conference in March 2020, 
which brought together over 150 experts from across 
Wales for a day of learning, sharing and innovation to              
prevent violence.

The event showcased a number of interventions delivered, 
commissioned or supported by the Unit already taking 
place in Wales to prevent violence. Delegates had 
the opportunity to participate in workshops to help 
define their role in violence prevention and provide 
valuable input into the Wales Violence Prevention Unit           
response strategy.

Young people also attended the Conference and took 
part in dedicated workshops facilitated by youth workers 
and members of the Unit to support coproduction and 
ensure that the voices of young people are heard in the 
development and implementation of programmes.

During 2019/20 we appointed a new Policy & Partnerships 
Officer with responsibility for supporting all Community 
Safety Partnership related activity. Sitting within the 
Criminal Justice Portfolio team, the Policy & Partnerships 
Officer has developed professional working relationships 
with Community Safety strategic leads across each local 
authority within the South Wales region. This role sits 
within a wider partnership team, enabling policy areas 
to work together to ensure a joined up approach to 
commissioning and delivering services.

A forward work plan has been developed and 
implemented outlining the approach to supporting 
and engaging with Community Safety Partnerships, 
covering the following priority areas:

• Monitoring the Commissioning activity covering 
each Community Safety Partnership, through 
which the Police and Crime Commissioner has 
consistently provided a substantial financial 
contribution. Commissioning activity enables 
effective monitoring of each Community Safety 
Partnership’s three year Strategic Plan, and 
subsequent Action Plans.

•  Identifying opportunities, where possible 
and necessary, to align Community Safety 
Partnership priorities and any supporting activity, 
to the priorities outlined within the Police and            
Crime Plan.

• Continuing to provide support, guidance and 
resource to Community Safety partners, which 
enables them to ensure they are demonstrating 
due regard to their duties under the Crime & 
Disorder Act.

• Monitoring the performance of Community Safety 
Partnership activity, to ensure that any financial 
contributions made by the Police and Crime 
Commissioner supports the delivery of an efficient 
and effective service for the communities each 
partnership serves. Consequently, the Police and 
Crime Commissioner is able to confidently provide 
public reassurance that the activity of collaborative 
partnership structures will provide safe and 
cohesive communities across South Wales.

• Continuing to assess the wider partnership 
landscape across the South Wales 
region so to understand the individual 
contributions of Community Safety and wider 
partner organisations, as well as identify 
further opportunities to enhance local                  
partnership working.

• Ensuring effective links are maintained with 
colleagues within the Police and Crime 
Commissioner’s team, to ensure there is a 
coherent and joined up working approach across 
all policy and strategy areas.

Page 73



S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
&

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

9

P R I O R I T Y  1

Community Safety  
Partnerships

The Police and Crime Commissioner continues 
to provide annual financial contributions to 
Community Safety Partnerships across the South 
Wales region. The Commissioner’s contributions are 
fundamental to supporting collaborations between 
public and third sector Partnerships (in discharging 
their duties under the Crime & Disorder Act). 
Annual financial aid through the Police and Crime 
Commissioner (enables/facilitates) a coordinated 
approach to achieve the priorities and action plans 
outlined in individual Community Safety Partnership’s                           
three-year Strategies.

Two particularly noteworthy examples of good practice 
across the Community Safety landscape include:

1. The implementation of the Anti-Social Behaviour 
(ASB) case review process – All Community Safety 
Partnerships have embedded an accessible and 
transparent process, which allows victims of ASB to 
request a formal review of their complaint if they feel 
that the action taken was inadequate. The financial 
contributions and additional support provided by 
the Police and Crime Commissioner has supported 
the efforts made by Community Safety Partnerships 
to embed the ASB Case Review scheme in all local 
authority areas. Embedding the case review process 
demonstrated effective collaboration between 
agencies, improved information sharing practices, and 
increased efforts to prevent ASB re-offending. In one 
local authority, the Community Safety Partnership’s 
ASB team has recorded an 80% reduction of ASB                   
re-offending since the implementation of the case 
review process. With the ongoing support from the 
Police and Crime Commissioner, this is now a consistent 
approach used across all local authorities within the 
South Wales region.

2. Embedding the Multi-Agency Risk Assessment 
Conference (MARAC) process – Community Safety 
Partnerships across South Wales continue to support 
the MARAC process in collaboration with public 
and third sector partners. The Police and Crime 
Commissioner has supported Community Safety 
Partners to ensure the MARAC process is available to all 
high-risk and vulnerable victims of domestic abuse. In 
one local area, 252 high-risk victims received support 
through the MARAC process, within the reporting 
period. With the support of partners and of the Police 
and Crime Commissioner, the MARAC process is 
firmly embedded within each local authority area, and 
continues to provide wrap around support for high-risk 
victims of domestic abuse.

The Policy and Partnerships Officer has also undertaken 
a brief assessment to understand the commissioning 
landscape of Community Safety Partnerships, and 
their ongoing activities. Further collaborative working 
practices, as well as ongoing engagement and support 
with Community Safety Partnerships will seek to outline 
where and how funding from the Police and Crime 
Commissioner has supported activity, thus enabling public 
reassurance practices. Each Community Safety Partnership 
receives a financial contribution from the Police and Crime 
Commissioner that is proportionate to their geographical 
scope, in addition to the scale of concerns identified as 
‘Community Safety’ issues within their Strategies:Page 74



S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
&

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

10

Community Safety      
Partnership Strategic 
Planning, Commissioning,                           
and Annual Reporting

Strategic Planning 

Community Safety Partnerships have a duty to create a 
three-year strategy outlining the commitments, priorities and 
actions to be taken collaboratively through the partnership 
structure. Community Safety Partners across the region 
are currently reviewing their strategies. Support is being 
provided through the Policy & Partnerships Officer to 
review the crime data and supporting information available, 
and revise their forward action plans. We are working 
with partners to ensure that where possible, the priorities 
outlined within Community Safety Strategies are aligned to 
those within the Police and Crime Plan.

Commissioning 

Monitoring commissioning activity remains a priority for the 
Policy & Partnerships Officer. A full assessment has been 
undertaken on previous commissioning activity and a full 
briefing has been created outlining the commissioning 
activity for each Community Safety Partnership. This 
is further mapped against other funding sources in 
addition to that of the Police and Crime Commissioner. 
To increase the effectiveness of our commissioning 
approach, work continues to develop a co-ordinated 
Commissioning Framework that will enable alignment of 
commissioning activity across the portfolio areas within the    
Commissioner’s team.

Annual Reporting 

Annual reports are provided through the commissioning 
process. Improving the reporting process will be a priority 
for the Policy & Partnerships Officer in order to maximise the 
success of Community Safety Partnerships resulting from the 
Commissioner’s contributions.

Safer Streets Funding Submission 

Colleagues within the Police and Crime Commissioner’s 
Office have supported South Wales Police to submit a set 
of proposals to the Home Office Safer Streets fund. The 
Safer Streets project requires each Police force to identify 
geographical areas covering one or more lower super 
output areas (LSOA), within in which there are specific 
concerns surrounding acquisitive crime or burglary.

The Safer Streets fund requires an enhanced assessment 
(Environmental Visual Audit) of a given geographical area. 
Three Environmental Visual Audits were submitted, with 
each requesting amounts of up to £500,000, within three 
of the Basic Command Unit areas. South Wales Police and 
the Police and Crime Commissioner’s Office submitted 
all three applications in order of primary, secondary and 
tertiary. Ongoing support was provided to force leads 
responsible for coordinating the Visual Audits for each area, 
and on Friday 3rd April 2020, three Safer Streets funding 
applications were provided, in the following area of priority:

1. PRIMARY Northern  (Merthyr Town Centre)

2. SECONDARY Western (First Street, Swansea)

3. TERTIARY Eastern  (Cathays, Cardiff)

P R I O R I T Y  1

FINANCIAL ALLOCATION BY AREA AMOUNT %

SAFER CARDIFF £149,000 25.4%

SAFER SWANSEA £120,500 20.6%

SAFER RCT £82,300 14.1%

SAFER NPT £59,700 10.2%

SAFER VALE £56,500 9.6%

SAFER BRIDGEND £56,100 9.6%

SAFER MERTHYR £41,200 7.0%

TOTAL 2019/20 £585,900 -

WLGA – WELSH SAFER COMMUNITIES £15,000 -

The table above highlights the financial contribution given to 
each Community Safety Partnership by local authority area 
and also the Welsh Local Government Association (WLGA) 
Safer Communities project in 2019/20. A percentage figure 
is also highlighted, which indicates the proportion of Police 
and Crime Commissioners funding in relation to the overall 

cost of the partnership structure. Other funding allocations 
are provided through core budget contributions, Welsh 
Government, Supporting People programme, as well 
other needs-led funding bodies. A full breakdown of the 
total allocation and spend for each partnership has been 
produced and shared within the Criminal Justice team.

Page 75



11

P R I O R I T Y  1

Communication with 
Community Safety Partnerships 
during Covid-19 Lockdown

During the Coronavirus outbreak lockdown period, which 
began in 2019/20, ongoing communication has been 
maintained with each Community Safety Partnership 
Strategic Lead. Daily communications have been established 
by colleagues within the Police and Crime Commissioners 
Office in order to distribute data and information to 
support Community Safety Partnerships through the               
lockdown period.

Some of the main concerns expressed by Partnership Leads 
include accommodation for the homeless, support and 
refuge for domestic violence victims, and the impact of the 
early release from prison scheme on the wider community. A 
wealth of information and data continues to be shared with 
partners on a day to day basis and includes a breakdown 
of crime data by local authority area per crime type; 
daily refuge space availability data across Wales; police 
responses to Covid-19; as well as news articles and media 
campaigns. Positive feedback continues to be provided by 
Community Safety Leads, and the process of providing daily 
communication has enhanced the relationship between 
Community Safety representatives and the team within the 
Police and Crime Commissioner’s Office.

Since the Police & Partnerships Officer has come in to post, 
engagement with each Community Safety Partnership Lead 
has taken place. Efforts to understand the Community Safety 
Partnership landscape across South Wales continue, and 
this is achieved by engaging partners, reviewing three-year 
Strategies, and assessing annual commissioning activities.

Since the Covid-19 outbreak, daily partnership engagement 
has continued in order to ensure Community Safety Leads 
are aware of the support that is available through the Police 
and Crime Commissioners Office. Partnership working has, 
and will continue to, enable Community Safety Partnerships 
fulfil their duties under the Crime & Disorder Act.

Furthermore, the Policy and Partnerships Officer continues 
to identify opportunities to share information, and facilitate 
collaboration between Community Safety Partnerships 
and the various portfolio areas within the Police and Crime 
Commissioner’s Office.

Moving forward, the proposed priorities for 
working with Community Safety Partnerships for                  
2020/21, include:

1. Finalise a high-level briefing outlining Community 
Safety Partnership commissioning activity over a 
three-year period. This will highlight the impact of 
the financial contributions made by the Police and 
Crime Commissioner within the scope of each                      
three-year strategy.

2. Finalise a high-level briefing outlining the detail of 
Community Safety Partnership reporting activity 
over a three-year period, in order to understand 
how the each Partnership has achieved progress 
against their respective priorities.

3. Streamline the reporting requirement for 
Community Safety Partnerships to enable a 
clearer understanding of the impact of the 
Commissioner’s annual financial contributions.

4. Develop and implement a commissioning 
framework, which can be used to distribute the 
Commissioner’s financial contributions in a more 
coherent way. A commissioning framework will 
introduce a commissioning and reporting model 
(for both Community Safety Partnerships and 
Youth Offending Teams), that is consistent with 
priorities and subsequent actions that cut across 
portfolio areas covered by the Police and Crime 
Plan.

5. Identify opportunities to ensure the Home Office 
Safer Streets projects operate under the existing 
Community Safety governance arrangements 
in the respective Basic Command Unit areas. 
Decisions on structural and accountability 
considerations will be made pending decisions 
for funding allocations made by the Home Office.

Page 76



S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
&

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

12

P R I O R I T Y  1

6. Continue to work with the Chief Inspector for Local 
Policing and Assurance to re-visit the work previously 
undertaken on the development of a coordinated 
Partnership Strategy. Building on this approach will 
seek to ensure a more clear approach between South 
Wales Police and Police and Crime Commissioner’s 
collaborative efforts to achieve effective partnership 
working with the wider public sector landscape.

7. Evaluate the effectiveness of the daily communication 
efforts used during the Covid-19 lockdown period, 
and identify any learning to inform future engagement 
and communication in response to specific              
community concerns.

8. Identify any further opportunities to work with South 
Wales Police colleagues on any collaborative working 
and joint funding activities on new and innovative areas. 
For example, to capitalise on current proposals to apply 
for funding through the Gambling Commission, in order 
to work with those affected by gambling addiction.

9. Continue to identify opportunities to cross-reference 
and align a range of priorities across sectors, particularly 
between Community Safety Partnerships, Public Service 
Boards and individual portfolio areas within the Police 
and Crime Commissioner’s remit.

10. Identify opportunities to develop understanding in 
new areas of research within the Criminal Justice team, 
which will encourage cross—portfolio development 
work in new and relevant priority areas. For example, 
some scoping work is currently taking place within the 
Criminal Justice team to understand the prevalence 
and needs of females aged 18-25 within the Criminal   
Justice system.

Page 77



S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
&

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

13

Engagement

Engaging with communities across South Wales is an 
important aspect of the Commissioner’s role, as it helps 
to provide a richer picture of local concerns and enables 
the Commissioner to better undertake his duty to hold the 
force to account on behalf of the public. Our Engagement 
Strategy sets out our commitment to delivering meaningful 
engagement and the methods in which we will do this.

To give residents the opportunity to speak directly to the 
Commissioner and his team, we organise and attend a 
variety of engagement activities during the year. In 2019/20 
this has included:

Community Walkabouts 

The aim of a community walkabout is for the Commissioner 
to meet local residents and discuss crime and community 
safety concerns. These may include problems with anti-
social behaviour or concerns about crime in the local area. 
Community walkabouts provide the Commissioner with an 
opportunity to understand how issues have impacted on 
communities and how residents feel the operational policing 
response has been managed.

We will involve and empower our communities, working with partners in local 
government, health, fire and Welsh Government to deliver services that people need

Priority 2

During the course of the year, the Commissioner met with 
residents and businesses in Pontypridd and Maesteg in 
response to increased incidents of anti-social behaviour, 
and spoke to community members in Butetown (Cardiff) 
following a number of reported knife crime incidents.

Feedback captured during the walkabouts included 
concerns in relation to a lack of police visibility, general 
deterioration in behaviour around town centres and visible 
consumption of drugs and alcohol in daylight hours. The 
majority of residents who spoke to the Commissioner were 
positive about South Wales Police and said that they felt the 
police did a “good job” in responding to incidents and felt 
“happy” with the service they had received.

Following each walkabout, the Commissioner met with 
the local neighbourhood policing team to discuss the 
feedback captured from residents and escalate any issues   
as appropriate.

Feedback gathered from each walkabout also informs the 
policy and project activity of the Commissioner’s team.

Page 78



S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
&

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

14

P R I O R I T Y  2

Community events 

The Commissioner and his team attended a number 
of community events throughout the year. These 
events provided excellent opportunities for us to 
inform communities about the role and work of the     
Commissioner, whilst also encouraging residents to         
share their feedback with us.

Between June and September 2019, we attended events 
such as the Cardiff Multicultural Mela, Emergency Services 
family fun days across South Wales, the Shirenewton Family 
Open Day and the All Wales People First Adfest. At these 
events, the team engaged with approximately 2,000 
individuals including adults, children, victims and survivors.

Conversations with communities have enabled us to develop 
a better understanding of the issues faced by diverse 
communities and their experiences and perceptions of the 
police, as well as informing our scrutiny and oversight of 
South Wales Police, helping to shape the development of 
our policy and project work. 

Examples of some of the feedback received include:
"

"

There needs to be 
more money into 
early intervention 
otherwise all the 
issues will never 
be resolved.

I think it's really 
positive that knife 
crime sessions are run 
in my son's school, it's 
really important that 
there's investment to 
raise awareness to 
children about this.

We definitely 
feel knife crime 
is increasing. 
Someone was 
recently stabbed 
outside our house.

There is a gang of young 
people who congregate at 
the end of a street where I 
live to deal drugs. People 
seem more complacent these 
days about dealing drugs - 
they don't even try to hide 
what they are doing. 

I am concerned about 
the world our children 
and grandchildren will 
grow up in as knife 
crime increases. My 
grandson has said 
that he knows people 
in school who carry 
knives on them.

Page 79



S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
&

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

15

P R I O R I T Y  2

Policing Priorities 

The Commissioner regularly refreshes the Police and Crime 
Plan and reviews policing priorities to ensure they reflect 
the policing issues that are of most concern to the public. 
In advance of the Commissioner reviewing his priorities for 
2020/21, we engaged with the public throughout the year 
to seek feedback from community members about their 
policing and safety concerns.

The top 3 community safety concerns highlighted to us 
through these activities included knife crime, drugs and   
anti-social behaviour.

Police Precept 

The police precept is the amount that people contribute 
towards policing as part of their council tax payment and is 
vital to policing. The Commissioner is responsible for both 
setting the police precept for South Wales and allocating 
the police budget for South Wales Police in consultation 
with the Chief Constable. Consulting with the public and 
understanding their views is a critical part of the process 
before the Commissioner makes his formal precept 
recommendation to the South Wales Police & Crime Panel.

The 2020/21 Precept Consultation was launched on 
Monday 4th November 2019, running for a period of five 
weeks. To complement the survey, a leaflet around the 
police precept entitled ‘what you need to know’, was 
made available to enable residents to give more informed 
responses when completing the survey.

To help ensure that the survey was widely accessible, it was 
undertaken both online and via face-to-face engagement 
events within communities. An easy read version of the 
survey was also produced and shared with disability 
organisations to increase participation from people with 
learning disabilities.

Highlights of the survey results are illustrated below:

The information obtained through the police precept 
consultation informed the decision making process of the 
Commissioner when making his recommendation for the 
2020/21 precept. The proposal was made and accepted 

by the Police & Crime Panel on the 30th January 2020, 
with the consultation findings presented at the meeting. A 
detailed report of the survey responses is outlined in our 
‘Consultation Summary Report’ (hyperlink).

1073

926

741

residents participated in the survey who were aged 
18 or over and were living in the South Wales area

participants (86.3%) 
completed the survey online

participants (12.1%) completed the 
survey face-to-face with members of 

the Commissioner's team

The vast majority of residents (94.0%) said they 
were aware that they contributed towards the 
police precept as part of their council tax.  
Only 6.0% were not aware

residents (73%) were willing to 
pay more per month towards 
their council tax to support 
policing in South Wales

506 residents were willing to pay 
£2 more per month

145 residents were willing to pay 
£150 more per month

90 residents were willing to pay 
£100 more per month

participants (1.6%) completed an 
Easy Read version of the survey

130
17

Page 80



16

Victim Engagement 

Victims are at the heart of all we do and improving service 
provision to them is a key priority for the Commissioner 
centred around ensuring that their voices are heard and we 
learn from the lived experience of those impacted by crime 
and anti-social behaviour.

As part of the Commissioner’s scrutiny and oversight of 
South Wales Police, there is a scheduled programme of 
intrusive reviews focused on different aspects of the police 
service. During 2019/20, our scrutiny topics included hate 
crime, stalking & harassment and victim satisfaction. To 
ensure victim experiences remain at the heart of our scrutiny 
process, we have worked with local service providers to 
facilitate focus groups, individual meetings and online 
surveys with victim, which have subsequently informed 
recommendations for service improvement, as well enabling 
the identification of best practice.

Youth Engagement 

The Commissioner is committed to providing children and 
young people with opportunities to represent their views, 
particularly around policing issues that affect them and    
their communities.

During the course of the year, the team have been engaging 
with young people about the use of stop and search and 
their encounters with the police. The team facilitated three 
workshops in partnership with Race Equality First and Tiger 
Bay Boxing Club, in order to provide opportunities for young 
diverse people to share their experiences with us in a safe 
and open environment.

The aims of the workshops were for us to:

• Understand the views, experiences and perceptions 
of young people about the use of stop and search

• Educate young people about their stop and  
search rights

• Provide young people with the opportunity to share 
any issues or concerns about police practices

Feedback gathered from these workshops is forming part 
of a wider piece of research that we are progressing in 
relation to community perceptions and experiences of stop 
and search across South Wales. This research is scheduled 
to conclude at the end of 2020, at which point findings 
and recommendations will be discussed with South Wales   
Police before being published.

P R I O R I T Y  2

S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
&

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

Page 81



S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
&

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

17

Tackling Violence against 
Women & Girls

Violence against Women and Girls, Domestic abuse and 
Sexual Violence is devastating and often results in a lifetime 
of adversity for victims, their families and communities. It 
does not discriminate – it affects people from all walks of life 
and the impact can be severe and long-lasting.

During 2019-2020 there were 35,687 reported incidents of 
domestic abuse in South Wales. Of these, 23,443 incidents 
had a female victim, and of these incidents, 13,063 were 
recorded as crimes. In addition, there were 2,697 reported 
incidents of stalking, of which 2,137 had a female victim. 
Though demand on the services is already extremely 
high, we are mindful that there is still a significant level of 
under-reporting, meaning these figures are just the tip of                
the iceberg.

A key focus for us during 2019/20 has been continuing 
to improve partnership working to help shape support 
services, enable systems change and inform decision 
making, as well as raise awareness and understanding. 

There are a number of particular achievements which 
recognise these efforts:

• The launch of the ‘Tackling Violence Against Women and 
Girls a Joint Strategy 2019-2024’

• Our continued leading role nationally in areas such as 
DRIVE and IRIS which is helping to shape services, stemming 
from the innovative, consistent and coherent approaches 
that we have developed within our own force area.

We will work to protect the most vulnerable in our communities, understanding causes 
and taking prompt positive action as issues arise.

Priority 3

The ‘Tackling Violence Against Women and Girls: a Joint Strategy 
2019-2024’ document was developed jointly by the Police and 
Crime Commissioner, the Chief Constable and with partners. 
It was launched in October 2019, fully supported by Welsh 
Government and in particular by Deputy Minister Jane Hutt AM 
who spoke at the event. 

The strategy focuses on four key areas for action:

• Enhanced Collaboration 
Working together to deliver a whole system approach to 
preventing violence against women and girls in all its forms.

• Prevention and early intervention 
With partners focussing on the long-term impact of 
decisions and work to keep people safe, healthy and well.

Page 82

http://www.southwalescommissioner.org.uk/media/1396/2623-19-vawg-joint-strategy-eng.pdf
http://www.southwalescommissioner.org.uk/media/1396/2623-19-vawg-joint-strategy-eng.pdf


S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
&

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

18

P R I O R I T Y  3

• Safeguarding 
With emphasis on building existing safeguarding 
arrangements and seeking ways to  protect all victims, 
wherever they may be.

• Perpetrators 
Increasing focus on the behaviour of the perpetrator 
(in parallel with supporting victims and survivors of 
violence and abuse) to better hold perpetrators to 
account for the consequences of their actions and offer 
opportunities to change their behaviour through a 
range of interventions.

To achieve against these priorities; but in particular 
to support the overall aim of ‘working to protect 
the most vulnerable in our communities’; we have 
continued a number of Violence against Women & Girls 
Transformation Funded Projects during 2019/20:

Red Umbrella – SWAN Project 

An innovative sex work outreach advocacy project set up 
in Swansea in 2018/19 to support street sex workers and 
parlour workers at risk of being a victim of crime (robbery, 
sexual violence, exploitation and trafficking); the service 
is provided jointly by Swansea Women’s Aid and Safer 
Wales who received £89,373 in 2019/20 for the delivery of          
the project.

Evidence illustrates that sex workers are more likely to be 
victims of crime but less likely to report, with subsequent 
impact on associated vulnerability. The project provides 
dedicated a Sex Work Liaison Police Officer, advocacy 
and an outreach team to provide advice and support to 
sex workers, including onward referrals, including exiting 
strategies. It increases confidence and builds relationships, 
which not only increases the likelihood of reporting should 
a worker finds themselves a victim of crime, but also 
increases the likelihood of intelligence reporting. We have 
also established a Sex Work Operational Team MARAC to 
coordinate multi-agency responses to safeguard sex workers 
considered to be vulnerable and in need of interventions to 
reduce risk and enhance safeguarding.

Change that Lasts 

This early intervention partnership model between 
Welsh Women’s Aid, Respect and the Police and Crime 
Commissioner, known as ‘Change that Lasts’, is focused 
on a fundamental strategic and operational change in the 
way agencies and communities respond to violence against 
women in Cardiff.

The model is unique in that it is being expanded from 
domestic abuse to incorporate all forms of VAWDASV (to 
reflect Welsh Policy and legislative context) and has been 
further developed to include a perpetrator strand to the 
work. It is strength based and needs lead, focussed around 
four distinct areas:

1. Community Ambassadors “Ask Me”

2. Trusted Professional

3. Specialist Support Services (Survivor strand)

4. Specialise services (Perpetrator strand)

In 2019/20, a total of £403,659 was awarded to Welsh 
Women’s Aid to deliver the model.

Family Interventions 

This pilot focuses on effective partnership working to 
reduce the risk of harm to children and adult victims, while 
acknowledging the complex nature of domestic abuse 
and the impact of coercive control. Often the victim is 
given the responsibility of keeping children safe without a 
conversation with the perpetrator having taken place, or any 
particular focus on them making changes. An evaluation of 
this programme of work is currently underway.Page 83



S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
&

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

19

P R I O R I T Y  3

Wales Audit Office: Strategy to                     
Action Workshop 

The Wales Audit Office co-facilitated a ritual dissent 
workshop which concentrated on the four areas for action 
from the ‘Tackling Violence Against Women and Girls: A 
Joint Strategy’ document:

1. Collaboration

2. Early identification / Prevention

3. Safeguarding

4. Responding to Perpetrators

The workshop brought together representatives from our 
partners to look at how we could adopt a public health 
approach to tackling violence against women & girls and 
adopt the five principles of working aligned to the Future 
Generations Act. The event was a well attended, generating 
a number of innovative ideas for progression in partnership, 
as well as providing a forum for the sharing of good practice. 
Further workshops are now being planned to encourage a 
wider, pan-Wales approach.

IRIS 

The IRIS initiative is now well established in the Cwm Taf 
Morgannwg and Cardiff & Vale University Health Board 
areas, who are now predominantly responsible for funding 
the initiative as part of their core business and are actively 
working towards a more sustainable approach to funding 
and the delivery of services. The number of referrals from 
health professionals in the Cwm Taf and Cardiff & Vale areas 
since 2015 exceeded 1000 and in 2019. The Commissioner 
extended funding to the Swansea Bay University Health 
Board to support establishment of IRIS in the area, where 
Calan DVS have been appointed as the third sector 
organisation to support delivery. This ensures that IRIS has 
coverage across every community within South Wales. 

Sexual Assault Referral Centre (SARCs) 

The provision of Sexual Assault Referral Centres (SARCs) 
has now been regionalised to better support victims of 
serious assault where specialist health and criminal justice 
intervention are required. The three SARCS in Cardiff, 
Swansea and Merthyr are part of a multi-agency approach to 
developing this critical service to support victims.

IRIS IN
ACTION

B E F O R E  I R I S A F T E R  I R I S

Cardiff & 
the Vale

2011 - 2014:

7 REFERRALS
RECEIVED

IRIS
Training 

delivered

2014 - 2019: 

OVER 1000
REFERRALS NOW 

RECEIVED

(Across Cardiff & the Vale and Cwm Taf)

Page 84



S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
&

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

20

Victim Services Funded by 
Ministry of Justice Grant

Court Independent Domestic Violence Advocates and 
Independent Sexual Violence Advocates (IDVA and ISVA) 
provision continues to be maintained within South Wales by 
Atal-Y-Fro, Bridgend Council, Safer Merthyr, Cardiff & Vale

UHB, Neath Port Talbot Council and New Pathways who 
received £111,757 from the Commissioner towards IDVA 
and ISVA services in 2019/20. A full outline of each of 
these provisions is outlined below:

Independent Domestic Violence Advisors 
(IDVA) Provision 

The Commissioner continues to support Independent 
Domestic Violence Advisor (IDVA) provision across South 
Wales through joint commissioning with several partner 
organisations; namely Atal-Y-Fro, Cardiff Council, Swansea 
Council, Safer Merthyr Tydfil and New Pathways. This 
ensures provision across our communities, including 
embedded IDVA provision within the courts in Merthyr Tydfil 
and Male Independent Domestic & Sexual Violence Advisors 
(IDSVA) in Cardiff.

Following the Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse 
and Sexual Violence (Wales) Act 2015, local authorities have 
a duty to improve the prevention, protection and support 
for people affected by violence against women, domestic 
abuse and sexual violence. Following the Act, the Welsh 
Government has set out in its national strategy an objective 
to provide victims “with access to holistic, appropriately 
resourced, high quality, needs led, strength based, gender 
responsive services across Wales.” It also states that 
“whilst it is important that this Strategy acknowledges and 
communicates the disproportionate experience of women 
and girls this does not negate violence and abuse directed 
towards men and boys or perpetrated by women.”

The IDVA’s offer specialist advocacy for victims accessing 
the weekly Specialist Domestic Violence Court by liaising 
with CPS, Witness Care, Witness Service, National Probation 
Service and Police colleagues. This role is represented at 
the Specialist Domestic Violence Court (SDVC) Operational 
Group meetings which monitors Crown Prosecution Service 
outcomes, police performance data and requirements/
developments under the Best Practice Framework.

Independent Sexual Violence Advocates 
(ISVA) Provision 

New Pathways continue to provide Independent Sexual 
Violence Advocates (ISVA) Services within the Vale of 
Glamorgan on behalf of Police & Crime Commissioner who, 
are able to provide specialist assistance and support to 
victims in the weeks and months after an assault.

The role of the ISVA is to provide practical and emotional 
support to recent and historic victims of sexual crimes, 
providing impartial advice on all options available to them to 
help make informed choices both throughout and beyond 
the Criminal Justice Process. If required, they can also help 
throughout the court process from start to finish – and we 
are working with our criminal justice partners to strengthen 
these support mechanisms.

The ISVA will keep the victim updated on developments 
and liaise with other agencies on their behalf. They will 
also advocate for the victim to ensure that the process 
is victim-focused and that they receive the best possible 
multi-agency response. To do this the ISVA will liaise with all 
relevant agencies including the police, Crown Prosecution 
Service, mental health Services, General Practitioners, 
housing or Social Security, dependent on the needs of the         
individual victim.

P R I O R I T Y  3

Page 85



S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
&

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

21

P R I O R I T Y  3

Survivors Empowering and Educating 
Services (SEEDs) 

The Survivors Empowering and Educating Services (SEEDs) 
group continues to respond to services, policy makers, 
media requests and campaigns regarding violence against 
women, domestic abuse and sexual violence issues to raise 
awareness, improve the response to victims/survivors, 
increase opportunities for prevention and influence and 
inform policy & practice. It provides the following:

• Better access to support and services

• Increased feeling of safety

• Improved health & wellbeing

Child Sexual Abuse (CSA) Counselling 

In 2019/20, New Pathways received £109,727 to 
provide a two tiered holistic approach to counselling 
victims of Child Sexual Abuse across the South Wales 
Police region:

• Children’s Therapy - Providing counselling for children 
and young people who have experienced childhood 
sexual abuse and child sexual exploitation. Different 
modalities of counselling are provided including art, 
music, drama and play therapy. They also provide 
support and advice for parents and carers who are        
in-directly affected by what has happened to their  
loved ones.

• Adult Counselling - Providing specialist counselling 
for any person who has experienced any form of sexual 
violence. This service is provided by adult counsellors 
and is also supported by volunteer counsellors. 
Specialist pre-trial therapy is provided for victims in 
need of counselling, providing additional support 
without causing evidential difficulties.

Page 86



S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
&

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

22

Tackling Perpetrators of Violence 
against Women & Girls

DRIVE 

DRIVE is an innovative domestic abuse perpetrator 
programme responding to high-harm perpetrators and 
focused on long-term solutions to reduce the number of 
child and adult victims, which was launched in the Cwm Taf 
area in April 2016. In November 2018, following the success 
of the pilot initiative, delivery of DRIVE was extended to the 
Cardiff Local Authority Area, through funding from a Police 
Transformation grant managed by the Mayor’s Office for 
Policing & Crime (MOPAC) in London. For 2019/20, Safer 
Merthyr Tydfil received a total of £686,168 to deliver DRIVE 
across Cardiff and Cwm Taf areas.

This funding ceased on the 31st March 2020 however, to 
ensure the continuation of delivery of this vital service, the 
Police and Crime Commissioner has not only agreed to 

We will work to make the local criminal justice system efficient and effective to meet 
the needs of victims and reduce re-offending.

Priority 4

fund this scheme for a further year but also expand it across 
the South Wales area to ensure that there is a consistent 
approach to supporting victims and addressing behaviour.

In January 2020, The University of Bristol published its 
findings of their national, independent three year evaluation 
of DRIVE, based on analysis of over 500 cases, which 
highlighted a significant reduction in abuse:

• Sexual abuse reduced by 88%

• Physical abuse reduced by 82%

• Harassment and stalking behaviours reduced by 75%

• Jealous and controlling behaviours reduced by 73%

Police data has shown there is a 30% reduction in Domestic 
Violence and Abuse incidents recorded for DRIVE service 
users compared to no change for control group perpetrators. 
For the duration of the intervention IDVAs (Independent 
Domestic Violence Advocates) reported the risk to the victim 
reduced in 82% of cases.

Page 87

http://driveproject.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/DriveYear3_UoBEvaluationReport_Final.pdf


23

P R I O R I T Y  4

Victims 

In 2019/20, services funded by the Commissioner 
have continued to help victims cope and recover 
from the effects of crime and ensure that the Criminal 
Justice System puts their needs first. The Ministry of 
Justice provides an annual grant to all Police & Crime 
Commissioners allowing them to decide how best to 
commission services that meet the needs of victims 
locally. Within our area the core service is called ‘South 
Wales Victim Focus’, delivered by Victim Support, 
which providing critical, free, confidential needs-led 
help and support to anyone affected by crime.

Victims are at the heart of all we do and are a key 
priority within the South Wales Police & Crime Plan:

• Funding and developing victim services that 
work for those most in need.

• Improving outcomes for victims and ensuring 
their voice is heard through increased use of       
restorative approaches.

• Understanding the experience of victims to 
influence service delivery.

South Wales Victim Focus 

Victim Support Cymru (VS) received £837,345 to 
deliver South Wales Victim Focus in 2019/20 as part 
of the Commissioner’s continuing commitment to 
meet the needs of victims and witnesses of crime in 
communities across South Wales. During 2019/20, 
total referrals amounted to 14,427 and out of these a 
total of 6,609 people accepted the offer of support. 
Where the need for specialist support was identified,  
a total of 103 onward referrals were made.

South Wales Victim Focus works alongside partner 
agencies across our communities to encourage closer 
partnership working between agencies through 
streamlined information sharing to provide a holistic 
service to victims in South Wales. Demand for the 
service continues to rise and this is due, in part, to the 
depth of work conducted by South Wales Victim Focus 
to engage with our communities, partner agencies, 
police and multi-disciplinary teams.

Restorative Justice 

Safer Wales are playing a lead role in developing a co-
designed restorative approach package that provides 
practitioners delivering the Women’s Pathfinder Whole 
System Approach service with a greater understanding of 
restorative approaches and how these can be incorporated 
into their work.

Further opportunities have been created for frontline 
practitioners whose delivery supports the Women’s 
Pathfinder to access restorative approaches training, 
for example staff working with women exploited                
through prostitution.

Community Foundation in Wales (CFiW) 

The Commissioner has an established annual ‘Victims Fund’, 
encouraging applications from voluntary and third sector 
organisations for funding towards specialist victims services. 
The Community Foundation in Wales (CFiW) have helped 
the Commissioner team in the delivery of the Fund since its 
introduction in 2016.

The CFiW have explicit responsibility and are liable for the 
management of the fund. It is their responsibility to exercise 
due diligence throughout grant process; from publicising 
the fund, collating applications, establishing the grants 
panel and monitoring the grants over the spend period. 
Ten grants were successful - five of which were small grants 
under £10k, another five of which were large grants of over 
£10K. The projects that were successful included:

• Support for victims of fraud (in particular the elderly) 
and individuals affected by this crime-type either 
directly or indirectly. The support provided seeks to 
improve health, wellbeing and quality of life of those 
affected, especially individuals at risk of suffering from 
isolation and loneliness.

• Training for Black Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) 
people affected by all forms of Violence Against 
Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence; 
including human trafficking and modern slavery,    
forced marriage, honour based abuse and female 
genital mutilation.

• A Psycho-educational group for adult survivors or sexual 
abuse, as well as a similar project for young people. 
Enabling support for 100 young people during a 12 
month period.

•  Training, employment and support for victims 
of human trafficking and modern slavery who 
are seeking to rebuild their lives and engage in                           
meaningful employment.

S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
&

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

Page 88



S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
&

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

24

P R I O R I T Y  4

What do we intend to do next?

• Continue to provide services that meet the needs 
of the most vulnerable victims of crime within South 
Wales

• Work closely with Restorative Justice Partners to 
further increase provision of RJ to victims of crime.

• Build upon the statutory rights of victims as set 
out in the Victims Code of Practice by looking to          
provide a voice to victims as much as possible within 
the region.

• Commission in line with best practice to ensure that 
a wider range of services are offered to victims in       
South Wales.

YOUTH OFFENDING AREA ALLOCATION DETAIL

Western Bay Early Intervention and Youth Justice Board £130,800 Swansea £63,100, Neath Port Talbot £35,800, Bridgend £31,900

Cwm Taf Youth Offending Service £99,300 RCT £64,400, Merthyr £34,900

Cardiff Youth Offending Service Management Board £78,700 -

Vale of Glamorgan Youth Offending Board £23,200 -

TOTAL 2019/20 £332,000

Criminal Justice 

The Criminal Justice Portfolio covers a broad spectrum of 
adult and youth justice services. The aim of the portfolio is 
to work with partners to ensure that local criminal justice 
services are efficient and effective at meeting the needs 
of victims and reducing re-offending across South Wales. 
This has also included a strengthening of the link between 
criminal justice and community safety to ensure that priorities 
are aligned in tackling the causes and consequences of 
criminal behaviour that have an impact within communities.

This portfolio has a number of key responsibilities    
which includes:

•  Working with criminal justice partners to successfully 
deliver the priorities within the Police and Crime Plan 
and to uphold the statutory responsibility of ensuring an 
efficient and effective criminal justice system.

• Contract and grant management for the delivery 
of the Commissioner’s criminal justice projects                         
and programmes.

• Monitoring youth offending performance and ensuring 
that the budget to which the Commissioner makes a 
significant contribution is being spent effectively.

• Maintaining strong and consistent relationships with 
colleagues within South Wales Police and partners 
to ensure a coherent approach to tackling offending 
and reoffending across South Wales Police area, 
and identifying opportunities to collaborate on new 
interventions.

• Ensuring that effective links are maintained with 
colleagues across the Commissioner’s team to 
ensure there is a coherent, joined up approach and 
consideration of policy and strategic developments 
within the criminal justice landscape.

Youth Justice Service 

The Police and Crime Commissioner continues to provide 
annual financial contributions to Youth Justice Services 
across the South Wales region. Youth Offending Teams (YOT) 
role is to challenge and tackle youth crime, to reduce the 
risk posed by young people and to encourage the making 
good of the harm done through restorative justice and other 
techniques. Annual financial aid through the Police and 
Crime Commissioner (enables/facilitates) a coordinated 
approach to achieve the priorities and action plans outlined 
in individual annual Youth Justice Business Plans.

The Commissioner’s contribution of £332,000 to Youth 
Offending in 2019/20 has helped the Partnerships to deliver 
early intervention and preventions services, diversionary 
activities, substance misuse services and services for victims 
of youth crime. They received the following contributions    
to service:

Page 89



25

The Strategic lead for Criminal Justice monitors the 
Commissioners contribution to delivery of youth justice 
through representation at YOT management boards, 
scrutinising performance and ensures the budget to which 
the Commissioner makes a significant contribution is being 
spent effectively. The management board provides the key 
role in the leadership, strategic direction and governance 
of a youth offending team ensuring that positive outcomes 
are achieved for children and young people. As part of the 
management board the Commissioner Office holds the YOT 
to account to ensure that it achieves the primary aim of the 
youth justice system, as set out in the Crime and Disorder Act 
1998; to prevent offending by children and young people.

StaySafe 

Funded by the Commissioner through Youth Offending 
contributions, StaySafe is a joint project with Cardiff Youth 
Offending Services and South Wales Police. It aims to reduce 
anti-social behaviour, safeguard children, reduce first time 
entrants to the criminal justice system, develop a vibrant and 
safe night time economy, assist people and communities 
to feel safe and reduce damaging alcohol and illegal 
drug consumption. The team work within the city centre 
(Saturdays between 3pm-9pm) and at anti-social behaviour 
hotpots across the city, as identified by the Police. There 
will be a move toward more community based interventions 
during 2020/21 and developing closer links with the 
missing persons and ThinkSafe exploitation teams.

P R I O R I T Y  4

Safer Together Through Sport 

South Wales Police and Crime Commissioner in partnership 
with national sport and anti-poverty charity StreetGames 
worked towards the delivery of the Safer Together Through 
Sport programme (Home Office – Police Transformation 
Funded project led by StreetGames UK) across South Wales.

 This project set our four main objectives:

• To advance the understanding and use of Sport as 
an effective means to tackle youth generated crime         
and ASB.

• To create guidelines for effective Early Intervention 
strategies through best practise assessment.

• To create a referral framework model that brings 
together the youth justice and community sport sectors.

• To support and influence smarter investment into youth 
& sport prevention activities.

As a means of launching this project South Wales PCC 
positioned StreetGames meaningfully into criminal justice 
engagements and in turn, elevated the positioning of sport 
as an effective tool to promote desistance in young people.

S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
&

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

Page 90



S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
&

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

26

P R I O R I T Y  4

Bringing together an ACE-lens and 
Enhanced Case Management in the    
Youth Justice System 

We have worked in partnership with the Youth Justice Board, 
Welsh Government, Public Health Wales, the South Wales 
youth offending teams (YOTs) and the Forensic Adolescent 
Consultation and Treatment Service, to trial a youth justice 
response to Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs). The 
project is built on the learning of ACEs and the initial test 
of Enhanced Case Management (ECM) through further 
implementation and evaluation of trauma-informed practice. 
This has involved bringing together the use of an ACE-lens to 
improve how we identify and respond to the needs of young 
people who are repeat offenders and the enhanced case 
management approach will be the response when a high 
prevalence of adverse childhood experiences, trauma and 
complexity is identified. This three-year programme of work 
commenced in 2017/18 and is currently being evaluated.

There are five key objectives which are:

1. Strengthen the ACE-lens in the assessment, planning 
and supervision of children

2. Improve the identification and response to ACEs and 
their impact on offending and other health harming 
behaviours

3. Increase the knowledge and skills of the workforce with 
regard to ACEs and ECM.

4. Develop and implement ECM as the response to 
children with a high prevalence of ACEs, trauma and 
complexity

5. Undertake an evaluation on the prevalence of ACEs in 
the youth justice cohort, assess how ACE identification 
can be incorporated into youth justice practice and the 
effectiveness ECM and related interventions.

An annual grant of £61,000 was awarded to this project 
(£55,000 Youth Justice Board, £6000 Public Health Wales 
for evaluation).

Women’s Pathfinder & 18-25 Early 
Intervention Service 

The Women’s Pathfinder Programme has been committed 
to improving outcomes through early intervention and 
coordinating necessary interventions to support long lasting 
change and build resilience. This has involved a multi-agency 
approach to build on existing practice and provision to 
enable women and their children have access to the services 
they need in their own communities. The Commissioner has 
committed funding for this scheme since 2015 and during 
the piloting phase (Cardiff and Cwm Taf) over 1500 women 
accessed early intervention support to enable them to 
address their needs and offending behaviour. In 2019/20, 
‘Include’ (formerly Gibran UK) and Safer Wales received 
£90,913 from the Police & Crime Commissioner to deliver 
the Women’s Pathfinder Diversion Scheme in the Cardiff and 
Cwm Taf areas.

A formal evaluation of the Women’s Pathfinder Diversion 
Scheme (University of South Wales) evidenced a 26% 
reduction in re-offending and found that the overall re-arrest 
rate in the pilot sites was around half that in the comparison 
sites (17.8% compared with 35%). The evaluation also 
identified significant cost savings on policing, in that for 
every £1 spent on the Diversion Scheme, a saving of £2.35 
is made. It is also recognised that a reduction in demand 
will also provide wider partner benefits and cost savings. 
This is demonstrated in the Women’s Pathfinder Journey 
Infographic on the next page:

Page 91



S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
&

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

27

P R I O R I T Y  4

Women's Pathfinder

Joanne is arrested 
for being drunk and 
disorderly (£1,227)

During a drunk and 
disorderly arrest 
Joanne punches 
a Police Officer: 
(£1,227)

Receives a 12 month 
Community Order: 

(£4,435)

During supervision Joanne 
discloses she's struggling 
financially and is in an 
abusive relationship

Joanne and Tom are referred to 
domestic abuse agency and placed 

on waiting list for refuge Tom is referred for 
initial assessment 
and monitoring 
by an educational 
Psychologist (£204)

Joanne is taken to A&E 
for injuries consistent 

with assault (£123)

Joanne is arrested for a 
shoplifting offence (£1,227)

At Court she receives 
a 3 month custodial 
sentence (£9,838)

T O T A L  C O S T 

£52, 373

Joanne loses her 
accommodation and 
Tom is placed into foster 
care (£31,000)

T O T A L  C O S T 

£8, 666

For every £1 
spent there is a 
cost saving of 

£2.35

Tom starts to be 
disruptive at school

Social services 
undertake a family 

assessment (£350)

Joanne is arrested for 
shoplifting and she 
is re-sentenced to a 
Suspended Sentence 
Order (£2,742)

Joanne is accepted onto 
the Women's Pathfinder 
Diversion Scheme 
delivered by a domestic 
abuse specialist (£108)

During the assessment Joanne 
discloses she's struggling 
financially and is in an abusive 
relationship. She admits this 
is impacting on caring for her 
child and she has been turning 
to alcohol to help her cope

Joanne and Tom placed 
on waiting list for 

refuge as a priority

Joanne's needs are 
considered at a 
multi agency case 
conference where 
appropriate support 
is identified and made 
available (£1800)

Joanne and 
Tom are placed 

in refuge for 3 
months (£4,750)

Tom starts to 
be disruptive 

at school

Social Services undertake a 
family assessment (£350)

Tom is referred for 
initial assessment 
and monitoring 
by an educational 
Psychologist (£204)

Joanne and Tom are 
placed on housing 

register for suitable 
accommodation (£477)

Joanne and Tom attend 
family support sessions 
(£1,250)

Receives a 
caution

J O
A

N
N E  &  H E R  S O N

 T O
M

Page 92



S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
&

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

28

Alongside this, the 18-25 Diversion Service has also been 
funded by the Commissioner since 2015. This scheme 
further demonstrated the benefits of intervening early by 
diverting young adults away from the criminal justice system 
and into interventions and support that was based on an 
assessed individual need. This approach further developed 
the understanding of offending committed by young adults, 
with the aim of using this learning to preventing further 
re-offending. In 2019/20, Media Academy Cardiff Ltd and 
Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council received a 
total of £161,876 to deliver the 18-25 diversion services 
from April to September 2019 when a new approach                    
was adopted.

Built on the learning from the two schemes, a 
Commissioning Partnership was formed between the 
South Wales Police and Crime Commissioner, Gwent 
Police and Crime Commissioner, Her Majesty’s Prison & 
Probation Service (HMPPS) in Wales and Welsh Government 
to commission the Women’s Pathfinder Whole System 
Approach Service Delivery Model and 18-25 Early 
Intervention Service jointly across South Wales and Gwent.

Consolidating delivery of both the Women’s Pathfinder and 
18-25 Diversion provides a more streamlined approach to 
custody based interventions, recognising the wider benefits 
that can be realised through providing tailored approach 
for women and young adults who come in contact with the 
Criminal Justice System. Future4, a consortium made up of 
G4S, Safer Wales, Include and Llamau are now delivering 
this service, which launched on the 1st October 2019 
and which received £342,835 from the Police & Crime 
Commissioner in 2019/20.

The contribution from the South Wales Police and Crime 
Commissioner for 2020/21 for this service is £683,572, 
with a total of £1.4 million committed by the commissioning 
partnership annually until 2021 (with potential additional 
year on year funding until 2023). This investment will 
enable the 18-25 Early Intervention service to offer voluntary 
support for those not eligible for Diversion (or an out of 
court disposal) and the Women’s Pathfinder becoming 
a much broader service providing a ‘Whole System 
Approach Service’ that supports women at each stage of the          
justice system.

P R I O R I T Y  4

Page 93



29

Children and Young 

People Strategy 

In 2019/20 the rights of children were put to the    

forefront as South Wales Police became one of the   

world’s first law enforcement agencies to adopt a 

Children’s Rights Charter.

The seven-point charter, detailing the rights of young 

people when coming into contact with the force, was 

launched on the 2nd March 2020 and sets out how the 

police in South Wales will always work on behalf of and 

in the best interests of young people, treating them with 

respect and in confidence. It refers to all contact young 

people have with the police, including if they have been a 

victim of crime or if they are accused of breaking the law.

Developed with help from secondary school pupils in 

Swansea and based on The United Nations Convention 

on the Rights of the Child, all officers, staff and volunteers 

are expected to abide by the charter whenever they come 

into contact with young people and it is the first of its kind 

to have been adopted by a police force in the UK.

Together with South Wales Police, we are in final stages 

of developing our first joint Children and Young People 

Strategy in which we recognise our duty to protect the 

public, prevent crime and create safe environments in 

which children are safeguarded from harm and supported 

to thrive. Our delivery of policing has a direct impact on 

our communities and we have a responsibility to get it 

right for the children and young people within them. How 

we deliver is as important as what we deliver and when it 

comes to services for children ‘good’ isn’t ‘good enough’.

The strategy outlines our priorities and provides the 

direction needed to improve the quality of policing for 

children and young people across south Wales. We 

will support children and young people to live crime 

free, positive and healthy lives, improving wellbeing and   

making communities safer. 

P R I O R I T Y  4

Our approach is underpinned  

by the following principles:

• Child Centred  

Every child has rights, whatever their ethnicity, gender, 

religion, language, abilities or any other status

• Partnership  

To deliver an effective policing service we need to 

work collaboratively. We recognise that positive action 

can be achieved through strong partnerships and        

shared outcomes

• Early intervention and prevention  

Early intervention and prevention is at the heart of 

our approach to keeping our communities safe and                       

tackling vulnerability

• Tackling demand  

Our work around children and young people will deliver 

a measurable and sustainable reduction in demand, 

both for policing but also for our partner agencies

• Engagement with children and young people  

As the voice of the people in policing, the 

Commissioner is committed to bringing our people, 

public and partners together, enabling and empowering 

them to play a full part in the planning, development and 

delivery of services

• ACE aware and trauma informed approach  

We will focused on preventing and minimising the 

impact of adverse childhood events, stopping inter-

generational problems and developing resilience to 

improve life chances

S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
&

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

Page 94



30

The policing of children and young people is challenging and 

“cross cuts” into nearly every area of our activity. Guided by 

the ‘National strategy for the Policing of Children and Young 

People’ and in order to focus the response of the police service 

to children and young people we must prioritise activity and 

ensure our approach is consistent and focused. This was taken 

into consideration when selecting the priority areas on which we 

would focus and we have involved the Children’s Commissioner 

for Wales in their development:

• Children and young people in police custody 

We must continue to ensure that young people enter 

custody for the right reasons at the right time and that we 

appropriately explore other options first

• Safeguarding and prevention of harm 

We will work to protect children and young people in our 

communities, understanding causes and taking prompt 

positive action as issues arise

• Youth offending and criminalisation 

We will avoid unnecessarily criminalising children and young 

people where we can, recognising the potential damaging 

impacts on them and society in the             longer term

• Children in care and care leavers 

We will work with partners to achieve the best possible 

outcomes for children in care and care leavers

• Engagement with children and young people 

We will involve and engage with children and young people, 

build their trust and confidence in us, and deliver a service 

appropriate to their needs

I am pleased that the 

Commissioner and Chief 

Constable have taken such 

a positive step forward 

to commit to the UN     

Convention on the Rights        

of the Child (UNCRC). 

It’s been a real pleasure to 

work with South Wales Police 

to explore the commitment to 

children’s rights and support 

meaningful participation with 

young people to develop a first 

for Wales – a police charter 

developed for young people 

by young people.

Sally Holland 

Children’s Commissioner for Wales

"

P R I O R I T Y  4

S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
&

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

Page 95



S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
&

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

31

Joint Offender Management Review 

We have recently jointly commissioned and completed a 
review into the approach to offender management being 
delivered across South Wales Police. 

As a result of the review, a number of recommendations 
were identified in relation to:

• Leadership/governance

• Resources

• Workforce development

• Cohort management/identification

• Information sharing and data  
management/performance

An Offender Management Partnership Programme Board has 
now been established to take forward the recommendations 
of the review, which will be joint chaired by the Deputy 
South Wales Police and Crime Commissioner and the 
Assistant Chief Constable for (with portfolio lead).

Youth Justice & Female  
Offending Blueprints 

In May 2019, the Ministry of Justice and Welsh Government 
jointly published the ‘Youth Justice and Female Offending 
Blueprints’ [inc graphic] which outline a number of key 
overarching workstreams and priorities for improving 
services for women and youths who come into contact with 
the Justice System in Wales.

The Youth Justice Blueprint aspires to:

• Develop a youth justice system which treats children 
with fairness and respect and helps them to build on 
their strengths and to make positive changes and 
choices in their lives.

• Support children to live crime free, positive and 
healthy lives, improving well-being and making        
communities safer.

• Reduce the number of children in the youth justice 
system through effective diversion and prevent 
offending by addressing the vulnerabilities that often 

P R I O R I T Y  4

lead to crime. Reduce re-offending and create safe 
environments in which children are protected from 
harm and supported to thrive.

• Deliver a bold ambitious approach with transformative, 
sustainable services that provide continuity of care 
throughout the system.

• Work with key stakeholders to strengthen the 
integrated partnership approach to the delivery of 
youth justice services which prioritises ‘child first’ and 
improves outcomes for children.

The Commissioner office will contribute to the overall 
delivery however, there has been agreement for the South 
Wales Police and Crime Commissioner to lead the Pre-Court 
Diversion workstream within the Youth Justice Blueprint.

Also, working alongside the Deputy Police and Crime 
Commissioner in her role as Senior Responsible Owner 
(SRO) for the Women in Justice Programme, the Criminal 
Justice Portfolio team will be supporting the delivery of the 
Female Offending Blueprint, including the Early Intervention 
and Prevention workstream.Page 96



S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
&

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

32

P R I O R I T Y  4

The Female Offending Blueprint aspires to:

• Support women to live crime free, positive 
and healthy lives, improving well-being and 
making communities safer.

• Reduce the number of women in the system 
by intervening earlier to keep them safe and 
address the vulnerabilities that often lead          
to crime.

• Deliver a bold ambitious approach with 
transformative, sustainable services that are 
distinct to Wales and locally-led, building on and 
learning from the successful Women’s Pathfinder Whole 
System Approach model.

• Create safe environments in which children and women 
are protected/guarded from harm and supported         
to thrive.

• Integrate services to offer targeted support for women, 
from start to finish, recognising the far-reaching, long-
term impact resulting from the imprisonment of women 
when there are more effective alternatives to tackle 
the causes of offending behaviour drawing on relevant 
research and data.

• Work with the Youth Justice Board and partners to 
share learning that can be adopted for girls under the 
age of 18 and work together to ensure continuity of 
interventions in respect of young women who transition 
into adult services.

• Set the standard for future work and cooperation 
between the Welsh Government, Ministry of Justice and 
partners, applying the principles here to adopting a 
similar approach to adult males at risk of offending.

A Framework to support positive change 
for those at risk of offending in Wales 

This Framework has been developed jointly by Welsh 
Government and Her Majesty’s Prison and Probation Service 
on behalf of the All Wales Criminal Justice Board of which 
the Police and Crime Commissioners is a member. The 
Framework will enhance the strong partnership working 
that exists in Wales between Welsh Government, Her 
Majesty’s Prison and Probation, Police Forces, Police and 
Crime Commissioners, criminal justice agencies in Wales 
and Third Sector Voluntary agencies. All partners have a 
responsibility to provide a service which is responsive to 
the needs of individual offenders. By engaging with this 
Framework, partners will collectively be able to provide a 
more diverse, holistic and evidence-based service which 
avoids duplication and targets shared priorities.

The annual cost of re-offending in the UK is estimated as 
between £7-10 Billion. The economic cost of crime helps 
to highlight the disruption offenders can cause to their 
communities. This and the need to safeguard communities 
from harm means an intensive level of multi-agency support 
and resource is required in order to effectively reduce theses 
negative consequences of crime.

The Commissioners office is committed to supporting the 
realisation of the framework and have actively contributed 
to its aim to provide support to any offenders who require 
it, not just in the priority areas, - at the right time, in the right 
place and the right way - to ensure positive outcomes are 
achieved in the long term not only for offenders but also 
those on the cusp of offending and their families.  

Our aspirations are to:

Develop a youth justice system which 

treats children with fairness and 

respect and helps them to build on their 

strengths and to make positive changes 

and choices in their lives.

Support children to live crime free, 

positive and healthy lives, improving 

well-being and making communities 

safer.

Reduce the number of children in the 

youth justice system through e�ective 

diversion and prevent o�ending by 

addressing the vulnerabilities that 

often lead to crime.

Reduce re-o�ending and create safe 

environments in which children are 

protected from harm and supported 

to thrive.

Deliver a bold ambitious approach with 

transformative, sustainable services 

that provide continuity of care 

throughout the system.

Work with key stakeholders to 

strengthen the integrated partnership 

approach to the delivery of youth 

justice services which prioritises ‘child 

first’ and improves outcomes for 

children.

Our guiding principles

The Youth Justice Blueprint for Wales 

sets out our vision for youth justice in 

Wales. It will:

Take a ‘children first’ approach to youth 

justice, ensure that it is child-centred 

rather than service focused, ensure that 

it meets the individual needs of children 

and responds to their best interests.

Take a trauma-informed approach 

throughout the various stages of the 

youth justice system, from prevention 

and early intervention to resettlement 

from custody, recognising and 

responding to ACEs and indicators of 

complex need.

Embed trauma-informed approaches into 

community and custodial practice to 

e�ect cultural and systemic change and 

deliver consistent approaches in 

meeting children’s needs.

Align devolved and non-devolved 

services through a shared vision, values 

and approach which underpins the 

design and delivery of services.

The Whole-system Approach will focus on:

Prevention: Targeted prevention activity in Wales should continue to be prioritised through dedicated funding. The intention is to prevent children from entering the 

criminal justice system, who may not yet have o�ended. We will explore options to:

• Align preventative services o�ered to children (including those targeted at reducing the number of looked after children, the prevention of school exclusions and 

homelessness) with a joint framework model and shared risk or intervention trigger factors to improve outcomes for children.

• Develop e�ective monitoring of prevention activity to demonstrate impact and to align reporting to Welsh Government, Youth Justice Board and Police and Crime       

Commissioners where possible.

Pre-Court diversion: Existing models and practice in pre-court diversion are a strength and should continue to be supported and funded because of their proven impact 

in reducing first time entrants. We will explore options to:

• Further develop diversionary practices and a more co-ordinated approach to establish consistent rights-based practice across Wales, including notification between 

the police and youth o�ending teams when community resolutions are issued.

Community: Children in the system can experience complex needs including a background of emotional trauma and ACEs. We will scope options to:

• Roll out a trauma-based approach in Wales, which is embedded as systematic practice, starting with the identification of and response to ACEs when children first 

come to the attention of police.

• Develop the Enhanced Case Management (ECM) approach nationally for complex and high-risk cases, a psychology led, multi-agency approach, enabling e�ective 

tailoring and sequencing of interventions, recognising the trauma and adverse events children have experienced.

• Align with the Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence (Wales) Act 2015, to benefit children who have become victims through experiencing or 

witnessing domestic abuse or sexual violence in their home environment and reduce the risk of perpetrating such o�ences.

• Support the youth justice sector with resources, training and qualifications to improve practitioner skills in recognising and responding to trauma.

Custody: There have been long-standing concerns about the distant placing of Welsh children away from their home area. We will explore options for:

• All Welsh-resident children being placed in secure accommodation in Wales and near to their home communities. This will include reciprocal arrangements with 

England so that cross-border arrangements are in place for individual cases on an exceptional basis.

• Trauma-informed secure provision, drawing on best practice in multi-agency working to develop a centre of excellence with delivery of mental health, health care 

education and training.

Resettlement and transitions: Resettlement is most e�ective when there is multi-disciplinary, collaborative working between agencies providing support in custody 

and the community. We will consider how:

• A ‘Constructive Resettlement’ approach can be adopted, so work with children is constructive, co-created, customised, consistent and co-ordinated.

• Resettlement practice can be broadened to encompass family-focused work to prepare the home environment for the child’s return; improving reintegration.

• Multi-agency responses to reintegration and resettlement can be further strengthened.

• Transition arrangements to adult criminal justice services other adult services such as mental health, substance misuse can be improved.

System oversight: E�ective delivery of youth justice services requires robust oversight and partnership arrangements. We will explore options for:

• A national trauma-informed approach for the delivery of youth justice services in Wales. This will require continued partnership arrangements between the UK 

Government and Welsh Government to enable the co-ordinated exercise of respective functions to deliver the Blueprint and embed new systems and arrangements.

• Strengthened partnership arrangements between the Welsh Government, Her Majesty’s Prison and Probation Service Wales, Youth Custody Service and the Youth 

Justice Board to enable the co-ordinated exercise of the respective functions to deliver the Blueprint and embed new systems and arrangements.

Youth 
Justice 
Blueprint 
for Wales

Preventing children from entering the criminal justice system, minimising their contact with it and maximising opportunities for diversion is essential in supporting them to lead crime free lives. 

The statutory aim of the youth justice system is to prevent o�ending by children. The Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 and the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

sets out requirements to ensure local services are provided to prevent children from o�ending and to promote their future welfare. Adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) can have a significant 

e�ect on mental well-being throughout life leading to negative outcomes such as involvement in crime.

Those with four or more ACEs are 15 times more likely to commit violence and 20 times more likely to be imprisoned. Policy is therefore focused on preventing and minimising the impact of ACEs, 

of stopping inter-generational problems and developing resilience to improve life chances. The Youth Justice Blueprint also recognises the commitment to the delivery of children’s rights in 

Wales. The whole-system approach described below takes account of the relevant articles of the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child in the design of youth justice services for 

Wales. It sets out the ambition for a rights-based and trauma-informed system, which will support services to deliver positive outcomes for children in Wales.

What success looks like:

The youth justice system has experienced significant reductions in first time entrants, and custodial populations. This Blueprint builds on this success. It aims to improve criminal and social outcomes for children in 

contact with the youth justice system and to support them to develop resilience and to fulfil their potential. It aligns with the principles and objectives of the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 by 

modifying services to improve outcomes for children, their families, victims and the wider community. Recognising and responding appropriately to the impact that trauma and ACEs have on children, will result in 

more e�ective responses, reduce the likelihood of perpetuating ACEs in successive generations and inter-generational criminal behaviour.

This whole-system approach is intended to ensure that children in, or at risk of entering the youth justice system will have access to services that act in their best interests, are non-discriminatory, encourage their 

active participation in decisions which a�ect them and ensure their access to rights and entitlements. The Blueprint sets out a commitment for realising how devolved and non-devolved services can work together 

to realise children’s rights and develop a youth justice system in Wales which is based on rights-based principles.

The implementation of the Youth Justice Blueprint will be overseen through a specialist programme under the oversight of the Wales Youth Justice Advisory Panel.

Our aspirations are to:
Support women to live crime free, positive and healthy lives, improving well-being and 
making communities safer.

Reduce the number of women in the system by intervening earlier to keep them safe 
and address the vulnerabilities that often lead to crime.
Deliver a bold ambitious approach with transformative, sustainable services that are 
distinct to Wales and locally-led, building on and learning from the successful 
Women’s Pathfinder Whole System Approach model.
Create safe environments in which children and women are protected/guarded from 
harm and supported to thrive.

Integrate services to o er targeted support for women, from start to finish, recognising 
the far-reaching, long-term impact resulting from the imprisonment of women when 
there are more e ective alternatives to tackle the causes of o ending behaviour 
drawing on relevant research and data.
Work with the Youth Justice Board and partners to share learning that can be adopted 
for girls under the age of 18 and work together to ensure continuity of interventions in 
respect of young women who transition into adult services.
Set the standard for future work and cooperation between the Welsh Government, 
Ministry of Justice and partners, applying the principles here to adopting a similar 
approach to adult males at risk of o ending.

The Whole-system Approach will focus on:
Early Intervention & Prevention In addition to working with partners to tackle root causes of crime:
• Diverting women, where appropriate, away from crime and into women-centred, community-based, sustainable
support services that meet their needs.
• Explore options for trauma-informed services which can best meet the needs of vulnerable women, and families,
a ected by Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) and at risk of entering the system, learning from the Enhanced 
Case Management (ECM) approach.
Courts & sentencing Building confidence in alternatives to short-term custody and remand by:
• Working with courts & sentencers to build a clearer understanding of community services available to directly 
tackle causes of o ending.

• Training front-line professionals to recognise & respond to women and families experiencing trauma.Community-based solutions Supporting women, including those at risk of o ending, to engage with services in the 
community by:

• Exploring a range of options for secure, safe and reliable accommodation for women in Wales.• Developing women-focused services, including meaningful working relationships with a trusted key professional,
building strengths and recognising the trauma or adverse events women may have experienced, understanding and
addressing how this relates to their o ending behaviour.
• Embedding clear referral pathways and individualised, sequenced plans for vulnerable women in the community 
to provide interventions, by fully trained, skilled professionals in a timely manner.Custody and Resettlement Supporting women in custody and resettlement back into the community by:• Working with rehabilitative services to deliver e ective pre and post-release interventions in prisons where 

women from Wales are located.

• Establishing services to improve and maintain links with children and familiesResearch and Evaluation Further develop a Welsh evidence-base, with reference to existing national and 
international evidence of what works, to better understand the distinct needs and vulnerabilities of women who 
o end by:

• Evaluating the Women’s Pathfinder whole system approach to inform future design and delivery of services for 
women at risk of o ending;

• Working with the Early Action Together Policing and Partnership Programme to research impact of ACEs on 
women in Wales and how trauma-informed services can best meet the needs of vulnerable women and families.

Our guiding principles
A focus on Victims: together with seeing perpetrators brought to justice, Victims 
tell us they want to know this will never happen again. We are learning all the 
time about models of reducing reo ending. This evidence-based, innovative approach is guided by our desire to:
• Ensure fewer people are victims of crime
• Highlight that women who o end are often victims themselves – as outlined in 
the Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse, Sexual Violence (Wales) Act 2015• Understand the ripple-e ect of crime in creating victims outside those directly 
involved

Welsh Government’s well-being objectives and cross-cutting priorities in the national strategy Prosperity for All, maximise the contribution of partners to the 
well-being goals.

A Public Health approach applying the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) 
Act 2015 Sustainable Development principle of improving Economic, Social, Cultural, Environmental well-being using the five ways of working:
Long-term:
breaking intergenerational cycles of crime, creating a fairer society with more 
equal outcomes for all

Prevention:
safeguarding women and children, tackling root causes of o ending behaviour
 
Collaboration:
working together to deliver transformative services
Integration:
understanding the links across policy areas and how this approach can improve 
the social, economic, environmental and cultural well-being of our communities
 
Involving people:
Ensuring the right approach to delivering e ective services by involving those 
a ected (victims, women, children and communities)
Women-focussed, gender based and trauma-informed, responding to the specific, 
individualised needs of this diverse population (rather than as one homogeneous 
group) to reduce reo ending.

Female O�ending 
Blueprint 
for Wales

The minority of o enders in England and Wales are women, yet many of these women are 
victims of crime themselves, often having experienced physical or emotional abuse. 
Baroness Corston’s Report, Review of Women with Particular Vulnerabilities in the 
Criminal Justice System (2007) identified that women can present as extremely vulnerable 
with a range of complex needs that have been found to be distinct from the needs of men 
who commit crime. Involvement in the Criminal Justice System can have far-reaching and 
long-lasting e ects on the women themselves, their families and the communities in 
which they live. 

To achieve this, Welsh Government, UK Government and policing in Wales are working together with justice partners to develop Blueprints for delivery of Female O ending and Youth Justice services. This Blueprint for Female O ending sets out the ambition to accelerate the transformation of services to create a fairer, more equal society with better outcomes and justice for all. It will create sustainable community-based solutions to keep women and communities safe and free from criminal behaviour.

Sometimes people find themselves in a bad situation, life can spiral out of control. It’s good to give people a second chance because just one mistake can change your life

I need to be a more confident parent so it doesn’t have a knock-on impact on the children as well, they need help too

...just to be treated like a human being and you know, just listened to and have someone there for us

What success looks like
Achieving our ambitions to reduce crime, make communities safer and ease demand on services, such as policing and health, will make a lasting contribution to 

building the Wales we want: prosperous and secure, healthy and active, ambitious and learning, united and connected.Our shared success means children will have a better start in life, reducing the impact of adverse childhood experiences such as domestic abuse or having a 

mother in custody.

Women and children will live in a safe and secure home and as a result will be less likely to commit crime. Women will have the skills they need to look after 

themselves and their children, enabling them to live rewarding, fulfilled and positive lives within their communities.Our joined-up approach will result in better emotional, physical health and wellbeing, building positive, supportive relationships within families and 

strengthening our communities.

The All Wales Criminal Justice Board will oversee delivery of the Blueprint implementation plan through specialist programme and advisory groups commissioned by the All Wales Women in Justice Group, driving delivery at local levels through Local Criminal Justice Boards

Page 97



33

P R I O R I T Y  4

Priority areas of the framework are:

• Reduce the number of women in the criminal           
justice system

• Challenge domestic abuse perpetrators; hold 
them accountable for their actions and provide 
interventions and support to change their behaviour

• Improve provision for Ex-Armed Services  
Personnel (ex-ASP)

• Provide Support for Young Adults/Care Leavers

• Supporting Offenders’ Families  
following sentencing

• Black Asian and Minority Ethnic Groups

Out of Court Disposal scrutiny panel 

The South Wales Police and Crime Commissioners office has 
a well-established Out of Court Disposal (OoCD) scrutiny 
panel chaired by the Police and Crime Commissioner. 
Scrutiny panels are an important tool for ensuring that the 
police are held accountable for their use of OoCD, as well 
as providing assurance that difficult decisions to administer 
such disposals are justified. The findings of these panels 
have been an effective feedback mechanism to South 
Wales Police (for organisational learning and to individual 
officers for training or development needs) as well as 
identifying examples of good practice. The panels are made 
up of members from a number of partnerships, including;      
Police, Probation, members of the judiciary, Crown 
Prosecution Service, Victim Services and others. These 
partners provide constructive ‘critical friend’ challenge; 
amplifying the voices and concerns of the public.

The Commissioner’s office has also been working with local 
Youth Offending Teams to establish Youth Out of Court 
Disposal (OoCD) Scrutiny Panels. Like the Adult Scrutiny 
Panel, Youth Panels will look to bring greater transparency, 
consistency and accountability in the use of OoCD for Youths 
(10-17 year olds) in South Wales. The aim of these panels 
will also be to increase the understanding, confidence and 
trust in this method of case disposal and will also ensure that 
victims are at the heart of South Wales’ decision making in 
relation to OoCD’s.

S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
&

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

Page 98



S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
&

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

34

P R I O R I T Y  4

For those within the Criminal Justice System, 
there is a clear need to ensure that treatment for 
substance misuse is delivered to reduce the harm 
to the individual, but also to ensure the risks of 
further substance misuse related offending and the 
associated harm to victims and public is reduced.

The Dyfodol Service provides an effective, integrated 
approach to substance misuse treatment that 
supports every persons’ journey through the Criminal 
Justice System through a consortium of substance 
misuse providers. By jointly providing a resilient and 
effective treatment pathway, it delivers a critical 
service to often the most vulnerable and complex 
individuals, whose needs may not ordinarily be met 
through the standard NHS provision.

Dyfodol is a jointly commissioned substance misuse 
service between South Wales Police and Crime 
Commissioner, who invests £2m annually and Her 
Majesty’s Prison and Probation Service (HMPPS) 
providing effective assessment, psychosocial 
interventions and clinical treatment. Through a 
consortium of providers it aims to rehabilitate and 

support reduction in harmful alcohol and illicit 
substance misuse behaviour, for those who come into 
contact with the Criminal Justice System.

Dyfodol works with some of the most vulnerable in our 
communities, including those in prison. By providing 
prescriptions to those who would otherwise be waiting 
long periods of time, and taking prompt action to keep 
people stable on medication and in treatment, the 
service works to keep individuals and the public safe 
from harm. Many clients supported by Dyfodol will not 
only be perpetrators of crime but also victims, and as 
such a holistic assessment of each person’s needs 
and vulnerabilities are assessed by experienced key 
workers.

Dyfodol is an end-to-end service for the Criminal 
Justice System in South Wales; from community to 
custody, from custody to prison, and from prison back 
into the community. 

The following graphic illustrates some of the key 

results from 2019/20:

SUBSTANCE  
MISUSE

DYFODOL ACTIVITY HIGHLIGHTS

CUSTODY SUITE
16557 Contacts

12360 Active Engagements 
 2019/20

527 Referrals to   
 specialist services

Additional 380 Referrals to 
Dyfodol and 388 referrals to 
Future 4

PUBLIC SECTOR 
PRISONS
6351 Assessments

2004 taken on to   
 caseload

504 caseload March  
 2020

CLINICAL
534 on Opioid Substitute  
 Therapy at  
 March 2020

784 prison clinical   
 transfers Buvidal  
 introduced

COMMUNITY
2816 Referrals

1590 commenced on  
 caseload

238 notifications of new  
 statutory orders

795 on caseload  
 March 2020

KEY OUTCOMES
32% of men assessed are taken   
 on to Dyfodol caseload        
 in prison

962 prison leavers attended      
 a Dyfodol release   
 appointment

217 Statutory Order  
 Treatment completions

541 successful Community   
 treatment completions

85% of prison clinical transfers   
 attended Dyfodol   
 community    
 clinical services

Page 99



35

P R I O R I T Y  4

Police Custody Suites 

Dyfodol workers see each person who comes into 
Police Custody to assess substance misuse issues and 
vulnerabilities. They work with the police to identify 
those most suitable for drug testing, in line with the 
Drug Act 2005 requirements. They try to engage 
with all who come into Police custody, encouraging 
voluntary engagement in treatment and referring 
individuals with low-level substance misuse to other 
services. They link with forensic mental health teams 
and police public protection teams (for example) 
to manage the risk and needs of each individual, 
providing appropriate treatment to divert them from 
ongoing criminality.

Courts 

Dyfodol staff work with Probation Officers to provide 
all relevant information about substance misuse 
issues to sentencers and to enable appropriate drug 
treatment to be provided. Subsequently Dyfodol 
provides psycho-social interventions and opiate 
substitute therapy for those given a court order (Drug 
Rehabilitation Requirement) and provide support 
through their court order which is managed by the 
Probation Service.

Prisons 

In prison, Dyfodol delivers non-clinical substance 
misuse services in the four public-sector prisons 
in Wales and in HMP & YOI Parc. Staff meet with 
Prisoners to offer an opportunity to address substance 
misuse issues and receive harm reduction advice, 
including education and intervention groups for all 
those identified by Prison staff as involved in illicit 
use of psychoactive substances. If more significant 
engagement is needed, a Dyfodol caseworker is 
allocated to provide a full assessment and a care 
plan based on substance misuse, offending and other 
known risks. It is a pathway to recovery including 
treatment in prison and preparation for transition back 
into the community.

What do we intend to do next?

• Continue to improve service delivery taking a 
person centred approach

• Consider future opportunities in joint 
commissioning across wider partners and 
strategic areas to strengthen and promote 
working relationships

• Look at the co-occurring elements of mental 
health and substance misuse

• Use the data available to ensue any changes 
made to services are evidence based

• Provide information to partners to support 
collaboration and drive improvements

S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
&

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

Page 100



S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
&

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

36

South Wales Police is a key strategic force in the support 
of major events outside and inside its boundaries, making 
a significant contribution to policing major events. 
It is responsible for policing a number of significant 
demands, which include two professional football teams, 
the Six Nations matches and Autumn Internationals. 
The Commissioner routinely contributes to supporting 
the response to these requirements, liaising with key 
stakeholders and partners to ensure adequate support for 
the additional policing requirement.

During 2019/20 South Wales Police continued its 
deployment of Automated Facial Recognition (AFR) 
technology to bring offenders to justice quicker than 
ever and to help protect the most vulnerable in our 
communities. Deployments during the year included the 
Wales Airshow (Swansea), Six Nations & Summer World 
Cup Warm-up Matches (Cardiff) and at Winter Wonderland 
Christmas venues (Cardiff & Swansea). The Commissioner 
has continued to champion innovation whilst building 
confidence in how technology is used through scrutiny 
and governance arrangements, ensuring the integrity and 
legitimacy of its use. As well, as oversight by the Police & 
Crime Commissioner there has been continued scrutiny from 
the Biometrics Commissioner, the Information Commissioner                                                

We will make our wider contribution to policing through the strategic policing 
requirement, including successfully policing major events.

Priority 5

and the Surveillance Commissioner and by the Independent 
Ethics Committee (appointed jointly by the Commissioner 
and the Chief Constable).

Following Judicial Review in May 2019, by the High Court 
in London, the South Wales Police use of Facial Recognition 
Technology was deemed justified in an announcement 
made by the court in September 2019. The court refused the 
judicial review on all grounds, finding South Wales Police 
had followed the rules and their use of AFR was justified. The 
statement by the Commissioner on the findings of the review 
can be found on the Commissioner website here.

For more information relating to South Wales Police 
use of Facial Recognition, including deployments,           
please visit:

http://afr.south-wales.police.uk/

South Wales Police continues to lobby for Capital City 
funding, which costs South Wales Police £4 million annually 
to police the capital. Currently, funding is made available 
to both the London Metropolitan Police, who received 
£185.4 million in 2019/20 and the City of London Police 
who received £4.8 million. This is in recognition of the 
unique and additional demands of policing the capital city 

of the United Kingdom. No 
such allocation is provided in 
recognition of Cardiff’s status 
as the capital city of Wales 
and the associated events 
held there that draw resources 
from South Wales Police and its 
neighbouring forces.

Page 101

http://afr.south-wales.police.uk/


37

In 2019/20 there was a ‘flat cash’ grant to policing, with no 
allowance made for inflation or other cost pressures, which 
therefore equated to a further cut in real terms. Combined 
with the impacts of inflation and changing demand, this 
meant that we faced a continued budget gap. Increases in 
the police precept have made up the balance but despite 
this, the precept in South Wales for 2019/20 remained 
the second lowest of the four Welsh police forces. Despite 
the financial challenge we remain efficient and wherever 
possible, savings have been delivered through more 
effective use of fleet, property, supplies and services, rather 
than from reductions in police officer and PCSO numbers.

At the beginning of March 2020 the Home Office 
announced that South Wales Police would receive more than 
£273,000 to fund 331 Tasers, which was one of the largest 
grants to Forces in England and Wales. The additional 
availability of Taser is one part of the local strategy to 

We will spend your money wisely and support our people to provide the best possible 
policing in your community.

Priority 6

address the safety of officers and the public. Ensuring officers 
have appropriate protection is recognition of their vital role 
in standing between the public and harm, and their daily 
commitment to doing exactly that.

Whilst the renovation and upgrade of the main Headquarters 
building in Bridgend was completed during 2017, work 
to modernise the estate and ensure it is fit for purpose 
continues. The next phase of redevelopment is currently 
being progressed with the Commissioner continuing to 
monitor and scrutinise the modernisation programme 
through the Estates Board. In March 2020 a new home 
was opened bringing together four emergency services all 
under one roof in Llantwit Major, which was a first of its kind 
in Wales. South Wales Police, South Wales Fire & Rescue 
Service, Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust and HM 
Coastguard are now all operating from the former Llantwit 
Major Fire and Rescue Station.

S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
&

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

|
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

Page 102



S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
&

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

38

P R I O R I T Y  6

Statutory Responsibilities  
& Corporate Governance

Governance and Decision Making 

The governance arrangements are designed to ensure 
appropriate accountability and to assist effective leadership. 
The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 
created two “corporations sole” within each police force: 
the Commissioner and the Chief Constable. They each have 
separate roles set out in statute. The Commissioner must 
set a budget each year, including the Council Tax precept, 
and appoints the Chief Constable. The Commissioner 
has specific responsibilities for community safety and 
crime reduction, as well as a wider responsibility for the 
enhancement of the delivery of criminal justice locally. The 
Chief Constable is responsible for the control, direction 
and delivery of operational policing. The Commissioner’s 
Strategic Board is the main way in which the Commissioner 
is able to oversee force performance. It is chaired by the 
Commissioner and attended by the Chief Constable and 
his senior officers. Minutes of the Commissioner’s Strategic 
Board can be found here.

The Commissioner also takes decisions that relate to his 
particular areas of statutory responsibility. The significant 
decisions can be found here.

Accountability & Scrutiny 

In April 2019, the Commissioner established a new ‘Scrutiny 
& Accountability Board’ to provide detailed oversight and 
scrutiny of policing and the delivery of his Police & Crime 
Plan. The Board is alternately chaired by the Deputy

Commissioner and the Chief Executive, and feeds up to 
the Commissioner’s Strategic Board. During 2019/20, 
the Board conducted scrutiny sessions on:

• Hate Crime

• Anti-social Behaviour

• Stalking, harassment and coercive control

• Internal culture and wellbeing of the workforce

• Victim Satisfaction

• Mental health Public Service Centre Triage

• Stop search Section 60 use

• Use of force against young people

• Knife crime and violence prevention

• Fraud

Alongside new approaches, we have continued to 
contribute funding to crucial services for those affected by 
domestic abuse and sexual violence. This has included the 
much needed provision of Independent Domestic Abuse 
Advocates (IDVAs) and Independent Sexual Violence 
Advocates (ISVAs). The advocates have provided invaluable 
help and support to victims, irrespective of gender, involved 
in the criminal justice process by ensuring that their needs 
are put first, that they know what to expect and that they are 
provided with support and reassurance in court.

The Commissioner also funds a number of diversionary 
schemes project, which seeks to reduce offending and 
reoffending by diverting individuals away from the criminal 
justice system and into supportive interventions through 
early intervention. Through prompt, positive action, 18- 25 
and Women’s diversion schemes are able to work with 
individuals to address vulnerabilities, underlying needs and 
divert away from crime and into healthy, positive lives.

Page 103

http://www.southwalescommissioner.org.uk/en/transparency/decisions-policies/strategic-board/
http://www.southwalescommissioner.org.uk/en/transparency/decisions-policies/


S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
&

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

39

P R I O R I T Y  6

The sessions enabled the Commissioner and his team to 
scrutinise data and working practices in relation to the 
above, and to provide recommendations for change 
or improvement where needed. Some key themes that 
arose within our recommendations included training and 
awareness needs in relation to individual vulnerabilities and 
the need for improved victim updates and feedback, as well 
as the need to push for more partnership working in some 
areas, including mental health and antisocial behaviour. A 
vast amount of work was taking place across all topics that 
were scrutinised and the Commissioner is committed to 
monitoring progress towards the recommendations during 
the coming year.

Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire & 
Rescue Services (HMICFRS) Reports and Responses

The Commissioner is required to respond to reports 
produced by Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary, 
Fire & Rescue Services (HMICFRS) when they include 

recommendations for Chief Constables. The responses are 
sent to the Home Secretary and HMICFRS to outline the 
Commissioner’s view on the recommendations and how 
they may be overseen. During 2019/20 the Commissioner 
responded to 5 reports. The reports and responses are 
available here: *****

Core to HMICFRS Inspection programme is the PEEL 
assessment, which is an annual review of the policing of 
forces in England & Wales where Effectiveness, Efficiency 
and Legitimacy are all assessed. They are judged as 
outstanding, good, requires improvement or inadequate on 
these categories (or pillars) based on inspection findings, 
analysis and Her Majesty’s Inspectors’ (HMIs) professional 
judgment across the year.

Each pillar has questions that focus on core areas of the 
work of the police with judgments are also applied to these 
questions. The latest PEEL assessment of South Wales Police 
is outlined below and more detail can be found here.

Policing Accountability & Legitimacy 
Group (PALG) 

The Commissioner’s Police Accountability & Legitimacy 
Group meets every quarter. The group consists of partner 
organisations who feed in their independent views on 
South Wales Police practice and performance to assist with 
the Commissioner’s oversight and scrutiny role. During 
2019/20 the group discussed and fed in views on a range of        
topics, including:

• Hate Crime

• Police Complaints

• Stalking, Harassment and Coercive Control

• Stop and search (including disproportionality and 
the use of Section 60)

• Use of force

More information on the group is available here.

South Wales Police was inspected in tranche two and we found:

The extent to which the force is effective at reducing crime and keeping people safe is good.

The extent to which the force operates efficiently and sustainably is good.

The extent to which the force treats the public and its workforce legitimately is good.

Page 104

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/peel-assessments/peel-2018/south-wales/
http://www.southwalescommissioner.org.uk/en/scrutiny-and-oversight/police-accountability-and-legitimacy-group-palg/


S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
&

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

40

P R I O R I T Y  6

Quality Assurance 

The Commissioner’s Team ensures that quality assurance 
exercises are regularly conducted to oversee the work 
of South Wales Police. This includes regularly reviewing 
footage of police officers’ Body Worn Videos (BWV) and 
during 2019/20 we reviewed footage relating to stop 
and search and use of force in order to look for any unfair 
treatment or non-compliance with correct processes. 
Pleasingly the monitoring did not give rise to any serious 
concerns and the results were shared with our Police 
Accountability & Legitimacy Group.

Independent Custody Visiting and Animal 
Welfare Schemes 

The Police and Crime Commissioner has a statutory 
responsibility to run an Independent Custody Visiting 
Scheme. This means that volunteers provides a check 
on the welfare of detainees held in custody and on the 
conditions in which they are held. In 2019/20, 32 volunteers 
made 192 unannounced visits to the four custody suites 
in the force area – Merthyr Tydfil, Cardiff Bay, Bridgend 

and Swansea. They spoke to 603 
detainees, including 51 children. 

Issues monitored included cells 
out of use, the stock of anti-
rip clothing and blankets, the 
provision of sanitary items 
and the presence of female 

members of staff. During 
2019/20, the South Wales 

Police & Crime Commissioner Team 
received a national Silver standard award at the inaugural 
Independent Custody Visiting Association (ICVA) Quality 
Assurance awards for the quality of its independent custody           
visiting scheme.

Due to the coronavirus pandemic presenting unprecedented 
challenges, visits were paused in March 2020. Although 
oversight was maintained, this did mean that visit numbers 
during March were lower than usual.

The Commissioner also operates an Animal Welfare Visiting 
scheme to check on the welfare of working police animals. 
During 2019/20, 8 volunteers made 40 visits to the Dog & 
Mounted section at the Waterton site in Bridgend, to check 
on the welfare of the police dogs and horses. These visits 
were also paused in March due to coronavirus outbreak.

During the year, the Commissioner and team have worked to 
modernise the visiting schemes by introducing technology 
to visits. It is hoped that in the year ahead this will come into 
fruition e.g. through the introduction of tablets to record 
visiting reports so that all findings are highlighted in a timely 
and efficient manner.

A Workforce that reflects our communities 

Throughout the year, the Commissioner has continued to 
oversee and assist in the delivery of developing a more 
representative workforce in South Wales Police. There are 
priorities in the Police & Crime Plan to increase the numbers 
of Black, Asian & Minority Ethnic people across the force 
and to improve the representation of female officers across 
the ranks. This work began in 2015 when the Commissioner 
conducted reviews into how South Wales Police could 
improve representation. Since then he and his team have 
invested in joint action plans to make improvements and the 
progress has been significant in 2019/20.

In 2015, just 2.1% of our officers were from a BAME 
background and this had risen to over 2.5% at the end of 
this financial year. Since the BAME recruitment programme 
began in 2015, we have recruited a total of 87 BAME people 

Page 105



S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
&

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

41

P R I O R I T Y  6

into the organisation. Recent recruitment campaigns, 
including the January 2020 campaign, have also seen 
some of the highest levels of BAME job applicants coming 
through, demonstrating the success of our positive 
community outreach programmes. During 2019/20, 
ten BAME officers and staff also completed a bespoke, 
commissioned, positive action programme to develop their 
leadership skills for future promotion.

In addition, this year the Commissioner introduced a new 
series of recognition events to acknowledge the ongoing 
commitment and support of particular officers and staff as 
‘Development Champions’. Our communities have told 
us about a past reluctance for BAME people to consider 
policing as a career for a number of different reasons, which 
is why the contribution of the Development Champions is 
so important in breaking down barriers and supporting the 
recruitment, retention and progression of BAME candidates.

In 2015, a total of 28% of our officers were female. By the 
end of this financial year, this had risen to 32%. This year 
has also seen a much improved percentage intake of female 
officers and of women being successful in promotion 
through the ranks. For example, in 2018, 39% of our new 
PCs were female and this rose to a 43% female intake 
for this financial year. The percentage of PCs that were 
successfully promoted to Sergeant in 2015 was 19% and 
this rose to 33% in the most recent promotion round. We 
have also worked to promote changes to the way in which 
flexible working opportunities are provided to officers, and 
this now means that a number of officers in more senior 
ranks are working flexible hours, which was not the case 
when the Commissioner conducted the 2015 review. This 
positive progress appears to be influencing cultural change, 
is enabling women to climb the ranks, and may be a likely 
contributor to the narrowing gender pay gap for officers.

Police & Crime Panel 

The Police & Crime Panel is responsible for overseeing the 
Police & Crime Commissioner and scrutinising his decisions. 
Agendas and minutes of Panel meetings can be found here.

Joint Audit Committee 

The Commissioner and Chief Constable have appointed an 
independent Joint Audit Committee that provides assurance 
to enhance public trust and confidence in governance. 

The Committee provides:

• Independent assurance on the adequacy of the 
risk management framework and the associated           
control environment;

• Independent scrutiny of financial performance;

• Oversight in relation to the financial                       
reporting framework.

Further details on the Joint Audit Committee can be        
found here.

Internal Audit 

A specialist company, TIAA, provides internal audit services. 
Internal audit perform a range of reviews to an agreed audit 
plan and in compliance with Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards. The Internal Audit Plan is scrutinised by the 
Joint Audit Committee before it is agreed. The Joint Audit 
Committee receive and review each internal audit report.

External Audit 

The Wales Audit Office (WAO) are the appointed external 
auditors to the Commissioner and Chief Constable. Each 
year, the Wales Audit Office comment on the financial 
aspects of corporate governance, including the legality 
of financial transactions, financial standing systems, 
systems of internal financial control and the standards of 
financial conduct, fraud and corruption. The Wales Audit 
Office also has a statutory duty to assess arrangements for 
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use                        
of resources.

Page 106

https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/council/councillors-and-committees/south-wales-police-and-crime-panel/
http://www.southwalescommissioner.org.uk/media/1170/swp-jac-terms-of-business-2018.pdf


S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
&

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

42

P R I O R I T Y  6

Quality, Standards  
and Compliance

During 2019/20, the South Wales Police and Crime 
Commissioner received 478 items of correspondence, 
which were a combination of complaints and requests 
for clarification and opinion on policing issues. The 
Commissioner received 7 complaints against the Chief 
Constable, of which none were upheld. We received and 
dealt with 17 Freedom of Information requests, and 1 subject 
access request.

We administrated one Police Appeal Tribunal, which 
the Chair found in favour of South Wales Police. The 
Commissioner received 3 pension forfeiture applications 
from South Wales Police in respect of former officers who 
had committed criminal offences and these processes are 
still ongoing.

The complaints and correspondence that we have handled 
have been dominated by the theme of lack of updates from 
officers. We have raised this as part of our scrutiny processes 
with South Wales Police and steps are being taken to 
improve the customer service aspect of policing and provide 
the resources and technology to assist officers in keeping in 
touch with victims and others. We have also received a lot 
of correspondence in relation to anti-social behaviour and 
neighbourhood disputes which we have been provided to 
the Chief Constable’s office so that local action can be taken 
and intelligence gathered.

The Quality, Standards and Compliance team dip sample 
various aspects of the complaints process once a month 
and this feedback is provided to the Professional Standards 
Department and forms part of our scrutiny work. We also 
dip sample themes which tie into our scrutiny programme 
and so far we have looked at complaints made by victims of 
hate crime, made by victims generally, and complaints made 
regarding the service provided by the Public Service Centre.

This last year we have also, in conjunction with the 
Professional Standards Department, started the Outreach 
Project. The purpose of this project is to engage with 
communities and members of the public who may be more 
likely to come into contact with the police but are less likely 
to make a complaint, and gain their views on the way their 
interaction with South Wales Police has gone, whether 
that is positive or negative. We are just starting to gain the 
views of those people and the hope is that people within 

those communities or who are in organisations who provide 
support will be able to be trained to become advocates 
and assist them through the complaints system, or provide   
good feedback.

Our team also monitor the way in which South Wales Police 
handle issues regarding conduct. We are provided with 
regular updates regarding issues of conduct and emerging 
themes. We interact on a regular basis with the Independent 
Office for Police Conduct (IOPC) regarding independent 
investigations and are made aware of any recommendations 
that are made, whether they relate to South Wales Police 
or an external organisation. As a result of this insight, we 
have also recently worked with the Professional Standards 
Department’s Anti-Corruption Unit to assist them in 
providing presentations to key workers (working with 
vulnerable women and children) regarding officers who 
may potentially abuse their power for sexual gain. It is worth 
however balancing this against the thousands of officers 
and staff who provide excellent service and often go above 
and beyond their duties, and we are often made aware 
of such exceptional officers through such investigations 

Page 107



S
O

U
T

H
 

W
A

L
E

S
 

P
O

L
I

C
E

 
&

 
C

R
I

M
E

 
C

O
M

M
I

S
S

I
O

N
E

R
 

 
|

 
 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

2
0

43

P R I O R I T Y  6

too. The Commissioner recently wrote to two officers who 
were commended by the IOPC in the way they assisted a 
gentleman in crisis.

Our team also sit on the Internal Ethics Committee, 
Independent Ethics Committee, Freedom of Information 
group, and the Confidence and Legitimacy Group, and the 
Strategic Learning the Lessons Forum. The Strategic Lead is 
also a standing member of the Vetting Appeal Panel.

On the 1st February 2020, provisions of the Policing 
and Crime Act 2017 relating to police complaints and 
conduct came into force. These gave Police and Crime 
Commissioners enhanced responsibilities for the police 
complaints system in their locality. The Commissioner has 
an explicit duty under the legislation to hold the Chief 
Constable to account for an efficient and effective local 
complaints handling process. We have opted for Option 
1 under the legislation which states that we must have 
enhanced oversight of the local complaints system and 
also have responsibility for handling reviews of low level 
complaints. We have therefore put in place an overarching 
scrutiny model relating to complaints and have structures in 
place to handle reviews applied for by complainants who 
are unhappy with the way in which PSD have dealt with their 
matter. We also have responsibility for receiving reports from 
the IOPC and PSD when a complaint or conduct matter takes 
over 12 months to investigate, and can hold both parties to 
account for timeliness in respect of these.

The Police and Crime Panel is responsible for investigating 
complaints against the Commissioner. More information can 
be found here.

The Commissioner is responsible for investigating 
complaints against the Chief Constable. More information 
can be found here.

Finance &  
Transparency

Before the start of each financial year, the Commissioner 
produces a Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) that 
sets out his spending plans and precept proposal for the 
forthcoming financial year. This document includes detailed 
information on the economic background, Home Office 
decisions in respect of police grants, revenue and capital 
expenditure plans, workforce estimates and the Treasury 
Management Strategy.

At the end of each financial year, the Statement of Accounts 
is produced which details financial performance during the 
year and the financial position as at 31st March. The Wales 
Audit Office audits the Statement of Accounts.

Further detail on the finances, including the MTFS and 
Statement of Accounts, can be found on the Police and 
Crime Commissioners website.

Transparency 

Police & Crime Commissioners are obliged to publish certain 
information to allow the public to hold them to account. The 
Commissioner complies with these requirements and the 
information can be found here.

We are in the process of reviewing the content of our 
website and making it more accessible and information rich 
with updated news. We fulfil our statutory responsibilities 
under the Specified Information Order 2011 completely in 
relation to information that we have to publish and have 
recently (for the second year running) received the CoPaCC 
Transparency Award.

Page 108

https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/council/councillors-and-committees/south-wales-police-and-crime-panel/
http://www.southwalescommissioner.org.uk/en/contact-us/making-a-complaint/
http://www.southwalescommissioner.org.uk/en/transparency/finance/
http://www.southwalescommissioner.org.uk/en/transparency/freedom-of-information/freedom-of-information-publication-scheme/what-we-spend-and-how-we-spend-it/
http://www.southwalescommissioner.org.uk/en/transparency/


www.southwalescommissioner.org.uk

To find out more about your
Commissioner follow us via:

@commissionersw

Or contact us via:

 01656 869 366

 commissioner@south-wales.pnn.police.uk

South Wales Police and Crime Commissioner,

Police Headquarters, Cowbridge Road, Bridgend CF31 3SU

We welcome correspondence in English and Welsh

Page 109



This page is intentionally left blank



  

 

 

  

1 

 

 

REPORT OF THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER 

TITLE:  Police and Crime Commissioner for South Wales’ Scruitny and 

Engagement Review Reports 

DATE:  15th September 2020 

PURPOSE: For Noting 
 

1. RECOMMENDATION 

That the Police and Crime Panel considers and notes the attached reports for 

the financial year 2019/20 summarising formal scrutiny and enagement as 

required by the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011. 

 

2. INTRODUCTION & BACKGROUND 

The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 states that the Police & 

Crime Commissioner for South Wales has a statutory duty and electoral 

mandate to hold South Wales Police to account on behalf of the public.  He 

works to ensure the effective and efficient operation of the force by working 

together with the Chief Constable, aiming to provide the best possible police 

service to South Wales.  

The Commissioner uses a range of ways to ensure that formal scrutiny of the 

force takes place throughout the year.  As well as the weekly contact he has 

with Chief Officers in the force, the Commissioner chairs a Strategic Board on 

a quarterly basis.  This is where he formally holds the Chief Constable to 

account in relation to crime reduction, force performance, and the delivery of 

priorities in the Police & Crime Plan.  Further detail on these arrangements are 

laid out in the jointly agreed Manual of Governance and Annual Governance 

Statement.  

The Commissioner also has a duty to make arrangements for obtaining the 

views of people within each neighbourhood about crime and disorder in that 

neighbourhood (section 34). The attached reports highlight activity in 2019-20 

in relation to scrutiny (holding to account) and engagement. 

3. ISSUES FOR CONSIDERATION 

This scrutiny annual summary outlines the activity that was conducted via the 

scrutiny programme during the financial year 2019/20. Annex A 

The engagement report summarises the core engagement activity that the 

Commissioner and his team have undertaken during the 2019-20 financial year 

and is aligned with the priority areas set out in our Engagement Strategy. 

Annex B 

4. NEXT STEPS 

The Police and Crime Panel are asked to note and comment, the report will 

then be published on the Police and Crime Commissioners website. 

Page 111

Agenda Item 9



  

 

 

  

2 

 

 

  

5. FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS 

There are financial implications to the delivery of the work of the team which 

are articulated within the Medium Term Financial Plan. 

6. PERSONNEL CONSIDERATIONS 

The plans take account of the pressure on the budget and drive the efficient 

and effective use of the budget in a planned and timely manner.  

7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Producing the reports particularly in the light of: 

(i) any report or recommendations made by the police and crime panel; and 

(ii) any changes in the strategic policing requirement  

(iii) statutory responsibilities of the Commissioner under the Police Reform and 

Social Responsibilities Act 2011. 

 

8. EQUALITIES  AND HUMAN RIGHTS CONSIDERATIONS 

This proposal has been considered against the general duty to promote 

equality, as stipulated under the Strategic Equality Plan and has been 

assessed not to discriminate against any particular group.  

 

In preparing this report, consideration has been given to the requirements of 

the Articles contained in the European Convention on Human Rights and the 

Human Rights Act 1998. 

 

9. RISK 

A timely decision will minimise the risk to the compliance with the Police 

Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011. 

10. PUBLIC INTEREST 

This reports will be placed on the website of both the Commissioner and the 

Police and Crime Panel. 

11. CONTACT OFFICER 

Lee Jones, Chief Executive to the Police and Crime Commissioner for South 

Wales. 

12. ANNEXES 

The Annexe to this report is a copy of the Annual report for noting.  

 

 

Page 112



 

Annex A 

  

  

South Wales Police & Crime Commissioner  

  

Annual Summary of  

Scrutiny and Oversight 

Activity  

   

  

  

  

April 2019 – April 2020  
 

  

  

  

  

  

 

Page 113



 

Contents   
  

Introduction……………………………………………………………..3   

Scrutiny and Accountability Board…………………………………3   

• Hate Crime and Anti-Social Behaviour………………….3   

• Stalking, Harassment and Coercive Control……………5  

• Internal Culture and Wellbeing…………………………...6   

• Victim Satisfaction………………………………………….7   

• Additional Scrutiny………………………………………….8   

Police Accountability and Legitimacy Group………………………9  

Joint Independent Ethics Committee………………………………..10   

 Joint Audit Committee………………………………………………….11  

  

Other Oversight and Scrutiny…………………………………………11   

Conclusions………………………………………………………………12  

 

 

Introduction  

The Police & Crime Commissioner for South Wales has a statutory duty and 

electoral mandate to hold South Wales Police to account on behalf of the public.  He 

works to ensure the effective and efficient operation of the force by working together 

Page 114



 

with the Chief Constable, aiming to provide the best 

possible police service to South Wales.  

The Commissioner uses a range of ways to ensure that formal scrutiny of the force 

takes place throughout the year.  As well as the weekly contact he has with Chief 

Officers in the force, the Commissioner chairs a Strategic Board on a quarterly basis.  

This is where he formally holds the Chief Constable to account in relation to crime 

reduction, force performance, and the delivery of priorities in the Police & Crime 

Plan.  Further detail on these arrangements are laid out in the jointly agreed Manual 

of Governance and Annual Governance Statement.  

In addition to this Board, the Commissioner has established a scrutiny programme, 

which enables detailed ongoing oversight of policing issues and the ability to act as a 

critical friend. The programme is delivered through a range of groups, meetings and 

activities, with the purpose of ensuring that critical and constructive challenge can be 

provided and that positive improvements can be driven where needed.  

This annual summary outlines the activity that was conducted via the scrutiny 

programme during the financial year 2019/20.  

  

Scrutiny & Accountability Board  

This Board meets every 6 weeks and is alternately chaired by the Deputy Police &  

Crime Commissioner and the Chief Executive.  Every other meeting contains a ‘deep 

dive’ topic for scrutiny, which enables detailed analysis of a specific policing topic.   

The Commissioner’s team ensures that partner agencies, victims of crime, and the 

wider public, can feed in as much as possible.  The deep dive topics discussed 

during 2019/20 are outlined below.  

Hate Crime and Anti-Social Behaviour (May 2019)  

What was considered  

As well as the consideration of force hate crime and ASB data, the Commissioner’s 

team sought the views of hate crime victims and partner agencies.  Issues 

considered were hate crime numbers and trends, victim experiences, and 

confidence to report.  

  

Issues Identified  

The key issues that arose during the deep dive were:  

• That force Hate Crime Officers provided an excellent service, which victims 

highly appreciated.  

• That good levels of ongoing police contact and support led to greater victim 

satisfaction and reassurance. Lack of police contact and lack of follow-up led 

to victim frustration.  

Page 115



 

• That many hate crime victims had experienced a 

number of hate incidents before deciding to report to 

the police.  Response officers needed to bear in mind the whole case history 

when assessing risk and action to take.  

• Online harassment was a particular issue for some minority groups. Some 

victims felt that officers sometimes saw this as a ‘low level’ issue and that they 

may not always understand the full extent of vulnerability of hate crime 

victims.  

• That hate crime victims emphasised the importance of police officer training 

including input from victims with a ‘lived experience’ of the issues.  

• The need for hate crime categories to be broken down further so that a true 

picture of hate incidents against specific communities was better understood.  

• The need to ensure that all communities understood how to report hate crime 

and the benefits of doing so.  Some were not aware of options available or the 

support they may receive if they reported.  

• That a number of prevention initiatives for Anti Social Behaviour were 

ongoing, including in partnership with other agencies.  There was a need to 

refocus some of this work.  

Commissioner’s Team Recommendations  

A number of recommendations were made to the force following the deep dive, 

including:  

• That officer training should include the lived experience of victims.  

• That officer training and messaging should reinforce the disproportionate 

impact of incidents on hate crime victims, with a need to look beyond crime  

‘type’.  

• That in order to encourage reporting, positive cases of hate crime should be 

publicised to show how victims are supported when they report.  

• That accessible formats of hate crime reporting should be publicised and 

readily available, and that the force should ensure a range of survey formats 

are offered to victims when they asked for victim satisfaction feedback.  

• That the introduction of hate crime sub-categories should be considered in 

order to enhance hate crime understanding across the force area.  

  

• That there should be a joint re-marketing of the ASB community trigger.  

Stalking, Harassment and Coercive Control (August 2019)  

What was considered  

As well as the consideration of force data, the Commissioner’s team sought the 

views of officers, domestic abuse victims and partner agencies, and considered 

previous findings from Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary, Fire & Rescue 

Services (HMICFRS).  There was a particular emphasis on victim experiences with 

the police, and escalating police demand in this crime type.    

Page 116



 

Issues Identified  

The key issues that arose during the deep dive were:  

• That good levels of ongoing police contact and support led to greater victim 

satisfaction and reassurance. Lack of updates led to increased stress and 

anxiety for victims of stalking, harassment or coercive control.  

• That coercive control may be less understood by members of the public, who 

are not always aware they should not put up with the behaviour. More may 

need to be done to encourage understanding and reporting.    

• That officer understanding of coercive control was still relatively new and that 

it was often more difficult for officers to identify and collect accurate evidence 

of this type of incident.    

• That older people and disabled people in particular may be experiencing 

forms of coercive control without realising it.  Appropriate messaging needed 

to reach all groups, including partner organisations providing support.  

• That partner organisations suggested that positive case studies needed to be 

promoted to the public to show the benefits of reporting and that victims would 

be believed.  

• That officers had received recent training on stalking, harassment and 

coercive control but that there was no specific way of measuring its 

effectiveness.  

• That the force stalking and harassment ‘Single Point of Contact’ officers were 

proving helpful to disseminate advice and guidance to other officers across 

the force.  

• That positive outcome rates for stalking were particularly low and differed 

across the force area.  The national outcome codes were not considered to be 

helpful in this regard.  

Commissioner’s Team Recommendations  

A number of recommendations were made to the force following the deep dive, 

including:  

  

• That the impact of officer training on this subject should be better measured 

and monitored.  

• That officer training and messaging should reinforce the need for statement 

taking to evidence victim impact.  

• That positive outcome differentials for stalking should be closely monitored 

across the force, and reasons for low outcomes looked into where possible.  

• That officers should be reminded of the need to ensure victim updates are 

prioritised in the case of vulnerable victims of this type.  

• That in order to encourage reporting, positive cases of stalking, harassment 

and coercive control should be publicised to show that victims will be believed 

and supported.  

  

Page 117



 

Internal Culture and Wellbeing (November 2019)  

What was considered  

For this deep dive, the Commissioner’s team sought the views of internal staff 

networks, associations and trade unions.  Employment data was scrutinised and 

previous findings from Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary, Fire & Rescue 

Services (HMICFRS) were taken into account. Issues considered centred around 

how the force was promoting a positive internal culture of wellbeing and equality.   

Issues Identified  

The key issues that arose during the deep dive were:  

• That there was a clear commitment from Chief Officers to promote mental 

wellbeing and equality across the force. This was widely accepted by staff 

associations and reflected in strategic planning.  The messaging and 

commitment was not always filtering down in terms of implementation across 

all ranks.   

• That the recently-introduced force ‘Blue Light Champions’ were providing a 

positive level of mental health support to officers and staff.  There would be a 

benefit in further promotion of the roles and how to access them.   

• That many staff and officers wanted more investment in diversity training   

• That more analysis of grievance outcomes was required in order to assure 

learning was understood and disseminated.  

• That ongoing involvement with officers and staff was required in order to build 

on recent staff surveys and monitor progress.  

• That the force People & Organisational Development Strategy 

comprehensively set out the training and HR aims for the force and would 

enable ongoing scrutiny of progress.  

  

Commissioner’s Team Recommendations  

A number of recommendations were made to the force following the deep dive, 

including:  

• The need to establish clear measures to enable ongoing assessment of 

progress in the areas identified.  

• The need for further promotion of the internal Blue Light Champion Scheme 

and for additional referral options to be considered.  

• That consistent staff surveys should be regularly conducted to track changes 

and progress in terms of internal cultural issues.  

• That differing methods of training or awareness-raising should be considered 

in order to enhance diversity knowledge across the force.  

  

Page 118



 

Victim Satisfaction (February 2020)  

What was considered  

As well as the consideration of force data in relation to crime levels, victim 

satisfaction and crime outcomes, the Commissioner’s team sought the views of 

victims and South Wales Victim Focus.  Public responses to the Commissioner’s 

engagement survey in November 2019 were also considered, as were victim 

complaints submitted to South Wales Police in the previous 3 months.  The aim was 

to consider victim experiences and the service they were receiving from South 

Wales Police.   

Issues Identified  

The key issues that arose during the deep dive were:  

• That victim satisfaction rates were generally positive across the force  

• That the South Wales Police Victim Insights Team sought to contact victims to 

discuss their satisfaction and overall service experience.  The Commissioner’s 

team would continue to dip sample the qualitative responses as they became 

available.  

• That officer feedback and updates to victims were constant issues associated 

with overall victim satisfaction.  Victims were much more likely to feel they had 

received a positive service if they had received regular updates on their case.  

Dissatisfaction and victim complaints to the force were often associated with 

lack of follow-up and updates.  

• That the time taken for cases to resolve and for complaints to be investigated 

were often a source of frustration.  

• That not all victims were being referred to support services early enough and 

that there were referral level inconsistencies in different areas of the force.  

  

• That in general, crime volumes were rising and positive outcomes rates were 

decreasing.  Work was taking place to better understand this issue and it was 

thought to be a national trend.  

• That partner agencies were critical in some aspects of overall victim 

satisfaction, including Anti-Social Behaviour.    

Commissioner’s Team Recommendations  

A number of recommendations were made to the force following the deep dive, 

including:  

• Consideration of the need to break down victim satisfaction and victim support 

referral rates in each Basic Command Unit area of the force.  

• The need for victim satisfaction to be monitored on an ongoing basis via the 

Commissioner’s Partnership Board.  

• That the Victims Strategy, currently in development, should incorporate issues 

discussed in the deep dive and be overseen by the Commissioner’s team.  

Page 119



 

  

Additional Scrutiny by the Board  

In addition to deep dive topics, the Scrutiny & Accountability Board conducted 

scrutiny of other policing issues during 2019/20.  This included:  

Knife Crime  

The national and local picture of knife crime was considered, which included the 

analysis of crime data and trends in South Wales. South Wales Police violence 

prevention initiatives were discussed, as was the association of stop search use with 

increasing knife crime activity. This work was receiving ongoing attention via the 

Violence Prevention Unit, which both the Commissioner and force were involved in.  

Stop & Search  

Stop and search data was considered within the Board, including ethnic 

disproportionality and the use of Section 60 during 2019.  The Section 60 approval 

system was discussed and a protocol developed, which included informing the 

Commissioner of the decision to use Section 60 as soon as practicable.  Community 

perceptions and tensions were considered, particularly in relation to media portrayal 

of Section 60, and it was agreed that ongoing community engagement and internal 

monitoring was critical.  During the year, the Commissioner’s team engaged with 

young people about their experience of stop search in the area, and responses 

continued to feed in to scrutiny and oversight work.  

  

Gender Pay Gap  

The South Wales Police annual gender pay gap report was considered within the 

Board.  The force was particularly asked to consider the disproportionality of bonus 

payments by gender, and as a result the force conducted further work in this area.  

Fraud  

The Board received an update on the force’s response to fraud cases.  The draft 

Fraud Policy was considered, and ongoing issues with reporting via Action Fraud 

were discussed.  Vulnerability in relation to older people was also considered, as 

were initiatives to combat this.  

Use of Force  

Use of force was monitored within the Board, particularly in relation to ethnic 

disproportionality and the ages of those subject to force.  

Automated Facial Recognition (AFR) Technology  

The Board received updates on the deployment of AFR across the force, including 

reasons for use and the outcomes.  Chief Officers noted the request that the 

Commissioner wished to be informed of AFR deployment as soon as practicable in 

each case.  The Board discussed the AFR authorisation process and sign off levels.  

Page 120



 

  

Police Accountability & Legitimacy 

Group (PALG)  

PALG is chaired by the Commissioner’s Chief Executive.  The group meets quarterly 

and consists of external partner organisations and independent advisers who assist 

the Commissioner’s team in providing a critical friend perspective of force 

performance and practice.  During 2019/20 the group considered a number of 

issues, including:  

Hate Crime  

The findings of the hate crime deep dive were discussed at the group.  Members fed 

in their views and discussed how the promotion of positive case studies could 

increase public confidence to report.  

Public Complaints  

The group discussed how to encourage minority groups to make complaints to the 

force when needed, including the use of accessible and easy to understand 

language for all communities about how to make a complaint.  

  

Stalking, Harassment & Coercive Control  

The findings of the stalking, harassment and coercive control deep dive were shared 

with the group.  Members discussed how older people could be particularly 

susceptible to coercive control and how this messaging could be communicated.  It 

was agreed that this should be considered within the ‘Older People’ workstream of 

the Joint Equality Plan.  

Stop & Search (including Section 60)  

The group discussed use of Section 60 and how decisions were made to use it.  

They monitored the outcomes of Section 60 use, as well as the force engagement 

that had taken place prior to and following its use.  Stop search disproportionality by 

ethnicity was discussed within the group, and the group was able to comment on 

force efforts to understand and tackle this issue.  

Use of Force  

The group was given a demonstration of types of force that could reasonably be 

used and were able to question how tactics were used and decided on.  

Disproportionality of use was considered, particularly in relation to ethnicity.  The 

group asked the force to provide information on the types of force used against 

children and young people.  This was presented in detail at a later meeting, with 

appropriate explanation and reassurance provided.  

Joint Independent Ethics Committee  

Page 121



 

This committee is jointly run by the Commissioner and 

Chief Constable.  It contains external independent 

members and has an independent chair. The committee meets quarterly and 

discusses ethical dilemmas that the force is presented with, with the aim of offering 

independent opinion. During 2019/20 the issues considered included:  

Use of Body Worn Video at Sudden Deaths  

The committee discussed whether bodyworn video should be used by officers at all 

sudden deaths.  The balance of gathering evidence versus family sensitivities were 

debated, and it was the opinion of the committee that bodyworn video use should be 

mandatory for all sudden deaths but that clear explanation should be provided in 

force policy to outline where it would be appropriate not to film.  

Variable Service  

Discussions took place around the force’s proposals to adjust resources for certain 

incidents so that some could be investigated as a desktop exercise by the Incident 

Resolution Team, rather than having police attendance. Following extensive 

discussions, the committee was not averse to a policy of fair, variable service.    

Speed Camera Exemptions  

The committee discussed the proposal to change the speed camera activation 

procedure so there was a natural exemption process for emergency service 

vehicles.  This would initially be limited to Roads Policing Unit officers.  

Implementation of the proposal would save hours of administrative processing, and a 

random dip sample check of activations throughout the year would be undertaken to 

ensure there was no abuse of process. The committee agreed there were no 

potential threats, harms or additional risks to the proposal, and that the proposal was 

proportionate, efficient and effective as long as the oversight system was in place.  

Naloxone  

The committee considered whether undercover officers should carry naloxone for 

use if someone had overdosed.  Officers were not allowed to administer naloxone 

but it was available in custody suites and was carried by drug users as it was 

provided in treatment facilities. Committee members discussed the national positions 

and there was a general view that it was appropriate for officers to carry naloxone in 

future but that the dilemma would be raised to the National Group to ensure national 

consensus was considered.  

Joint Audit Committee  

This committee operates jointly between the Commissioner and force.  It consists of 

independent members, with an independent chair.  The committee provides an 

oversight and monitoring function, particularly in relation to financial and audit 

matters.  During 2019/20 the issues considered included:  

  
• The presentation of accounts  

Page 122



 

• Annual Governance Statement  

• Audit reports received in relation to South Wales 

Police and the Commissioner  

• Reports and recommendations from Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of 

Constabulary, Fire & Rescue Services (HMICFRS)  Force risks, 

uncertainties and issues logs.  

  

Other Oversight and Scrutiny  

In addition to the scrutiny work via Boards and groups outlined in this report, 

additional oversight and monitoring work took place within the Commissioner’s team 

during the year.  This included attendance at ‘Out of Court Disposal Scrutiny Panels’, 

whereby a selection of criminal cases that had been settled out of court were 

considered for their fairness and appropriateness.    

  

Also, public complaints made to South Wales Police were randomly assessed by the 

team, to ensure that the force appropriately and fairly considered the cases and 

used appropriate methods to investigate them.  Police officer Body worn video 

footage was randomly reviewed by the team in order that stop search and use of 

force powers could be independently assessed for appropriateness and fairness.  In 

addition, stop search and use of force forms completed by officers were assessed 

for accuracy and fairness.  Finally, some physical site visits took place, including 

Commissioner team observation within the Public Service Centre to consider how 

callers were responded to, how hate crime victims were assessed for risk, and how 

mental health triage calls were undertaken by specialist mental health practitioners.  

Conclusions  

The oversight and scrutiny work that has taken place during 2019/20 has led to a 

number of recommendations, which South Wales Police is committed to working 

towards where possible.  Ongoing monitoring and review of progress will continue 

within the Commissioner’s scrutiny programme for 2020/21.  

The Commissioner and his team are committed to ensuring that scrutiny of South 

Wales Police is a fair and positive activity, which looks to identify good practice 

where possible, and to proportionately challenge the force where appropriate and 

where improvements on behalf of the public can be made.  

Thanks are extended to the crime victims, members of the public, partner agencies 

and independent advisers who have substantially contributed to the scrutiny and 

oversight work during the year.  

  

  

  

Page 123



 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

   

To find out more about your Commissioner  

follow us via:   

  

 

/commissionersw  

  

www.southwalescommissioner.org.uk   

  

                                          Or contact us via:   

                                         commissioner@south-

wales.police.uk  

  

             01656 869 366    

  

                                    Cowbridge Police Station,   

                                                          West Gate,   

                                                          Cowbridge,   

Page 124

http://www.southwalescommissioner.org.uk/
http://www.southwalescommissioner.org.uk/


 

                                                           CF71 7AR  

  

We welcome correspondence in Welsh and English  

  

This document is also available in Welsh  

  

 

Page 125



This page is intentionally left blank



1 | P a g e  
 

    

          

Our Public Engagement Activity 

           

 
 

 

2019-20 

           

 
 

Annex B

Page 127



2 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

 

Introduction…………………………………………………………3 

 

Community Involvement………………………………………….4 

 

                      Community Walkabouts…………………………….4  

 

                      Community Events…………………………………..5 

 

                      Consultations…………………………………………8 

  

Youth Engagement………………………………………………..10 

 

Victim Engagement………………………………………………..11 

 

Conclusion………………………………………………………….12 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Contents  

Page 128



3 | P a g e  
 

 

 

The Commissioner’s aim is to cut crime and maintain an 

effective police service, as well as hold the Chief 

Constable to account.  

The Commissioner is also responsible for ensuring that 

the policing and safety concerns of our diverse 

communities are heard and addressed.  
 

Engaging with communities across South Wales is an 

important aspect of the Commissioner’s role, as it helps to provide a richer picture of 

local concerns and enables him to better undertake his duty to hold the force to 

account on your behalf.  

 
 

 

 

We recognise that in order to represent our communities 

with integrity, we need to establish two-way methods of 

communication that involve, interact with and listen to 

our communities. Our Engagement Strategy sets out our 

commitment to delivering meaningful engagement and the 

methods in which we do this.  

 

This report summarises the core engagement activity that 

the Commissioner and his team have undertaken during 

the 2019-20 financial year and is aligned with the priority 

areas set out in our Engagement Strategy.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Our commitment to public engagement  

 

Your Police and Crime Commissioner, Alun Michael, is an elected 

representative who works to ensure South Wales Police is running 

effectively.  

 

 

Page 129

file://///swp.police.int/data/work/SWPCOMMPROJECTS/Shared/Business%20Assurance/Engagement/Engagement%20Strategy/2019-20/Engagement%20Strategy%202019-20.pdf
file://///swp.police.int/data/Work/SWPCOMMPROJECTS/Shared/Business%20Assurance/Engagement/Annual%20Reports/Engagement%20Strategy/2019-20/Engagement%20Strategy%202019-20.pdf


4 | P a g e  
 

  

 

To enable residents to speak directly to the Commissioner and his team, we 

organise and attend a variety of engagement activities so that the Commissioner is 

visible and accessible to the community.  

An outline of the events attended during 2019/20 are provided below:   

 

                                                          

The aim of a community walkabout is for the Commissioner to meet local residents 

and discuss crime and community safety concerns. 

They provide the Commissioner with an opportunity to 

understand how specific crime and safety issues 

impact on communities and what people feel about the 

policing response.  

During 2019/20, the Commissioner visited 

communities in Pontypridd, Maesteg and Butetown, 

following increased incidents in anti-social behaviour 

and knife crime.  

Feedback captured from residents during the course of 

the walkabouts included concerns about a lack of police 

visibility, general deterioration in behaviour around town 

centres, and visible consumption of drugs and alcohol in 

daytime hours. The majority of residents who spoke to 

us were positive about South Wales Police and said 

that they felt the police “had done a good job” in 

responding to incidents and felt “happy” with the service 

they had received.  

Following each walkabout, the Commissioner met with 

the local neighbourhood policing team to discuss the 

feedback from residents.  

The information was also used to influence the policy 

and project activity of the team. 

 

 

The Commissioner is dedicated to giving local residents opportunities   

to share their views on issues that affect them and their local area.  

 

  

Community Walkabouts 

 

Page 130



5 | P a g e  
 

      

   

To help us extend the reach of our engagement to 

diverse communities across South Wales, the 

Commissioner and his team attend a number of 

community events throughout the year.  

These events provide excellent opportunities for us to 

inform communities about the role and work of the 

Commissioner, whilst also encouraging residents to 

share their feedback with us.  

Between June and September 2019, the team engaged with approximately 2,000 

individuals at a variety of events, which included adults, children, victims and 

survivors. An overview of some of the events we attended are outlined below: 

Shirenewton Open Day  

The Shirenewton family open day provided us with an 

opportunity to speak to the gypsy/traveller community 

about their trust and confidence in the police and their 

experiences of reporting a crime. Conversations with 

residents enabled us to gain an insight into how the 

police were generally perceived amongst the community 

and the cultural complexities that prevented a number of 

the gypsy/traveller community from reporting crimes.  

 

Adfest 

We were pleased to be invited to attend the All Wales 

People’s First ‘Adfest’, which is an annual event for 

people with learning disabilities. Having a stall 

presence at this event provided us with an 

opportunity to speak to people with learning 

disabilities about the role of the Commissioner and 

the work we do to help prevent and reduce crime.  

This was particualry important when the majority of 

individuals we spoke to had never heard of the Police 

and Crime Commissioner before. We also raised awareness about hate crime and 

how individuals could report to the police if they ever experienced a hate crime or 

incident.  

 

 

 

 

Community Events 

 

Page 131



6 | P a g e  
 

 

Joint Emergency Services Family Fun Days  

We attended four family fun days based in Cardiff, 

Rhondda Cynon Taf, Swansea and Bridgend. We 

utilised these events to build our understanding of 

people’s policing priorities and safety concerns. By 

talking to residents across four different localities, 

we learned that the same issues were concerning 

and affecting communities. The majority of these 

concerns were based on issues that residents were 

experiencing in their community, whilst some 

concerns were based on perceived threat, influenced by incidents reported on the 

news, both regionally and nationally. To help us capture this information, we used 

our ‘house token box’ and asked residents to tell us what policing issues they were 

most concerned about, by placing tokens in the box that reflected their main 

concern.  The results from this activity highlighted that all four locations had the 

same ‘top 3’ policing concerns. These were:      

 

        Knife Crime  Anti-Social Behaviour            Drugs and Substance Misuse  

 

Residents in Cardiff told us that knife crime was their biggest concern, whilst residents 

in Swansea, Rhondda Cynon Taf and Bridgend told us that drugs and substance 

misuse was theirs.   

Many residents we spoke to told us they felt that the 

use of drugs and substances had become more 

visible in their communities, to the extent that even 

their children were aware of what was happening in 

their neighbourhood. Residents felt that those 

involved in drug dealing had become complacent 

and no longer attempted to “hide what they were 

doing”. A number of adults and young people also 

discussed their concerns with us about the 

increases in knife crime. Parents and grandparents shared their concerns with us 

about the culture their children were exposed to. They also feared that their children 

may feel pressurised into carrying knives in order to protect themselves.  

Page 132



7 | P a g e  
 

 

A number of young people also spoke to us about how some of their peers had 

considered carrying a knife in case they were ever attacked.  

The below quotes illustrate some of the direct feedback we received:  

 

In addition to encouraging adults to share their feedback with us, we also engaged 

with 288 children, between the ages of 2 – 16 years old, who were willing to share 

their thoughts with us by completing our ‘young voices’ questionnaire.  

When we asked them how they felt when they saw the police, the majority of 

children and young people expressed they felt safe or happy. An overview of all the 

responses we received are illustrated below:   

 

 

 

 

 

To help us gain an insight into how some children 

perceived the police, we asked them what they thought 

the police did and why they were important. It was 

pleasing to see that an overwhelming amount of children 

and young people saw the police as people who 

provided “safety” and “help” and that they would 

approach the police if they felt they were ever in trouble.  

 

Page 133



8 | P a g e  
 

 

A lot of young people acknowledged that society would breakdown very quickly if 

there was no police and that “people would do what they wanted and commit crime”.  

Some of the direct feedback from children and young people is illustrated below:  

 

The open and honest conversations we’ve had with individuals at these events has 

enabled us to hear first-hand the issues our communities are experiencing and their 

general views of local policing. This is vital for us to understand when the work that 

we do aims to tackle and prevent crime and protect the most vulnerable in our 

communities.  

 

 

On an annual basis, the Commissioner consults with 

the public about the amount they contribute towards 

the ‘police precept’. The police precept is the amount 

that we contribute towards policing as part of our 

council tax payment and is a vital part of policing. 

The Commissioner is responsible for allocating the 

police budget for South Wales Police in consultation 

with the Chief Constable.   

Before the Commissioner decides on the precept level for South Wales, he is 

committed to ensuring that he consults with the public in order to understand their 

views ahead of making a decision.  

In 2019, we ran our precept consultation via a survey, which ran for a five-week 

period in December. We also developed a Our Policing Contribution leaflet outlining  

Consultation  

 

Page 134

http://www.southwalescommissioner.org.uk/media/1627/our-policing-contribution-leaflet-english.pdf


9 | P a g e  
 

 

key information about the police precept, in order to assist residents with making 

informed decisions when completing the survey. 

To ensure the survey was accessible, we created and publicised the survey online 

and via face-to-face engagement events. An easy read version of the survey was 

also produced and shared with disability organisations to increase participation from 

individuals with learning disabilities.    

1,073 residents living in the South Wales area completed the survey;  

-  86% completed the survey online 

-  12% completed the survey face to face with members of the team  

-   2% completed an easy version of the survey.  

 

The survey results highlighted that 73% of residents were willing to pay more per 

month towards their council tax to support policing in South Wales, with the majority 

(68%) telling us they would be prepared to pay an extra £2 a month.  

In addition to asking residents about their police precept 

contributions, we also asked people to tell us about policing 

issues they felt were a priority for the police to tackle, as 

well as their feedback about the service provided by South 

Wales Police.  

A detailed report of the survey responses and feedback is 

outlined in our Consultation Summary Report.  

The information and feedback received via the police 

precept consultation assisted the Commissioner in his 

decision-making when setting the precept level for 2020/21. 

The Commissioner presented his precept proposals to the Police and Crime Panel in 

January 2020 and the consultation findings were discussed as part of this meeting.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 135

file://///swp.police.int/data/work/SWPCOMMPROJECTS/Shared/Business%20Assurance/Engagement/Precept/2020-21/Consultation%20Summary%20Report/2019%2012%2005%20Analysis%20of%20the%20Precept%20Survey%20(FINAL).pdf


10 | P a g e  
 

 

 

During 2019/20, the Commissioner received a 

number of invitations from Colleges and Universities 

to speak to students about his role and the work of 

the team.  

These opportunities enabled the Commissioner to 

not only promote his role and the work delivered by 

the team, but to also encourage a two-way 

conversation with young people about policing and 

his approaches to reducing and tackling crime.  

The team have also facilitated a number of workshops with young people about the 

use of stop and search and their encounters with the police. Working in partnership 

with Race Equality First and Tiger Bay Boxing Club, the team have been able to 

provide opportunities for young diverse people to share their experiences with us in a 

safe and open environment.  

The aims of the workshops were for us to:  
 

 understand the views and perceptions of young 
people about the use of stop and search and the 
experiences from those who have been stop 
searched.       

 

 educate young people about their stop and 
search rights.  

 

 provide young people with the opportunity to 
share any issues or concerns they had about 
police practices. 

 

Feedback gathered from these workshops will form part 

of a wider piece of research that the team are currently 

progressing in relation to community perceptions and 

experiences of stop and search in South Wales. 

 

The outcome of this research will be presented and 

discussed with South Wales Police at the end of 2020.  

 

The Commissioner is committed to providing younger people with 
opportunities to give us their views about policing issues that affect 
them and their communities.  
 

 

Page 136



11 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

 

As part of the Commissioner’s scrutiny and oversight role of South Wales Police, the 

Commissioner’s team operates a ‘Scrutiny and Accountability Board’, which 

considers how South Wales Police’s performance and service delivery impacts on 

the public and victims of crime. In 2019/20, our annual scrutiny programme reviewed 

various aspects of the police service, including: 

 

 Hate crime 
 

 Stalking, harassment and coercive control 
 

 Knife Crime 
 

 Anti-social behaviour  
 

 Victim satisfaction 
 
 
To ensure that victim experiences formed a central part of these scrutiny processes, 

we worked with local service providers to facilitate focus groups, individual meetings 

or online surveys with victims of crime. The feedback we gathered from victims 

formed an integral part of our evidence gathering for each of our scrutiny topics.  

 

Lessons learned from victim experiences has enabled a number of 

recommendations to be made around victim-centred approaches and ways to 

improve victim satisfaction. A detailed report of our scrutiny programme and the 

outcomes arising from our scrutiny reviews are outlined in our ‘Annual Scrutiny 

Report’  

 

 

 

 

 

Improving outcomes for victims of crime is a key priority for the 
Commissioner. He firmly believes the ability to provide effective support to 
victims flows from their voices being heard and our ability to listen and 
learn from the direct experiences of those impacted by crime and antisocial 
behaviour. 
 

 

Page 137

../../Scrutiny/Scrutiny%20&%20Accountibility/Scrutiny%20Annual%20Report%202019-20.pdf
../../Scrutiny/Scrutiny%20&%20Accountibility/Scrutiny%20Annual%20Report%202019-20.pdf


12 | P a g e  
 

 

 

Engaging with our communities is pivotal to the work that we do in preventing and 

reducing crime. Understanding the needs, concerns and 

experiences of our communities helps us to ensure that our 

planning, response and implementation of work, reflects 

what communities are telling us that they need.  

 

Every aspect of our engagement activity throughout the year 

has informed and shaped our working practices, policy 

development and decision-making. We will continue to work 

with our partners, the public and victims of crime to ensure 

that their voices continue to influence and direct the work of our team.  

We endeavour to engage with and involve 

communities using a variety of creative and accessible 

methods. However, we will also continue to review and 

improve on the way in which we develop and deliver 

our engagement, in order to ensure that our reach and 

approach provides equal opportunities for our diverse 

communities to participate with us.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Engagement has a central role to play in helping us deliver our objectives 

for the communities of South Wales 

 

 

 
If you would like to involve the Commissioner or his team in a local event that you're 

organising, ask him to meet with a local community group, or provide an input at an 

event, please contact us on: 

  engagement@south-wales.police.uk 

 

Page 138



13 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

To find out more about your Commissioner 

 follow us via:  

 

 

 

/commissionersw 

 

www.southwalescommissioner.org.uk  

 

                                          Or contact us via:  

 

                                        commissioner@south-wales.police.uk 

 

             01656 869 366   

 

                                    Cowbridge Police Station,  

                                                          West Gate,  

                                                          Cowbridge,  

                                                           CF71 7AR 

 

We welcome correspondence in Welsh and English 

 

This document is also available in Welsh 

Page 139

http://www.southwalescommissioner.org.uk/
mailto:commissioner@south-wales.police.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



  

 

 

  

1 

 

 

REPORT OF THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER 

TITLE:  Police and Crime Commissioner for South Wales’ Independent 

Custody Visitor Report 

DATE:  15th September 2020 

PURPOSE: For Noting 
 

1. RECOMMENDATION 

That the Police and Crime Panel considers and responds to the attached 

Independent Custody Visitor (ICV) Report for the financial year 2019/20. 

2. INTRODUCTION & BACKGROUND 

Section 51 of the Police Reform Act 2002 (as amended) requires Police and 

Crime Commissioners in England and Wales to make arrangements for 

detainees to be visited by ICVs. Such arrangements may make provision for 

access to detainees by ICVs, examination of records, inspection of detention 

facilities and provision of a Code of Practice. 

In South Wales, the Commissioner is responsible for the statutory Independent 

Custody Visiting scheme and the non-statutory Animal Welfare visiting 

scheme. The Commissioner appoints volunteers from the local community to 

carry out unannounced visits to police stations and the police’s dog and horse 

mounted site. 

The statutory Independent Custody Visiting scheme involves volunteer visitors 

reporting weekly on the welfare of detainees and ensuring that their rights and 

entitlements are being met whilst in custody. It is an effective oversight of 

police custody and one aspect of the Commissioner’s overarching scrutiny and 

oversight role. 

The report provides an update on scheme activity from April 2019 to April 

2020. It highlights the work of our independent custody visitors, the findings 

they have made and the value they provide to our communities. 

3. ISSUES FOR CONSIDERATION 

In 2019/20, the South Wales independent custody visiting scheme was 

provided by 31 volunteer visitors split across two panels – East and West. 

The two panels meet quarterly with the Regional Custody Inspector and 

Scheme Manager to raise issues of concern arising from visits, highlight good 

practice, and discuss any changes in policy and procedure that impact on the 

local custody suites and the visiting role. 

South Wales Police operates 4 custody suites, and these are located in Cardiff 

Bay, Merthyr Tydfil, Swansea and Bridgend. The custody suites in Merthyr 

Tydfil and Bridgend were built in 2014 and are located away from the town 

centres. Each suite has 42 cells and are both identical in design. The oldest 

suite in the South Wales area is located in Swansea with its estate being part 

Page 141

Agenda Item 10



  

 

 

  

2 

 

 

of Swansea Central police station, with 27 cells. Cardiff Bay police station was 

completed in 2009 and the suite is designed over 2 levels, with 60 cells in total. 

4. NEXT STEPS 

The Police and Crime Panel are required to note and comment, the report will 

then be published on the Police and Crime Commissioners website.  

5. FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS 

There is a small budget to support the delivery of the scheme to cover 

reasonable expenses for volunteers. 

6. PERSONNEL CONSIDERATIONS 

The scheme is supported through volunteers, their welfare and health and 

safety are monitored by officers within the Commissioners team. 

7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

The report is produced in the light of: 

(i) any report or recommendations made by the police and crime panel; and 

(ii) any changes in the strategic policing requirement  

(iii) statutory responsibilities of the Commissioner under the Police Reform and 

Social Responsibilities Act 2011 And the Police Reform Act (as amended) 

 

8. EQUALITIES  AND HUMAN RIGHTS CONSIDERATIONS 

This proposal has been considered against the general duty to promote 

equality, as stipulated under the Strategic Equality Plan and has been 

assessed not to discriminate against any particular group.  

 

In preparing this report, consideration has been given to the requirements of 

the Articles contained in the European Convention on Human Rights and the 

Human Rights Act 1998. 

 

9. RISK 

A timely decision will minimise the risk to the compliance with the Police 

Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011. 

10. PUBLIC INTEREST 

This report will be placed on the website of the Commissioner. 

11. CONTACT OFFICER 

Lee Jones, Chief Executive to the Police and Crime Commissioner for South 

Wales. 

12. ANNEXES 

The Annex to this report is a copy of the ICV report for noting.  

 

 

Page 142



  

[Type here] 
 

  
  
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

South Wales Independent Custody Visiting Scheme 

and Animal Welfare Scheme 

Annual Report 

2019 / 2020 

 

Page 143



  

  
  

 
2 

   

Contents 

 

Foreword  

 

3  

Introduction To Our Volunteer Visiting Schemes 

 

4 

Overview Of Independent Custody Visiting In South Wales  

 

5  

The Governance Of Our Scheme 

 

5 

Police Custody In South Wales  

 

7 

Independent Custody Visiting Data  

 

8 

Independent Custody Visiting Scheme Findings 

 

11 

How The Police Respond To Our Findings 

 

14 

Other Areas Of Note  

 

15 

Future Plans 

 

16 

Animal Welfare Scheme  17 

 

Further Information And Contact Details 

 

19 

 

Page 144



  

  
  

 
3 

   

Foreword  

 

 

 

 

South Wales Police & Crime 

Commissioner, Rt Hon Alun Michael:  

 

The role of an independent custody and 

animal welfare visitor is a particularly 

selfless essential act of citizenship. This 

aspect of volunteering is less visible 

than most, as those volunteers who 

monitor our  custody suites and police 

animals do so out of the public eye. This 

annual report presents the opportunity  

to highlight the  importance of this crucial role, and to publicise the work 

ongoing to ensure the rights and welfare of detainees in police custody 

are properly upheld and maintained in line with our wider commitment 

to human rights and a just society. It also ensures that the quality of life 

of the dogs and horses in the South Wales Police family and the conditions 

within which they live and work are of the highest standards. I wish to 

express my sincere gratitude to all our visitors as valued members of our 

policing family. I thank them for their voluntary commitment and hard 

work during 2019/2020. 

 

 

Page 145



  

  
  

 
4 

   

 

Introduction To Our Volunteer Visiting Schemes 
 

The Police and Crime Commissioner is responsible for volunteer visiting schemes, which aim to 

provide reassurance to our communities about how the police go about their day to day work.  

 

In South Wales, the Commissioner is responsible for the statutory Independent Custody Visiting 

scheme and the non-statutory Animal Welfare visiting scheme. The Commissioner appoints 

volunteers from the local community to carry out unannounced visits to police stations and the 

police’s dog and horse mounted site. 

 

The statutory Independent Custody Visiting scheme involves volunteer visitors reporting weekly on 

the welfare of detainees and ensuring that their rights and entitlements are being met whilst in 

custody. It is an effective oversight of police custody and one aspect of the Commissioner’s 

overarching scrutiny and oversight role.  

 

In South Wales, the Commissioner has appointed two scheme managers who oversee the overall 

operation of the Custody Visiting scheme on his behalf. The Scheme managers are each responsible 

for one panel – East and West. The East panel covers the custody suites in Cardiff and Merthyr. The 

West panel visits suites in Bridgend and Swansea. 

 

 
Stacey Evans, Scheme Manager for the East Panel 

 

 
Nia Scourfield,  Scheme Manager for the West panel 

The Animal Welfare visiting scheme involves volunteers reporting on the welfare of the police dogs 

and horses through fortnightly visits to South Wales Police’s dog and mounted site.  

This report provides an update on scheme activity from April 2019 to April 2020. It highlights the 

work of our independent custody visitors, the findings they have made and the value they provide 

to our communities.  

Page 146



  

  
  

 
5 

   

Overview Of Independent Custody Visiting In South Wales  
 

In 2019/20, the South Wales independent custody visiting scheme was provided by 31 volunteer 

visitors split across two panels – East and West. The demographic breakdown of the volunteers is 

shown overleaf in the table.  

 

Visits are made once a week to the Merthyr, Cardiff and Bridgend custody suites, with three visits 

per fortnight to Swansea Central. The decision was made to increase visits to Swansea Central due 

to the age of the suite and the associated number of issues that were raised by visitors. This is due 

to be reviewed again during 2020/21.  

 

Recruitment generally takes place once every 12 to 18 months depending on panel vacancies. Newly 

appointed Independent Custody Visitors are required to complete a probationary period of six 

months satisfactorily. Whilst there is no maximum period of appointment for volunteer visitors, all 

appointments are reviewed through interview and vetting every three years in line with national 

guidance.   

 

South Wales does not have facilities in which to hold detainees under the Terrorism Act (TACT) 2000. 

However, in view of the on-going security / threat level, seven of the existing Independent Custody 

Visitors have been vetted and received training to enable them to visit TACT detainees should the 

need arise at some point in the future. 

 

The Governance Of Our Scheme 
 
The two panels meet quarterly with the Regional Custody Inspector and Scheme Manager to raise 

issues of concern arising from visits, highlight good practice, and discuss any changes in policy and 

procedure that impact on the local custody suites and the visiting role. Each panel is chaired by a 

visitor appointed by panel members for a period of three years.  

 

A summary of issues noted in the previous quarter is drawn up by the Scheme Manager in 

consultation with panel members and circulated to the Inspector and members for consideration in 

advance of the meeting. Additional issues can be raised on the day.  

 

Panel meetings in 2019/20 also included discussion around the following themes:  

 Use of Force  

 Female staff and menstrual products  

 Exercise yard closures  

 Positive staff attitude 

Page 147



  

  
  

 
6 

   

 

The demographic breakdown of the volunteer visitors is shown in the table below: 

 South Wales Scheme Membership 

Age 

18 to 25 years 6.5% 

26 to 50 years 29% 

51 to 70 years 41.9% 

71 + years 22.6% 

Gender 

Female 51.6% 

Male 48.4% 

Ethnicity  

British - Asian 3.2% 

Mixed 3.2% 

Pakistani 3.2% 

White - British 61.3% 

White - Irish 3.2% 

White- Welsh 25.8% 

Disability 

No 93.5% 

Yes 6.5% 

Religion  

Christianity 54.81% 

Hindu 3.2% 

Muslim 3.2% 

No religion 29% 

Other 3.2% 

Prefer not to say 6.5% 

Sexual Orientation 

Gay/Lesbian/Bisexual 3.2% 

Heterosexual/Straight   90.3% 

Prefer not to say 6.5% 

Welsh Language  

Non Welsh Speaker 74.2% 

Welsh Learner 12.9% 

Welsh Speaker 13% 

 

 
 

Page 148



  

  
  

 
7 

   

 

Police Custody in South Wales 
 

 
Image of Merthyr Custody Suite 

South Wales Police operates 4 custody suites, and 

these are located in Cardiff Bay, Merthyr Tydfil, 

Swansea and Bridgend. The custody suites in 

Merthyr Tydfil and Bridgend were built in 2014 

and are located away from the town centres. Each 

suite has 42 cells and are both identical in design. 

The oldest suite in the South Wales area is located 

in Swansea with its estate being part of Swansea 

Central police station, with 27 cells. Cardiff Bay 

police station was completed in 2009 and the 

suite is designed over 2 levels, with 60 cells in 

total. 

 

Policing Demand 

In South Wales during 2019/20, there were around 26,000 primary arrests* leading to detention. This 

figure has decreased by around 10% since 2018/19, when the figure was around 28,000. The trend has 

been similar across all areas of the force. Outlined below is a breakdown of detainees in custody in 

2019/20:   

 
Custody Detainees (2019/20) 

 
*primary arrest refers to the offence for which an individual is originally arrested and brought into custody. Subsequently 
an individual may be arrested for further offences. This term is used to avoid double counting. 

Gender

82.3% Male

17.3% Female

0.4% Not defined

Age

85.0% aged 21 and over

8.4% aged 18-20 years

6.6% Children (aged 10-17 years)

Ethnicity

85.3% White

9.6% Black & Minority Ethnic (BME)

5.1% Not defined

Disability & Mental Health

0.5% Disability indicator markers (physical)

62.0% Mental Health indicator markers

26,000 primary arrests* in 
2019/20

Page 149



  

  
  

 
8 

   

Independent Custody Visiting Data  
 

The following data refers to visits that were carried out between 1st April 2019 and 10th March 2020. 

Visits were paused in the South Wales scheme on 16th March 2020 due to the global COVID-19 

pandemic. To continue to provide oversight and monitoring of the custody suites for the remainder 

of March, scheme managers randomly reviewed live custody records from each suite.  

 

A total of 186 visits took place in 2019/20 with 86.46% of the 687 ‘available’ detainees visited (a 

total of 594 people). Detainees may not be ‘available’ for a range of reasons including: being asleep, 

intoxicated, in interview, using hygiene facilities or as a result of advice not to visit specific detainees 

due to them being very distressed or aggressive.  

 

As well as the 594 detainees who were interviewed by the volunteers, a further 573 detainees 

received some oversight either by assuming consent to view a custody record or by viewing a 

detainee through the hatch, for example. In total, 71.99% of detainees in custody at the time of the 

visits received Independent Custody Visiting oversight. 

 

In 2019/20, 75 visits were carried out to Cardiff and Merthyr and 111 to Bridgend and Swansea. In 

previous years, panel members justified an increased in the number of visits to Swansea due to the 

number of building/estate issues raised during visits. This will be reviewed during 2020/21. 

 

The chart below provides a breakdown of the number of visits per station.  

 
 

32

43

65

46

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

Cardiff Merthyr Swansea Bridgend

East Panel 75                                                               West Panel 111

NUMBER OF VISITS PER STATION

Page 150



  

  
  

 
9 

   

There are occasions when the suites are very busy and due to time constraints on the escorting 

custody staff, the visitors prioritise detainees to interview. In particular, visitors will prioritise 

females and young people.  

 

The tables below provide a breakdown of the visits to adults and young people by gender and panel.  

 

Adult Detainees Visited In 2019/20 

Visits To Adults By 

Gender 

East Panel West Panel 2019/20 

Total Male Female Male Female 

Total In Custody 589 109 726 101 1525 

Total Available For 

Visit 

289 68 228 38 623 

Visited 252 44 213 34 543 

% Visited 87.18% 67.71% 93.42% 89.47% 84.45% 

 

Young People Detainees Visited In 2019/20 

Visits To Young People 

By Gender 

East Panel West Panel 2019/20 

Total Male Female Male Female 

Total In Custody 34 6 37 19 96 

Total Available For 

Visit 

25 5 20 14 64 

Visited 23 3 16 9 51 

% Visited 92% 60% 80% 64.29% 79.68% 

 

Visiting Days And Times 

 

In relation to visiting times, the vast majority of visits took place during the daytime across both 

panels. In the East Panel, 74.67% of visits started between the hours of 8am and 6pm, and in the 

West panel this was considerably higher at 91.89%.  

 

Visits that started between 6pm and 7:30pm (the ‘handover period’ between shifts) accounted for 

4.5% of visits in the West panel and 14.6% of visits in the East panel. Visitors are mindful of the extra 

pressure on staff when they arrive in custody during the ‘handover period’ and appreciate that they 

are more likely to have to stand back and observe until staff are available.  

Page 151



  

  
  

 
10 

   

In 2020/21, visitors will be encouraged to vary their visits times in line with national and local 

guidance. In particular, panels will be encouraged to include more visits after 6pm and before 8am 

when possible.  

 

The chart below illustrates the visiting times across both East and West panels.  

 
 

In the East panel, 16% of all visits were carried out on the weekend (Saturday / Sunday) compared 

with 14.41% in the West panel.  

 

The chart below illustrates visits by day of the week across both panels. 

1%

37%

48%

14%

VISITING TIMES ACROSS BOTH PANELS

12am-6am 6am-12pm 12pm-6pm 6pm-12am

17%

21%

14%

24%

9%

5%

10%

VISITING DAYS OF THE WEEK

Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday Sunday

Page 152



  

  
  

 
11 

   

Independent Custody Visiting Scheme Findings 
 

 
Image of Visitors with Custody Sergeant  

 

Volunteers play a vital role in highlighting any 

issues within custody and ensuring these are 

brought to the attention of custody staff and 

scheme managers to be rectified as soon as 

possible. The issues raised by the visitors 

could include any concerns for the detainee’s 

welfare and any estate/repair issues.  Visitors 

will note apparent issues or concerns from 

their visits on a report form. 

A copy of the report is left with the custody Sergeant and is also sent to the scheme managers to 

log. All issues arising are discussed during panel meetings and a police representative will provide 

the visitors with an update or feedback on their findings. Thematic issues are collated by the 

scheme managers and are detailed on a report and discussed during the meeting. National 

themes that are highlighted by the Independent Custody Visiting Association (ICVA) are also 

shared and discussed with the volunteers, such as ensuring female detainees are offered sanitary 

products.  

 

In 2019/20, visitors raised and resolved concerns around the following issues; 

 

Cardiff Bay 

 Yard in poor condition, rusting metal, not fit for purpose 

 Females not being asked if they required any sanitary products 

 Cells out of use due to grouting issues 

 

Merthyr 

 Intercom at front desk not working properly, visitors unable to hear staff 

 Items in first aid kit out of date 

 Orange wing closed for two weeks due to drainage problems 

 Food boxes left open 

 Females not being asked if they required any sanitary products 

 

Page 153



  

  
  

 
12 

   

 

 

 

Swansea 

 Low stock of anti-rip products 

 Drain blockage  

 No female Custody Detention officer  on duty 

 Cells closed due to cracks in walls 

 Exercise yard closed due to ligature point on window 

Bridgend 

 No female  Custody Detention officer on duty 

 Camera in cell out of use 

 Phone in reception not working 

 Airlock door at entrance not in working order 

 

Any urgent issues are addressed by the visitors at the time of the visit and are raised immediately 

with a custody Sergeant or Inspector. Visitors will then record the information on their report 

forms and will also inform the scheme managers.  

 

When a detainee highlights a concern or makes an informal complaint to visitors, this is followed 

up with a custody staff member and the detainee’s custody record can be checked by the visitors, 

with their permission. Detainees are advised that if they wish to make a complaint, they should 

speak to the officer in charge. 

 

It is important to note that praise and positive comments are also recorded by the visitors and 

scheme managers ensure these are logged and shared with police representatives. During panel 

meetings, visitors will voice their praise for staff members in custody, which they feel is important 

to share. Below are some examples of the positive comments that have been noted by the visitors 

during the year; 

 

 Granted immediate access to suite 

 Staff very helpful and accommodating  

 Detainees praising staff  

 All areas clean and tidy 

 
 

Page 154



  

  
  

 
13 

   

Custody Issues Identified  
 

Throughout 2019/20 there were 88 reported adverse incidents in custody across the force 

area. An ‘adverse incident’ is defined by the College of Policing as any incident which, if allowed 

to continue to its ultimate conclusion, would have resulted in death or serious injury to any 

person. November 2019 had the highest number, with 12 adverse incidents and December 

2019 was the lowest with only 2. These issues are brought to the attention of the Scheme 

Managers by custody staff and discussed during panel meetings with the volunteers. Police 

representatives provided a brief overview of the incidents, followed by updates and outcomes. 

There were no deaths in custody during the year but 1 near miss was reported.  This involved 

a detainee having a seizure after smoking drugs in a cell. This is currently subject to an 

independent investigation by the Independent Office for Police conduct; the outcome of which 

will be shared with the custody visitors at their quarterly meeting once the matter is finalised. 

Below are some examples of adverse incidents that occurred during 2019/20: 

 

 Drug consumption inside cells 

 Concealed items 

 Ligatures made from clothing 

 Self harm 

 

Following discussions on the adverse incidents, custody visitors were confident that the issues 

had been picked up and dealt with appropriately by custody staff. This is a relatively low 

proportion of detainees in terms of the amount of people who have passed through custody 

in 2019/20.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 155



  

  
  

 
14 

   

 

How The Police Respond To Our Findings 
 

 
 

Inspector Michael Kings – Eastern 
Panel Custody 

Manger, South Wales Police 
(Cardiff/Merthyr) 

 

 
 

Inspector Mark Simmonds – Western 
Panel Custody Manger, South Wales 

Police (Bridgend/Swansea) 

 

 

South Wales Police, Inspector Kings and 

Inspector Simmonds:  

 

“The Independent Custody Visiting Scheme initiative in 

South Wales is a welcomed means of oversight to our 

custody services department. It allows members of our 

community to provide vital feedback on how we treat our 

detainees.  

 

The custody visitors give up their own time to perform 

this very important role and we are extremely grateful 

for their knowledge and expertise. Their feedback allows 

us to check that the many policies and procedures within 

the custody environment are being followed and 

detainees are treated fairly.  

 

The findings of the ICV members are reviewed after each 

visit and any subsequent work completed as a result of 

the visit is discussed at regular panel meetings with the 

custody visitors and scheme managers. 

 

Recently the South Wales scheme managers have taken 

steps to modernise the way the volunteers conduct their 

visits and we envisage this to be a huge success”. 

 

Page 156



  

  
  

 
15 

   

 

 

Other Areas Of Note  

 

 

 

South Wales has been quality 

assured as a SILVER scheme! 

Every two years, The Independent Custody Visiting Association (ICVA) launch their Quality 

Assurance Framework. This is an independent quality standard to assess scheme effectiveness and 

covers a number of areas including: 

 Recruiting and training 

 Managing volunteers 

 Communications 

 Holding the force to account 

 Transparency and public reassurance 

 Detainee welfare 

 Investing in and supporting scheme managers 

South Wales has been quality assured as a silver scheme, which means we are working at a level 

above that of compliance with the Code of Practice. 

At silver level, our scheme has developed detailed training plans for our volunteers and run 

governance processes that enshrine police engagement and buy in to resolving difficult issues. On 

the ground, silver means Independent Custody Visitors spend longer looking at custody records of 

detainees and focusing further on detainee welfare. We are working towards improving our 

standards even further during 2020/21.  

Paused Visits  

 

Due to the global COVID-19 pandemic, a decision was made to pause all visits in the South Wales 

scheme in March 2020. Following consideration of guidance from ICVA, a contingency plan was put 

in place to continue to provide oversight and monitoring of detention whilst visits were suspended. 

From 25th March 2020, scheme managers made unannounced telephone calls to the Bronze Inspector 

who provided live custody records and an overview of all defects in the suites.  

Page 157



  

  
  

 
16 

   

Future Plans 
 

During 2019/20, the scheme has been reviewed in order to consider how to implement any 

necessary changes regarding the oversight and management of the scheme.  There are some 

exciting plans in place for the future of the South Wales Independent Custody Visiting Scheme. 

 

There are plans to introduce the use of technology to the scheme, in order to improve and 

modernise the way in which the volunteers record their findings. We will be trialling the use of 

‘tablets’ in all 4 suites and also at the Waterton site, where the police dogs and horses are located. 

We plan to introduce the use of tablets in order for the Visitors to submit their reports, by 

replacing carbon copies with an ‘app’. This will ensure that any issues or comments are highlighted 

immediately and allow the Scheme Managers, Independent Custody Visitors, and the custody 

Inspector to have instant access to the data on the forms.  

 

We plan to trial the change in one suite with a small number of visitors, before rolling it out to 

other suites.  

 

We also aim to make better use of social media and the Commissioner’s website to share 

information with the public about the importance of the work and effort of the volunteers. We 

hope this will also help to widen audiences and gain interest for applicants during any recruitment 

campaigns that are launched in the future. This also shows transparency in respect of our 

responsibilities and to give the public confidence in the way that custody suites are managed. 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 158



  

  
  

 
17 

   

Animal Welfare Scheme 
 

The South Wales Animal Welfare Scheme consists of 8 volunteers, who are also Independent 

Custody Visitors. The volunteers carry out regular unannounced visits to the Dog and Mounted 

Section of South Wales Police to observe and report on the welfare, stabling and kennelling 

arrangements for police horses and dogs. 

 

 
Image of a Police Horse with Animal Welfare Visitors at 

the Waterton Site 

Visitors note the number of dogs and horses 

on site and any specific health or welfare 

concerns as well as reporting on the physical 

condition of the site, the condition of animal 

transport vehicles and any repair issues. Panel 

meetings are held twice a year and are 

attended by staff, officers, volunteers, a local 

veterinarian and a representative from the 

Dogs Trust.  

Volunteers are able to highlight any concerns they have and all issues are discussed with Police 

representatives. The panel is currently chaired by an experienced visitor, appointed by the panel. 

 

Visitors are guided by the ‘five freedoms’ for animal welfare which are annexed to the Scheme 

Guidelines: 

 

1) Freedom from hunger and thirst – ready access to fresh water and a healthy diet 

2) Freedom from pain, injury and suffering – prevention or rapid diagnosis and treatment 

3) Freedom from fear and distress – conditions and treatment which avoid mental suffering 

4) Freedom to express normal behaviour – sufficient space, proper facilities and company 

of the animals own kind 

5) Freedom from discomfort – an appropriate environment including shelter and a 

comfortable resting and sleeping place 

 

During 2019/20, the volunteers made 40 visits to the Dog & Mounted section at the Waterton site 

to check on the police dogs and horses. On average, 19 dogs and 6 horses were observed per visit.  

 

 

 

Page 159



  

  
  

 
18 

   

The following issues were noted by the visitors in 2019/20; 

 Broken fencing around the paddocks 

 No external lighting in the kennel area for staff during the evening periods 

 Blocked drain  

 

All issues were reported and highlighted to the yard manager and have been resolved.  

The following positive comments were noted by the visitors and fed back to staff and officers: 

 All animals well looked after 

 Excellent reception from the staff on arrival to the yard 

 All vehicles in good condition 

 

 
Image of a Police Dog with Animal Welfare Visitors at the Waterton Site 

 

Visitors also monitor any dogs in kennels who are waiting re-homing for example if they are 

rejected as police dogs or on the retirement of their handlers. Visitors note any illnesses, injuries 

and look out for any indications of stress. The cleanliness of kennels, stables and the site is also 

noted.  

 

Conclusion 
 

We would like to express our gratitude towards all our volunteers who work tirelessly to ensure 

the welfare and rights of detainees in South Wales Police custody are met. We are extremely 

grateful and thankful to them for bringing their knowledge and expertise to the scheme and 

playing an essential part in our work and oversight of South Wales Police force. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 160



  

  
  

 
19 

   

To find out more about your Commissioner follow us via: 
 

 
 
 
 

 
/commissionersw 

 
www.southwalescommissioner.org.uk 

 

Or contact us via: 
 

 commissioner@south-wales.police.uk 

 01656 869 366 

 Cowbridge Police Station, 
West Gate, 
Cowbridge, 
CF71 7AR 

                                      

 
https://icva.org.uk/ 
 

 

                                             
 

 
https://www.nationalpreventivemechanism.org.uk/ 

We welcome correspondence in Welsh and English 
 

This document is also available in Welsh 
 

 

Page 161

http://www.southwalescommissioner.org.uk/
mailto:commissioner@south-wales.police.uk
https://icva.org.uk/
https://www.nationalpreventivemechanism.org.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of meeting Thursday, 4 June 2020 of South Wales Police and Crime Panel
	5 COVID 19 Update Report
	Annex A - Extraordinary Report to CSB - COVID 19
	Annex B Copy of Commissioner's COVID Recovery Plan

	6 Finance Report and Presentation
	Finance Report to Police Crime Panel

	7 CCTV Presentation
	8 Annual Report
	Annex A - Police Crime Commissioner Annual Report 2019-20

	9 Scrutiny and Engagement Report
	Annex A - Scrutiny Annual Report 2019-20
	Annex B - Engagement Activity Report 2019-20

	10 Independent Custody Visiting Report
	ICV Annual Report 2019-20


